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1                THE COURT:  Good morning. 

2                THE ATTORNEYS:  Good morning. 

3                THE COURT:  Thank you.  I hope that all of you 

4  are rested and ready to give it another go today. 

5                I'm going to, under 611 announce some timelines 

6  that we're going to have today.  The Court will finish hearing 

7  testimony by 4:00 PM today.  Earlier would be good, but 4:00 PM 

8  will be the cutoff. 

9                With regards to that, the State has two hours, 

10  and then we will go to the other issues.  Now, I know we had 

11  some folks that wanted to ask questions last night when we 

12  stopped.  I'm not really sure what questions they wanted to 

13  ask.  I will tell you that I would ask all of you to focus on 

14  the standard set out in the statute and the burden of proof 

15  that the -- that the Department has to meet. 

16                We've had a lot of rehashing of what happened 
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17  before the Department went out there under orders.  What is 

18  really important to the Court -- and you-all spend your time 

19  how you want, but what's important to the Court at this point 

20  is we're here, the children are in custody, what do I need to 

21  know, to know whether or not the children can be returned? 

22  That's what I'm focusing on. 

23                You-all focus on what you want to focus on, but 

24  I'm focusing on what steps would be necessary for the Court to 

25  be able to return the children.  With that having been said, I
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1  believe that Ms. Voss was on the stand.  And I had promised you 

2  the opportunity to ask a question.  All right. 

3                MS. NUGENT:  Your Honor, Laura Nugent for Audrey 

4  Richter's -- I'm sorry, for -- 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  We can't hear her. 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  We can't hear her. 

7                THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  We're 

8  working on that.  All right.  Well, I'm hearing some feedback. 

9                MS. NUGENT:  Yes. 

10                THE COURT:  Say your name, see if we've got that 

11  better. 

12                MS. NUGENT:  Laura Nugent for Rose Richter and 

13  Marilyn Keate, continuing my cross examination. 

14                THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Ask your question, 

15  please. 

16                MS. NUGENT:  However, Your Honor, before resuming 

17  cross examination, I would like to bring a matter to the 

18  Court's attention that's been -- that I've been asked to 

19  address -- have you address. 
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20                THE COURT:  All right. 

21                MS. NUGENT:  It's come to my attention that the 

22  Department has continued to question the children, including 

23  yesterday and today, apparently, without the presence of CASA, 

24  without notifying the ad litems that they're going to be 

25  questioning the children.  And I would like the Court to
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1  address that issue, please. 

2                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.  Come on up. 

3                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, there is an ongoing 

4  investigation in this case.  And the ordinary procedure of the 

5  Department is to interview children without the presence of any 

6  other adults.  And we are continuing in our ordinary 

7  procedures. 

8                THE COURT:  Do you have a case, case law that 

9  says that the Department, in the process of interviewing 

10  children in investigation of abuse, has to have CASA present 

11  for the interview?  Are you taking the position that this is an 

12  adversarial interview? 

13                MS. NUGENT:  My -- my position is, according to 

14  what I've been told, the proper interviewing technique has 

15  been -- has not been used, that children have not been given a 

16  support person to be present with them while they're 

17  questioned.  It is my understanding that is proper procedure to 

18  have a support person, if not a parent, present with a child. 

19                THE COURT:  No, wait.  I don't mean to interrupt 

20  you.  You -- you're suggesting, not in this particular case, 

21  but in a case, say, where there's been alleged -- alleged 

22  physical abuse, that a possible perpetrator should be allowed 
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23  to be present during the interview? 

24                MS. NUGENT:  No, Your Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  Right.  Thank you.  The Court will
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1  not take any step. 

2                No, I will not hear any further questions on 

3  that.  We are not questioning the procedures of that.  We are 

4  focusing on the 14-day hearing, ladies and gentlemen. 

5                MS. SLOAN:  May I have a point of clarification, 

6  on that, Your Honor?  I -- I'm sorry.  With respect to the 

7  minor mothers who are parties, do they not have a right to have 

8  counsel present when they are being interviewed by CPS? 

9                THE COURT:  CPS. 

10                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, CPS is not an arm of 

11  the law enforcement agency.  We are investigating per our 

12  ordinary protocol.  Parents are often interviewed in cases 

13  whether minors or not, and they are interviewed without other 

14  persons present.  That is proper procedure for interviews in 

15  our investigation. 

16                We have not deviated from our proper procedures, 

17  Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  Your point is, this is not a criminal 

19  investigation? 

20                MS. GRIFFITH:  Exactly. 

21                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Now do you have a 

22  question relevant to the Court's determination on the 14-day 

23  hearing issues? 

24                MS. NUGENT:  Yes, Your Honor. 

25
 

Page 10



4-18-08 

12 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1                            ANGIE VOSS 

2  having been previously sworn and testified, resumed the stand 

3  and testified as follows: 

4                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

5  BY MS. NUGENT: 

6      Q.   You testified that you had evidence of broken bones. 

7  Could you explain that, please? 

8      A.   Yes, ma'am.  I can give you the best information I 

9  have.  I think there's other people that can better answer that 

10  question.  But I -- I understand that there have been 

11  interviews of the children regarding some concerns of physical 

12  abuse.  And there -- my understanding is there were some 

13  children that have long bone scans.  And I believe those tests 

14  are still under review. 

15      Q.   You described a residence as dormitories, single 

16  house -- single households with many rooms.  Is it fair to say 

17  that some of the homes, for instance, my client, Rose Richter's 

18  home, is more properly described as -- 

19                MS. NUGENT:  Your Honor, I promise -- I promise 

20  it's relevant and material. 

21                THE COURT:  It always causes me concern when a 

22  lawyer has to defend the question before they ask it saying 

23  it's relevant and material. 

24                MS. NUGENT:  Just watching your face, Your Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  I can't play poker.
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1      Q.   (MS. NUGENT) Okay.  Some of the residences are more 

2  properly described as, like, townhomes or duplexes where there 

3  are two sides with four bedrooms, and then an apartment in the 

4  basement below. 

5      A.   That's possible. 

6      Q.   Okay.  And it's my understanding from your testimony 

7  that there are no identified alleged perpetrators of sexual 

8  abuse, the fathers or the adult males who have been identified, 

9  so therefore all of the males in the community are suspected, 

10  alleged perpetrators or future perpetrators? 

11      A.   No, ma'am.  There are -- there are men identified as 

12  perpetrators. 

13      Q.   Okay.  But are all the men in the community of concern 

14  to you?  Is -- I guess that's my ultimate question. 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   Did you provide an opportunity for the men in the 

17  community to leave the community and go elsewhere rather than 

18  removing all of the children from the -- from the homes and 

19  taking them to another place? 

20      A.   No, ma'am.  During the time frame of the 

21  investigation, having been there at the ranch, that -- that was 

22  not a decision I was part of.  But I did not speak to them 

23  directly about that. 

24      Q.   Okay.  To your knowledge was anybody -- was that 

25  opportunity --
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1                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I don't mean to interrupt 

2  you, but you're going into history.  I want to go forward. 

3                MS. NUGENT:  I plan -- I will go forward, Your 
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4  Honor. 

5                THE COURT:  Get to it, now, please. 

6      Q.   (MS. NUGENT) If -- if the situation could be proposed 

7  that the men would leave the community and not have contact 

8  with the children, absent security, if they had to come into 

9  the compound under -- I apologize, the community, within the 

10  walls, and the same sort of supervision and community could be 

11  provided at the ranch that is currently being provided at the 

12  coliseum, would the Department, in your -- to your knowledge 

13  would they approve such a situation? 

14      A.   I doubt it. 

15      Q.   Can you tell me why? 

16      A.   The -- the ranch is seventeen hundred acres.  It's 

17  huge.  There is no way to secure it, that I'm aware of.  I 

18  wouldn't even know how to begin to insure that people weren't 

19  coming off and on.  And what I'm still hearing is people 

20  continue to go off and on the ranch. 

21      Q.   Was any effort made to determine whether individual 

22  parents hold the belief that you described that reverts back to 

23  minor marriages? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Each individual parent?
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1      A.   Part of our standard procedure is to interview each 

2  parent, yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   Now if the removal had been done during the daytime 

4  instead of at night, without the -- the law enforcement that 

5  you described as being very frightening, would your decision to 

6  remove the children, do you believe that would have been 
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7  different? 

8      A.   No, ma'am.  The law enforcement didn't have much to do 

9  with the decision of the removal of the children. 

10      Q.   Is it your opinion that, given the anticipated sexual 

11  abuse and grooming being many, many year -- for many of the 

12  children being years in advance, is it your opinion that the 

13  services provided in the home would have been unsuccessful in 

14  achieving a safe environment? 

15                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I object. 

16  That's repetitious.  It's been asked and answered. 

17                THE COURT:  Overruled.  Please answer the 

18  question.  One last time. 

19                THE WITNESS:  The Department wants to provide 

20  services to the parents, but not with the children in the home 

21  right now.  I don't believe that it's safe for the children to 

22  be in the homes. 

23                MS. NUGENT:  Thank you. 

24                THE COURT:  Now, I want to only hear from lawyers 

25  that are representing the parents.
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1                Are you a lawyer representing a parent? 

2                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I have a child, Judge. 

3                THE COURT:  Have a seat. 

4                Do you represent a parent? 

5                MS. DELONG:  I represent four, Your Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

7                MS. DELONG:  Your Honor, my name is Nancy Delong. 

8  I represent four mothers.  Their names are Ruleen Johnson, Lori 

9  Jessop, Rosanna Barlow and Eola Jessop. 
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10                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

11  BY MS. DELONG: 

12      Q.   Ms. Voss, frankly, I've been listening to this 

13  testimony, I'm a little concerned.  Because one of my duties as 

14  a parent for an attorney, my view, is helping them figure out 

15  what they need to do to get their child back. 

16                And one of the things the Judge has to do is to 

17  determine that for the child to remain in the home, it would be 

18  contrary to the child's welfare.  So you said you couldn't 

19  recommend to the Court if the men agreed to move off the ranch 

20  and the women move back on, because men could come and go -- 

21  you couldn't secure it.  Is that what you're saying? 

22      A.   That would be one of the reasons. 

23      Q.   So if the women were able to obtain apartments, let's 

24  say, here in San Angelo, would that help alleviate some of your 

25  concerns?
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1      A.   Ma'am, I don't know if you're aware that -- I 

2  understand Ruleen Johnson is still with her children. 

3      Q.   Yes.  That was another one of my questions. 

4      A.   All right.  Then my understanding is that the mothers 

5  who were separated from their children were asked whether or 

6  not we could help them, whether or not they would want us to 

7  help them go to the domestic violence shelter.  How can we 

8  assist?  That's what we are supposed to do.  Out of all of 

9  those mothers, my understanding is six of them went to the 

10  domestic violence shelter.  Only six, and then promptly left. 

11      Q.   Okay.  But you now understand they have attorneys and 

12  attorneys can help explain what's happening because many of 
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13  these women have not been served yet.  They have not received a 

14  written notice they're supposed to have the day after their 

15  children are removed.  They have been -- 

16                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor.  This is 

17  not a question. 

18                THE COURT:  Would you approach the microphone. 

19                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, I object that there's 

20  no question, that she's simply badgering my witness and 

21  repeating argument. 

22                THE COURT:  Well -- well, I would like to know if 

23  part of the difficulty in serving the parents has been a 

24  difficulty in identifying the parents and an inability on the 

25  part of my constables to be able to have reliable communication
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1  with regards to the parents as to if they are, in fact, parents 

2  of the children. 

3                It's very difficult to serve or give notice to a 

4  parent when the parent will not give the officer attempting to 

5  give them their papers their name, or any form of 

6  identification.  And that's not the Department's problem, 

7  that's actually a problem that officers of the Court have had. 

8                MS. DELONG:  Well, Your Honor, all I can address 

9  is one of my clients who hadn't been served, they kept thinking 

10  she was under eighteen, even though she had a valid Arizona 

11  license.  And her birth certificate, which I have seen, she 

12  pulled it out of pocket.  She said she's shown it many times. 

13                THE COURT:  Tell me what type of proof a birth 

14  certificate has?  Does it have a photo, fingerprints?  I mean, 

15  how do know in today's world of identity theft that because 
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16  somebody has a birth certificate that they are, in fact, the 

17  person on it? 

18                MS. GRIFFITH:  Because her Arizona driver's 

19  license had her picture.  She had her -- 

20                THE COURT:  And I understand, but I'm just 

21  wondering how do you know proof that because someone has -- I 

22  mean, I don't know -- I don't know where you're from, but we 

23  see cases of identity theft with some regularity out here.  And 

24  one of the things that stems from it is people have what looks 

25  like good identification and it turns out they're somebody
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1  else. 

2                MS. DELONG:  Well, that's true. 

3                THE COURT:  And hasn't that been a problem with 

4  names being switched back and forth in this case? 

5                MS. DELONG:  Your Honor, I haven't been there. 

6  All I have is my client came to me.  Whenever I asked for her, 

7  they manage to go get the client I asked for and bring her to 

8  me. 

9                THE COURT:  Okay. 

10                MS. DELONG:  She had her birth certificate and 

11  her drivers license in her pocket.  She pulled it out, showed 

12  it to me.  She said she's showed it to them many times. 

13                No, I don't know if it's a fake ID.  You know -- 

14                THE COURT:  But -- but -- if the issue is your 

15  client needs to have some papers served on her, we will take 

16  care of that. 

17                MS. DELONG:  Okay.  My point is -- 

18                THE COURT:  Okay.  Because I thought you were 
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19  talking about she hadn't been served. 

20                MS. DELONG:  Well, I'm saying they're saying 

21  these women are being reticent, they don't know what's going 

22  on.  Well, they haven't had a chance.  My clients now have an 

23  attorney and I am here to help them -- 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I object to 

25  this line of testimony to being irrelevant to whether the
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1  children should be returned or not. 

2                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Sustained.  This has 

3  nothing to do with a 14-day hearing.  But if she hasn't had 

4  notice, you need to talk to my District Clerk and we'll arrange 

5  that she gets copy of her pleadings. 

6                And that goes for everybody.  I really want 

7  everybody to have copies.  And if they would follow the sign-in 

8  procedure where we tried to set up yesterday and have tried to 

9  have today where they sign in and say, "Yes, I've gotten 

10  copies," "No, I haven't gotten copies," the whole purpose of 

11  that was to make sure we managed to get papers to the folks 

12  that need to have them. 

13                Did your client do that for me? 

14                MS. DELONG:  I don't know.  I have been filing 

15  papers on behalf of my clients.  But may I get back?  My 

16  question, Your Honor, was that maybe some of these women did 

17  not take advantage of things because they don't understand 

18  things that are going on -- 

19                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, I object to the line of 

20  questioning.  It doesn't have any relevancy to the 14-day 

21  hearing. 
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22                THE COURT:  With regards to whether or not the 

23  parents are able to participate in a family plan and a safety 

24  plan, that might be appropriate should the children be kept in 

25  custody.  Wouldn't that be appropriate in your comments at a
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1  60-day hearing?  I mean, what is this about what you're telling 

2  me right now that was relevant to a 14-day hearing? 

3                MS. DELONG:  Your Honor, I was trying to ask a 

4  next question. 

5                THE COURT:  Okay. 

6                MS. DELONG:  Because she was saying they offered 

7  the women a safe place where they chose not to stay, the six 

8  women, because they had to sign a statement that they thought 

9  might be contrary to their interests. 

10                THE COURT:  I didn't hear her say that.  Is that 

11  your testimony? 

12                MS. DELONG:  Okay.  I'll withdraw that. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

14                MS. DELONG:  What I was trying to say, she's 

15  saying they have offered things these women haven't accepted. 

16  And these women now have an attorney. 

17                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, I will object.  It's 

18  argument and it's not relevant to a 14-day hearing and the 

19  point of evidence that's necessary to be presented.  If she 

20  wants to argue this, she can do it some other time. 

21                MS. DELONG:  Your Honor, may I just ask the 

22  question? 

23                THE COURT:  Ma'am, I understand your point.  Now 

24  is there a question? 

Page 19



4-18-08 

25      Q.   (MS. DELONG) Yes, if I would -- if -- now these ladies
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1  have an attorney.  And we can counsel them on what -- what 

2  happened to them if they did not follow the safety plan.  Would 

3  that help alleviate some of your concerns? 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection.  Irrelevant at 

5  this time. 

6                THE COURT:  Sustained. 

7      Q.   MS. DELONG:  One of your concerns is that -- that they 

8  have a mindset.  What would help you for them -- what do they 

9  need to do to prove that they are amenable to counseling and 

10  family services? 

11                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor.  This goes 

12  to the services to be provided by the Department.  It's not 

13  appropriate for a 14-day hearing. 

14                MS. DELONG:  Your Honor, it is appropriate in 

15  that:  What do our clients need to do here today to show you 

16  that they will take steps to protect their children?  If they 

17  got an apartment -- 

18                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Wait.  Can you answer 

19  the question?  That -- what would -- what would be necessary 

20  for these parents to do, in your opinion, to take the first 

21  steps so that the children could be returned? 

22                THE WITNESS:  Psychological evaluation and 

23  counseling. 

24      Q.   (MS. DELONG) And if they agree do that and agree to 

25  live separately and apart from the males and they would agree
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1  to a restraining order that they would not let any of the males 

2  near the children except under the supervision of CPS, and they 

3  knew that if they violated that, the children would be 

4  immediately removed, or they could be put in jail for contempt 

5  of court, would that help alleviate some of your concerns? 

6      A.   Ma'am, I -- I know that you understand that this 

7  population of women that appear to have a very difficult time 

8  making a decision on their own -- and 

9                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection, speculation, 

10  Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  Okay.  Guys, here's what we're going 

12  to do.  This is -- we're not going to have folks -- and -- and 

13  you're lawyers and it's really difficult.  She asked a 

14  question.  I kind of asked the question, so I invited it.  Do 

15  you really want me not to have my question answered?  What 

16  could it take so I could give your kids back to your clients? 

17  Do you not want me to hear that?  Just answer "yes" or "no." 

18                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  The problem I have with 

19  her testifying as to what these women would do, because she 

20  does not know that.  She hasn't adequately testified she has 

21  any idea what these women would do with their children. 

22                THE COURT:  Okay.  So you don't want her to 

23  answer the question at all? 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No, I would like it to be 

25  rephrased.
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1                THE COURT:  Have a seat.  Thank you. 
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2                Don't answer the question.  Do you have any 

3  questions that you can get any of the lawyers out there to let 

4  you ask? 

5                MS. DELONG:  I will try one more. 

6      Q.   (MS. DELONG) This was briefly touched upon before that 

7  there's at least nineteen dwellings, and some are single 

8  households.  Is that true, from your understanding? 

9      A.   No, ma'am.  My understanding is there are nineteen 

10  three-story houses.  There are some -- I saw one single house 

11  dwelling. 

12      Q.   Okay.  And there might be more, you don't know? 

13      A.   That's true. 

14      Q.   Okay.  So if I have a client who has a 

15  twenty-seven-year-old husband, she is twenty-five, her children 

16  five, three and one.  And if you knew that she did not live in 

17  a group communal housing, and your Exhibit 4 backs that up, 

18  would you have as many concerns about her as some of the 

19  others? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   Okay.  So even though she's twenty-five and her old -- 

22                THE COURT:  Wait.  That's argumentative.  Let's 

23  go on. 

24                MS. DELONG:  Okay. 

25      Q.   (MS. DELONG) Almost eighty women are still in the
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1  coliseum taking care of their children's daily needs.  Are we 

2  doing a good job? 

3                THE COURT:  Are these your clients? 

4                MS. DELONG:  Four of them are. 
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5                THE COURT:  Specifically -- 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm going to object as to 

7  asked and answered.  We have had much testimony on how women 

8  are treating their children in the coliseum, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Asked and answered. 

10                MS. DELONG:  The fact, is these women -- 

11                THE COURT:  Argument. 

12                MS. DELONG:  Their children have not been -- 

13                THE COURT:  Is that not argument?  Come on, guys. 

14                MS. DELONG:  Okay.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

15                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards. 

16                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

17                THE COURT:  Now this line had better be lawyers 

18  that are representing parents. 

19                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Judge -- 

20                THE COURT:  No, it's a line that had better be 

21  lawyers representing parents. 

22                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  What about the ones that 

23  were on the list from yesterday? 

24                THE COURT:  Have a seat. 

25                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Are we going to get
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1  reached, Your Honor?  I'm just curious. 

2                THE COURT:  I have no idea. 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Okay. 

4                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards. 

5                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

6                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

7  BY MR. EDWARDS: 
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8      Q.   Good morning, Ms. Voss. 

9      A.   Morning. 

10      Q.   I believe it was Exhibits 20 through 25 that were the 

11  CPS investigation summaries that were introduced yesterday. 

12  Are you familiar with the document I'm talking about? 

13      A.   Yes, sir. 

14      Q.   Did you prepare those? 

15      A.   No, sir. 

16      Q.   Did you participate in the preparation of those? 

17      A.   Some of them. 

18      Q.   And explain for us, please, what those -- those 

19  summaries are intended for and why they're only -- there are 

20  twenty-one, I believe, that were introduced; is that correct? 

21      A.   I believe so. 

22      Q.   Okay.  What's the purpose of them, first of all? 

23      A.   So that there would be an opportunity for all the 

24  attorneys to review them, if they wished to.  They're part of 

25  our records.  The investigation summary consists of details of
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1  when we received a report, identifies the family, and puts 

2  information regarding what the allegations are.  And then there 

3  are contacts made by investigators.  It's like a narrative of 

4  the investigation. 

5      Q.   Okay.  There were twenty-one of those, I believe, 

6  introduced into evidence yesterday.  Is that the total of CPS 

7  investigation summaries that were prepared either by you or 

8  your colleagues? 

9                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, I object.  This isn't a 

10  deposition to determine if there's more evidence.  We're 
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11  talking about the evidence that was presented. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Stout.  Mr. Edwards, 

13  14-day hearing. 

14                MR. EDWARDS:  I understand, Your Honor. 

15                THE COURT:  Evidence relevant for the Court to 

16  make its finding. 

17                MR. EDWARDS:  I'm trying to -- to show the Court 

18  where I'm trying -- 

19                THE COURT:  Just ask the question.  No predicates 

20  are necessary at this point. 

21                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you. 

22      Q.   (MR. EDWARDS) Is it correct that the ones that were 

23  introduced yesterday purported to show -- relate to parents who 

24  are alleged perpetrators of one kind or another, either 

25  physical abuse or sexual abuse?
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1      A.   All of the investigation narratives for all of the 

2  families will relate to that. 

3      Q.   Did they all state that there is physical abuse or 

4  sexual abuse with respect to each and every parent? 

5      A.   I'm not certain.  I would have to look at each one of 

6  them. 

7      Q.   Okay.  And if -- you're familiar with the affidavit, 

8  supporting affidavit of Mr. McFadden signed, attached to the 

9  petition in this case? 

10      A.   Yes, sir. 

11      Q.   You participated in the drafting of it, did you? 

12      A.   No, sir. 

13      Q.   You familiar with -- 
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14                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards, I don't mean to cut you 

15  off, but -- 

16                MR. EDWARDS:  I will try -- I'll rephrase it. 

17                THE COURT:  Talking about how we're not going to 

18  replow ancient history.  I'm looking forward. 

19                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, ma'am. 

20                THE COURT:  What evidence? 

21                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you. 

22      Q.   (MR. EDWARDS) Is there any allegation in the petition, 

23  itself, as to any specific parent, mother or father, 

24  individually, and as to any specific act or omission on the 

25  part of any parent?
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1      A.   A parent by their name, no, sir. 

2      Q.   The thrust of the petition relates to the church and 

3  its beliefs -- 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor. 

5                THE COURT:  Come to the microphone. 

6                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, the petition states 

7  the Department's position.  And it does not require the 

8  Department to have specific allegations in its petition as to 

9  each and every parent.  And this line of questioning is not 

10  relevant to whether or not the Court should return these 

11  children to the parents today. 

12                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, I believe that the -- 

13  the Department in this action is trying to proceed on a 

14  one-size fits all cookie-cutter approach to a whole lot of 

15  different families, all of whom are individual families, 

16  individual parents.  And I don't think that it's fair to ask 
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17  the Court to make a decision on four hundred plus children 

18  based on global allegations, rather than giving the Court the 

19  benefit of specific facts or allegations against people whom 

20  the Court is being asked to separate from the children. 

21                And so I'm -- I'm trying to get her to tell me if 

22  we have specific allegations against individuals, can you tell 

23  me where are we going to find that out, other than the 

24  twenty-one investigation summaries you've already given the 

25  Court?
 

30 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1                THE WITNESS:   What I can tell you is that, up to 

2  this point in the investigation, there are over twenty girls 

3  identified, some of them now adults, but over twenty who have 

4  conceived and/or given birth younger than the age of sixteen, 

5  seventeen. 

6                And today I've learned that of -- of the twenty, 

7  there are just five now identified as certain adolescence. 

8  We're not for sure about everyone's dates of birth.  Two more 

9  of those are pregnant.  So -- 

10      Q.   (MR. EDWARDS) Yes, ma'am. 

11      A.   -- what I'm telling you is that there is a culture of 

12  young girls being pregnant by older men. 

13      Q.   Okay.  I understand that.  You're not telling the 

14  Court that there was a -- a girl in every one of those nineteen 

15  three-story residences that -- that you found in any one of 

16  those that either had a child or was pregnant? 

17      A.   Sir, what I saw, yes, sir, there was. 

18      Q.   There was one in every single one? 

19      A.   In the houses I went into. 
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20      Q.   Did you go into all of them? 

21      A.   No, sir. 

22      Q.   Now, someone earlier asked if you had interviewed the 

23  people about their religious beliefs with respect to this 

24  so-called culture that you referred to.  My question is:  When 

25  you went to that first of the nineteen homes that night, did
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1  you talk to all of the adults in that home? 

2      A.   No, sir. 

3      Q.   There were multiple adults in that home, were there 

4  not? 

5      A.   Some say they were adults, yes, sir. 

6      Q.   And did you talk to each and every one of them about 

7  whether they adhere to and believe in what they say is the 

8  reason -- 

9                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor. 

10                THE COURT:  Just a second.  There's an objection. 

11                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, this, again, does not 

12  go to the elements of a 14-day hearing, whether or not the 

13  Court can return the children today.  This is history. 

14                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, the assertion is that 

15  these beliefs pose an immediate risk of harm to the children. 

16  If not everyone at that location persist in that belief or that 

17  practice -- 

18                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards. 

19                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, ma'am. 

20                THE COURT:  Perhaps the best way for the Court to 

21  hear evidence that that doesn't happen is to maybe here from 

22  the parents, if they choose to put it on.  This woman has 
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23  simply testified as to what she believes. 

24                Now if you've got evidence to rebut that, if we 

25  can get to that stage, it might help the Court.  But it's your
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1  choice as to how we do that. 

2                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

3      Q.   (MR. EDWARDS) The chart that was introduced yesterday, 

4  you said you produced as an aide for yourself or the Court that 

5  showed that some girls -- 

6                THE COURT:  Is your -- is your client listed on 

7  that chart? 

8                MR. EDWARDS:  No, ma'am. 

9                I'll withdraw the question. 

10                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

11                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, I'm trying to go 

12  through my questions and find some that would be -- 

13                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards, I know it.  And I don't 

14  mean to cut you off, and you are one of the best lawyers in our 

15  town and in our community, and I'm not trying to cut you off, 

16  but I really -- and, you know, as well as I do, there is a very 

17  limited scope that the Court should focus on for a 14-day 

18  hearing.  A lot of the things that are being brought up are 

19  things that are more appropriate in a 60-day hearing, if we 

20  have to get to that. 

21                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, I'm -- and I think I 

22  speak for others, as well.  I know that I personally am 

23  frustrated by the virtue of the fact that we have an allegation 

24  of a culture that is alleged to exist without there being any 

25  testimony that my specific clients participate in that culture
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1  or adhere to it.  And I realize that the Court has said that 

2  they can testify and so there is a way we can approach that and 

3  we will do that. 

4                THE COURT:  I mean, I know of no other way.  I'm 

5  inviting you.  Do you have any -- I mean, she's stated her 

6  beliefs. 

7                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                THE COURT:  I suspect if all six hundred of you 

9  ask her the exact same question, her beliefs are going to be 

10  the same, this witness's.  Perhaps we need to move beyond this 

11  witness and see what, if anything else, the Department has and 

12  then you-all could go to putting on evidence that you think 

13  would make it obvious to the Court that these are mistaken 

14  beliefs. 

15                MR. EDWARDS: I understand, Your Honor. 

16      Q.   (MR. EDWARDS) You told the Court that the -- the girl 

17  whose -- whose call precipitated the investigation has not been 

18  located. 

19                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection, Your Honor, 

20  has been asked and answered. 

21                MR. EDWARDS:  I'll rephrase it. 

22      Q.   (MR. EDWARDS) Have you verified that the call was 

23  bonafide? 

24                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards, just out of curiosity, 

25  how do you verify that?
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1                MR. EDWARDS:  Well, through investigation.  I can 

2  ask this. 

3      Q.   (MR. EDWARDS) The search warrant affidavit, you're 

4  familiar with it? 

5      A.   No, sir. 

6      Q.   Okay.  The alleged perpetrator that she referred to in 

7  her outcry call was a Mr. Dale Barlow? 

8      A.   Yes, sir.  He's a registered sex offender. 

9      Q.   Okay.  And he's not on the ranch? 

10      A.   I don't know that he is or isn't. 

11      Q.   Okay.  Do you know that he's not even in Texas? 

12      A.   I couldn't tell you. 

13      Q.   Do you know that he apparently has -- 

14                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards. 

15                MR. EDWARDS:  Ma'am? 

16                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection. 

17                THE COURT:  This relates to the 14-day hearing 

18  how?  It sounds like great information for someone representing 

19  someone in the criminal case, perhaps, but how does it relate 

20  to my ability to return the children? 

21                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, actually, it relates to 

22  whether the children should have been taken in the first place. 

23                THE COURT:  Well, it is a moot point at this 

24  point. 

25                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, ma'am.  Thank you, your Honor.
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1                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

2                MR. EDWARDS:  I've been asked by an ad litem to 

3  ask -- 
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4                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards, ad litems have shown 

5  their own ability to ask questions. 

6                MR. EDWARDS:  I was just being accommodating, 

7  Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Please don't help anymore. 

9                Mr. Edwards, why don't you have a seat and let's 

10  let somebody else give it a go. 

11                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Edwards. 

13                Mr. Haralson, and then we're going to go to the 

14  city auditorium to see if there's anybody over there that's 

15  interested. 

16                MR. HARALSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I'm Brad 

17  Haralson.  I represent two of the mothers. 

18                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

19  BY MR. HARALSON: 

20      Q.   Ms. Voss, if I understood your testimony correctly 

21  yesterday, you put great emphasis on the fact that the mothers 

22  complied to the word given by Merrill Jessop via a speaker 

23  phone that was held up when asked to leave their children or 

24  deliver their children onto the bus; is that correct? 

25      A.   I don't know how I emphasized it, but I did find it to
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1  be very powerful. 

2      Q.   Do you recall who was making the phone calls to Mr. 

3  Merrill Jessop? 

4      A.   Yes, sir. 

5      Q.   And who would that be? 

6      A.   Sheriff David Doran. 
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7      Q.   Of Schleicher County? 

8      A.   Yes, sir. 

9      Q.   And were you present -- was this -- 

10                THE COURT:  Mr. Haralson, get to the focus of 

11  this question. 

12                MR. HARALSON:  I am, Your Honor.  I am.  Thank 

13  you. 

14      Q.   (MR. HARALSON) Did this -- this occurred in the -- in 

15  the school where you were interviewing the children; is that 

16  correct? 

17      A.   In the waiting room area, yes, sir. 

18      Q.   You say there was immediate compliance with a phone 

19  call.  Recall or think back.  Are you sure there was only one 

20  phone call or were there actually two phone calls that were 

21  made both to Merrill Jessop, both with speaker phone access to 

22  the moms -- 

23                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection. 

24      Q.   -- first time comply, but they did not comply? 

25                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  You couldn't hear her say
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1  objection.  You may have to speak up. 

2                MS. GRIFFITH:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  Once again 

3  the relevance of this is not the 14-day hearing and whether or 

4  not you can return the children. 

5                THE COURT:  Mr. Haralson, how is this relevant to 

6  my decision to whether or not I can return the children? 

7                MR. HARALSON:  Because, Your Honor, if I recall 

8  her testimony yesterday, a major reason for her decision or 

9  position that it is dangerous for the children to be reunited 
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10  to with their mothers is the fact that they immediately 

11  responded to the order of Merrill Jessop.  And she put great 

12  emphasis on the fact that all of a sudden they willingly let 

13  their children go. 

14                THE COURT:  So your question is, or the point is, 

15  is that it took two phone calls for this to happen? 

16                MR. HARALSON:  Yes, she testified -- 

17                THE COURT:  Okay.  I've got it.  Two phone calls. 

18                MR. HARALSON:  Yes, ma'am. 

19      Q.   (MR. HARALSON) Do you recall whether or not there were 

20  two phone calls? 

21      A.   Now that you remind me, there could have been.  But I 

22  don't know how that's necessarily relevant to the fact that -- 

23                THE COURT:  Wait.  Lawyers get -- no -- no. 

24                Next question, Mr. Haralson. 

25      Q.   (MR. HARALSON) Next question.  After the first phone
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1  call, the women did not immediately comply.  Well, I'm going to 

2  ask you:  Did the women immediately comply after the first 

3  phone call at first order from Mr. Jessop to let CPS take their 

4  children? 

5      A.   Sir, I -- I can't tell you how that went exactly.  If 

6  you're saying that there are two phone calls, then I would say 

7  certainly there could have been two phone calls. 

8      Q.   So based on your testimony today, you're not quite as 

9  sure of that situation now as you were yesterday? 

10      A.   What I am sure of, sir -- 

11                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Mr. Haralson, I 

12  understand your argument is there were two phone calls.  Maybe 
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13  her statements were mistaken.  You've made your point.  Can you 

14  make another point? 

15                MR. HARALSON:  Yes, I can, Your Honor. 

16      Q.   (MR. HARALSON) Ms. Voss, yesterday when you were asked 

17  on cross examination in regard to specific incidences of 

18  alleged sexual abuse in relation to specific households, I 

19  believe your response was that each parent is individually 

20  responsible for the well-being of their own child or children; 

21  is that correct? 

22      A.   Yes, sir. 

23                MR. HARALSON:  Thank you. 

24                THE COURT:  Mr. Butler. 

25
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MR. BUTLER: 

3      Q.   Ms. Voss, Nathan Butler, attorney for some -- 

4                THE COURT:  Mr. Butler, thank you. 

5                MR. BUTLER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

6      Q.   (MR. BUTLER) Ms. Voss, just to clarify a couple of 

7  things.  The men are all still at the ranch, is that correct, 

8  to the best of your knowledge? 

9      A.   I do not know. 

10      Q.   Okay.  They were not taken? 

11                THE COURT:  Mr. Butler. 

12                MR. BUTLER:  It is leading to -- 

13                THE COURT:  What do you mean they were taken? 

14                MR. BUTLER:  They -- they were not taken from the 

15  ranch was my question, Your Honor, the men. 
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16                THE COURT:  Mr. Butler. 

17                MR. BUTLER:  Yes, Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  All right. 

19                MR. BUTLER:  I'll move on. 

20                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Butler. 

21      Q.   (MR. BUTLER) The ladies that were being held or not 

22  being held, according to y'all, but at -- at the facilities 

23  here, most of them -- most of them have been sent home; is that 

24  correct? 

25      A.   I don't know the numbers, but I do believe so.
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1      Q.   Okay.  They were returned by the Department to the 

2  ranch, specifically; is that correct? 

3      A.   My understanding is they were asked what we could do 

4  to help them, where they wanted to go. 

5      Q.   Okay. 

6      A.   And there was a bus that, if they wanted to go back to 

7  the ranch, they could get on that bus. 

8      Q.   Is it your understanding that most of those women went 

9  back to the ranch? 

10      A.   Yes, sir. 

11      Q.   Okay.  So they're at home.  They've been returned to 

12  their individual homes then.  So we have -- 

13                THE COURT:  Mr. Butler, get to the point. 

14      Q.   Okay.  We have individual -- they're in their homes. 

15  We have individual, identifiable homes now where the people 

16  reside, is that -- 

17                THE COURT:  Yes, you rise for objection? 

18                MS. HEIL:  Yes, Patricia Heil, objection.  Calls 
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19  for speculation and it calls -- and it's asking about things 

20  that aren't in evidence.  And it's also -- I'll stop. 

21  Relevance and speculation and not in evidence. 

22                THE COURT:  And goes to things that could be 

23  developed in a proper social study? 

24                MS. HEIL:  Yes. 

25                THE COURT:  That has not been allowed to be done
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1  and this is a 14-day hearing.  Besides all that, Mr. Butler, 

2  what else would you like to know? 

3                MR. BUTLER:  What I would like to know, is the 

4  Department capable of securing an individual home? 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, we object. 

6  We believe that question to be in opposition to the definition 

7  in the family code of household. 

8                THE COURT:  Sustained.  Mr. Butler? 

9                MR. BUTLER:  I have nothing else, Your Honor. 

10                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Butler. 

11                Yes, ma'am.  It's good to see you in person.  I 

12  believe you were over in the other facility yesterday. 

13                MS. ALVAREZ:  That's correct, Your Honor.  Good 

14  morning.  For the record, Mary Lou Alvarez.  I represent 

15  mothers Audrey Richter, Lucille Nielsen, Sarah Nicholson, 

16  Sylvia Elizabeth Johnson and Rosinitha Richter.  And I'd like 

17  to ask the the witness: 

18                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

19  BY MS. ALVAREZ: 

20      Q.   Ms. Voss, what is your experience -- or excuse me, you 

21  have not given any testimony to this Court regarding your 
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22  qualifications to establish whether or not women have been 

23  victims of domestic violence; isn't that correct? 

24      A.   No, ma'am. 

25      Q.   And, Ms. Voss, you have not given to this Court today
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1  any testimony to establish your expertise to determine the age 

2  of an individual by sight; isn't that correct? 

3      A.   No, ma'am. 

4      Q.   So the women who are listed on Exhibit 26, which 

5  clearly establish a date of birth and a child whose date of 

6  birth include -- or establishes that the child was born after 

7  they were eighteen, you haven't given this Court any expertise 

8  for you to say that that's incorrect, have you? 

9      A.   Exhibit 26 is a chart I created from the information 

10  provided by the individuals themselves regarding their dates of 

11  birth and their children's dates of birth.  And there's none 

12  that gave birth at the age of eighteen.  They were either 

13  conceiving children from anywhere thirteen, fourteen, fifteen, 

14  sixteen, and having children at fifteen, sixteen and seventeen. 

15      Q.   And, Ms. Voss, that's incorrect because one of my 

16  clients is on that list.  And on that list it establishes that 

17  her date of birth puts her at over eighteen at the date her 

18  child was born.  And so my question to you is that you have not 

19  given this Court any information to establish your expertise to 

20  determine a woman's age just by -- 

21                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection. 

22      Q.   -- sight; isn't that correct? 

23                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  There's an objection. 

24  Yes, ma'am? 
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25                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, I think that Ms. Voss
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1  has been very clear about the source of her information for 

2  this chart.  I believe this question has been asked and 

3  answered and I believe it's argumentative. 

4                THE COURT:  Okay. 

5                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, may I respond? 

6                THE COURT:  Sure. 

7                MS. ALVAREZ:  I believe part of Ms. Voss's 

8  testimony yesterday was that she did not believe what women 

9  were telling her because she could tell magically that they 

10  were under eighteen. 

11                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, I would object -- 

12                MS. ALVAREZ:  And "magically" is my sidebar. 

13                MR. STOUT:  I would object to the sidebar comment 

14  in reference to "magically."  She's an attorney and she knows 

15  what the proper decorum in the court is. 

16                THE COURT:  We're not even going there on proper 

17  decorum in the courtroom by lawyers. 

18                MS. GRIFFITH:  May I respond very briefly? 

19                THE COURT:  If you must. 

20                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, a layperson is 

21  entitled to testify in regards to things within the scope of 

22  their knowledge.  This is an adult woman who is making an 

23  assessment based on her experience as to what she believes a 

24  person's age to be.  She did not claim to be an expert in that 

25  area.
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1                THE COURT:  Does it go to the weight that the 

2  Court should give to her testimony more than whether it's 

3  allowable? 

4                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, yes, it does go to the 

5  weight of the testimony.  But to the extent that this woman's 

6  testimony is used to establish that the children -- that the 

7  risk of danger continues, should the children be returned to 

8  the mothers, including the mothers for my client, I wanted to 

9  bring that up on cross examination to established that this 

10  isn't very credible testimony, regarding whether or not Ms. 

11  Voss can tell by looking at a woman how old she is. 

12                And if I -- 

13                THE COURT:  Are we -- you're kind of creeping 

14  into argument.  So let's stop argument.  Let's ask questions 

15  relevant to the Court's ability to be able to give these 

16  children back to their parents.  It would be really helpful if 

17  you would help establish some reasons and those -- those 

18  grounds. 

19                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Your Honor. 

20                THE COURT:  Because we -- the children have been 

21  taken away.  That's a fact. 

22                MS. ALVAREZ:  I understand. 

23                THE COURT:  The issue before the Court is:  Can I 

24  give them back to the parents?  And you-all can continue to 

25  spend the time focusing on what happened, or you can focus on
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1  providing the Court with the tools and the justifications that 
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2  would allow the Court to consider returning the children. 

3                But it's y'all's choice on how you -- you spend 

4  your time. 

5                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Your Honor. 

6      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) Ms. Voss, with regards to my five 

7  clients, what is the evidence that you have that a risk of 

8  danger will continue if their children were returned?  That's 

9  my question. 

10      A.   Okay.  Again, the community at the ranch supports that 

11  at this point in the investigation -- 

12      Q.   Ms. Voss -- 

13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   -- I'm going to stop you, because I'm going to object 

15  to you being unresponsive.  I'm asking you for -- 

16                THE COURT:  The Court's going to say it's been 

17  asked and answered.  Next question. 

18                MS. ALVAREZ:  That's all I have, Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  Thank you.  I'm sorry to have cut you 

20  off. 

21                I promised that we would allow someone at the 

22  city auditorium if they have a question.  Sheri? 

23                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, Your Honor, we do have a 

24  couple of attorneys up here. 

25                THE COURT:  They must be attorneys representing
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1  parents at this point, not ad litems for the children. 

2                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, ma'am.  We have a few. 

3                THE COURT:  All right. 

4                         CROSS EXAMINATION 
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5  BY MS. GOODMAN: 

6      Q.   Ms. Voss, good morning.  It's Stephanie Goodman.  In 

7  other CPS investigations that your Department does, were birth 

8  certificates, social security and other identification used for 

9  acceptable -- acceptable identification and proof of age? 

10      A.   Sometimes. 

11      Q.   Sometimes?  Can you clarify that? 

12      A.   If they're certified, if they're a certified birth 

13  certificate, that's helpful. 

14      Q.   So then why in this case, if we have certified birth 

15  certificates, are they not acceptable? 

16      A.   I'm sorry? 

17                THE COURT:  Ms. Goodman. 

18                MS. GOODMAN:  Why in this case -- 

19                THE COURT:  Ms. Goodman, I'm sorry.  Could you 

20  tell me how this is going to go to the 14-day hearing burden 

21  that I have to consider? 

22                MS. GOODMAN:  Yes, Your Honor, because if we have 

23  girls out there who are eighteen, then I think they need to be 

24  in the category of being -- of whether they are being 

25  considered for their children to be returned to them, instead
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1  of being considered as minors themselves. 

2                THE COURT:  And also, perhaps, if they're 

3  eighteen, whether or not they could be released? 

4                MS. GOODMAN:  This is correct, Your Honor. 

5                THE COURT:  All right.  Move on. 

6                Do you have a question? 

7                MS. GOODMAN:  Could I get her to answer -- could 
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8  I get her to answer the question:  Why, if we have a certified 

9  copy of a birth certificate in this case, it's not acceptable? 

10                THE COURT:  Did you understand the question? 

11                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.  I -- I couldn't say 

12  that it wouldn't be.  I have not seen it.  It would need to be 

13  presented during investigation and interviews with the mother. 

14      Q.   (MS. GOODMAN) Would it be acceptable for the attorney 

15  ad litems to present them to somebody from CPS? 

16                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor -- 

17                THE COURT:  Just a second, we've had an 

18  objection.  Yes, ma'am.  Please come to the microphone. 

19                MS. SLOAN:  This is Andrea Sloan.  I'm going to 

20  object to relevance, especially from Ms. Goodman, who doesn't 

21  have a client in this category. 

22                THE COURT:  You're saying that this is something 

23  that's more properly brought to the attorney ad litems of the 

24  possible children slash adults? 

25                MS. SLOAN:  And that these objections would be
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1  for them to raise on behalf of their clients. 

2                THE COURT:  Ms. Goodman, why is that not true? 

3                MS. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, at this point I 

4  represent a mother and if one of her children would be 

5  released, then that is one less child, then, that she has to be 

6  responsible for trying to -- to meet whatever the Department's 

7  recommendation will be. 

8                THE COURT:  How about this, Ms. Goodman, if you 

9  have birth certificates that you want to share with ad litems, 

10  I suggest you share them with ad litems.  They are the proper 
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11  form and the proper way to get this information before the 

12  Court.  So I'll ask you as an officer of the Court if you think 

13  it is in an interest of someone that you provide the ad litems 

14  with that information and they can do what they should do with 

15  it. 

16                Anything else, Ms. Goodman? 

17                MS. GOODMAN:  No, Your Honor, just to say that I 

18  have provided them.  I have shown them to the ad litems. 

19                THE COURT:  Thank you, Ms. Goodman.  Any 

20  questions, Ms. Goodman? 

21                MS. GOODMAN:  Yes, Your Honor. 

22      Q.   (MS. GOODMAN) Ms. Voss, could you tell me your 

23  position or recommendation as to a specific set of facts for 

24  parents who are Canadian citizens?  If I go over the set of 

25  facts with you, could you tell me your position as to whether
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1  their child should be released or what would be your 

2  recommendation? 

3                THE COURT:  I think there's an objection or over 

4  here or -- 

5                MS. GRIFFITH:  No. 

6                THE COURT:  No?  All right. 

7                THE WITNESS:  My position is that if at this -- 

8  that the children should be maintained in CPS custody until 

9  there can be further evaluation with the parents, Canadian or 

10  not, regarding what their belief system is, in regards to child 

11  abuse. 

12      Q.   (MS. GOODMAN) If they were from Canada, the parents, 

13  and they allowed their child to go to visit her grandmother at 
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14  the ranch, the child is seventeen years of age, what would be 

15  your recommendation if they have a certified birth certificate 

16  for her? 

17                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection -- 

18                THE COURT:  Wait.  There are several folks rising 

19  to object.  Let's hear from the ad litems. 

20                MS. BEATY:  Mary Ann Beaty, ad litem for Lisa 

21  Marie Barlow, and I object.  This is out -- again, not relevant 

22  with regard to the 14-day hearing. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Sustained.  Next 

24  question. 

25      Q.   (MS. GOODMAN) Ms. Voss, did you testify yesterday that
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1  y'all have identified five alleged perpetrators that are at 

2  risk -- that are causing immediate risk of harm? 

3                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor -- 

4                THE COURT:  Ms. Goodman, there's been objection. 

5                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, I object it's repetitive. 

6                THE COURT:  Asked and answered.  Next question. 

7                MS. GOODMAN:  Nothing further, Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Thank you, Ms. Goodman.  Is there 

9  another attorney? 

10                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

12                MR. LEWIS:  Good morning, Your Honor.  I'm trying 

13  to be brief.  I do want -- would like to make -- before we ask 

14  the question, to make one objection.  And that is, I represent 

15  -- my name is Vernon Lewis, for the record.  And I represent 

16  the -- one of the mothers named Naomi Ruth Johnson, who's 
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17  respondent in cause number 2789.  The -- and which is -- which 

18  was filed as a separate lawsuit. 

19                And for that reason, I did not file a motion to 

20  sever in the answer that -- that we found.  But I do want to -- 

21  wish to object to should the -- should the child not be 

22  returned today, object to that case being tried together with 

23  these other two massive cases.  I believe that case was filed 

24  separately.  It should be heard separately. 

25                THE COURT:  Mr. Lewis, you want me to sever your
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1  case out and not have your 14-day hearing today?  Is that what 

2  you want? 

3                MR. LEWIS:  No, Your Honor, I do want the 

4  14-day -- 

5                THE COURT:  You're talking about something 

6  further down the road, Mr. Lewis, if we get to the 60-day 

7  hearing? 

8                MR. LEWIS:  No, Your Honor, what I'm saying is 

9  the case is already severed, because it was filed separately by 

10  the Department.  There's no need to sever, because it is a 

11  separate case. 

12                THE COURT:  Mr. Lewis, I guess I don't 

13  understand.  What we have today is, if you want your client 

14  severed out from this 14-day hearing, you need to probably have 

15  made that objection yesterday.  But, you know, I'm not -- I 

16  don't see how that works to your client's advantage. 

17                If the Court keeps the children in the Court's 

18  custody, then we will deal with the procedure.  And, trust me, 

19  I'm going to do everything I can do to avoid having a mass 
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20  hearing ever again in my life.  So you're anticipating 

21  something that -- that I really will get to, if I have to get 

22  to it. 

23                So do you have a question focusing on the 14-day 

24  hearing procedure and evidence that is relevant for the Court 

25  to be able to consider returning the children to your client?
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1                MR. LEWIS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

2                THE COURT:  Then please get to it. 

3                MR. LEWIS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

4                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

5  BY MR. LEWIS: 

6      Q.   Ms. Voss, what efforts has the Department made to -- 

7  to enable the child to return home?  And I'm speaking in regard 

8  to the child that I represent -- or not the child, the case 

9  that I represent, the mother. 

10                THE COURT:  I do see an objection.  Thank you. 

11  And it would be? 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Repetitive. 

13                THE COURT:  Repetitive.  Well done.  Next 

14  question. 

15                Thank you, Mr. Lewis. 

16                MR. LEWIS:  With -- Your Honor, I did have 

17  another question. 

18      Q.   (MR. LEWIS) Ms. Voss, if the parent in this case is 

19  twenty-years-old and the child in this case one-year-old, and 

20  if the parent, speaking of the mother, were to agree to abide 

21  by the laws of the State of Texas, to follow whatever orders 

22  this Court shall give and return with regards to her residence 
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23  or whatever in regard to the child -- 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I object, 

25  again, as this has been asked and answered.
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1                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Mr. Lewis, do you have 

2  another question, sir. 

3                MR. LEWIS:  Nothing further, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Lewis.  And just for 

5  the point is, you know, it really is not the caseworker's 

6  determination whether these children are returned home.  It's 

7  my determination. 

8                So you can grill or ask questions of caseworkers 

9  and it's not getting to the point.  The Court has heard all the 

10  evidence the Court believes she needs to hear from this 

11  particular witness at this particular time. 

12                Do you have another witness you wish to call? 

13  The witness is not excused, but you may step off the stand. 

14                MR. BROWN:  Your Honor.  Your Honor.  Mark Brown. 

15  I object to you letting the witness sit down before all the 

16  attorneys, the ad litems, have had the opportunity to ask 

17  questions that have not yet been asked and that can be best 

18  answered by this witness.  And I have one such question, Your 

19  Honor. 

20                THE COURT:  Mr. Brown, you have one question. 

21                MR. BROWN:  I'm an appointed -- 

22                THE COURT:  Give it to me now.  What's your 

23  question? 

24 

25
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MR. BROWN: 

3      Q.   Ms. Voss, you have testified that your concern is 

4  there a culture of young girls being impregnated by older men. 

5  Based on your investigation, what is the median or typical age 

6  of these older men? 

7                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection, asked and 

8  answered, Your Honor. 

9                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  And relevance, Your 

10  Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  Well, technically, I don't think 

12  we've had anybody ever tell us what the median age of the 

13  alleged perpetrators would be, if you can answer that. 

14                THE WITNESS:   Sir, the only way I can answer 

15  that, I don't know a median age.  I know of teenage girls that 

16  are married to men in their forties and fifties.  But I 

17  cannot -- 

18                MR. BUTLER:  Objection, non-responsive. 

19      Q.   (MR. BROWN) Typical.  Typical age, then. 

20      A.   I'm sorry? 

21                THE COURT:  Typical age. 

22      Q.   (MR. BROWN) Typical gives you more range than the word 

23  median.  Would you say the typical age is forties, fifties? 

24      A.   No, sir. 

25                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection.
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1                THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Brown, I gave you one 

2  question.  That was it.  Please have a seat.  The Court has a 

3  right under 611 to control testimony.  I'm exercising that. 

4                Please have a seat.  You may not leave the 

5  courthouse.  Do you have another witness you wish to call? 

6                MS. RICHARDS:  Yes, Your Honor, we call Dr. Bruce 

7  Perry. 

8                MR. BROWN:  Your Honor, I ask you to rule on my 

9  objection that you're prohibiting some of the attorney ad 

10  litems in asking questions of that witness.  Not all the 

11  attorneys ad litem have had an opportunity to ask questions of 

12  that witness.  And I would like you to rule on my objection. 

13                THE COURT:  Well, first, I don't think you can 

14  make objection for all the attorneys ad litem, Mr. Brown.  We 

15  do have some supervising attorney ad litems that might possibly 

16  be in that position. 

17                I have allowed you to ask a question.  And I know 

18  of nothing that embodies or empowers you to represent all the 

19  other lawyers.  Please have a seat, Mr. Brown. 

20                MR. BROWN:  Then I would limit the objection to 

21  my being able to only ask one question.  And would ask you to 

22  rule on that objection. 

23                THE COURT:  I've ruled.  You're allowed one 

24  question.  Have a seat. 

25                You may, if you wish to file objections, do it in
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1  the form that is proper and that lawyers do all the time. 

2                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I don't recall if this 

3  witness was sworn.  Were you, Doctor? 
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4                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Let me go through my 

5  procedure.  Would you state your name, please. 

6                THE WITNESS:  Bruce -- 

7                THE COURT:  Slide the forward. 

8                THE WITNESS:  Bruce Duncan Perry. 

9                THE COURT:  Have you been sworn by the Court? 

10                THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  You may begin. 

12                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Shawn 

13  Richards representing the Department of Family and Protective 

14  Services. 

15                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  May it please the Court, 

16  we cannot hear her. 

17                THE COURT:  Very good.  Turn the microphone up. 

18  And yesterday it seemed to be those people that pretty much ate 

19  the microphone we could hear, so.... 

20                MS. RICHARDS:  I'll do my best. 

21                THE COURT:  Is that better, ladies and gentlemen? 

22                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I haven't heard her yet. 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  We haven't heard either 

24  of them. 

25                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  We think his name is
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1  Paris. 

2                MS. MOTL:  Close, good enough. 

3                THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, here's the deal, shout at 

4  us.  Okay? 

5                THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

6                THE COURT:  It's hard for lawyers to hear, 
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7  anyway. 

8                THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  You, too. 

10                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor, I will. 

11                        BRUCE DUNCAN PERRY 

12  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

13                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

14  BY MS. RICHARDS: 

15      Q.   Dr. Perry, what type of work do you do? 

16      A.   I'm a child psychiatrist. 

17      Q.   And what sort of educational background do you have to 

18  prepare you for that? 

19      A.   You go to college, medical school, you do residency 

20  and internship and fellowship, lots of years. 

21      Q.   Have you had any licensing by the State of Texas? 

22      A.   Yes.  And I am a licensed physician. 

23      Q.   Are you maintaining your license and all the 

24  continuing education required by this state? 

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      Q.   Do you have any areas of specialized practice within 

2  child psychiatry? 

3      A.   I've focused on child maltreatment and child 

4  development. 

5      Q.   And how many years have you worked in that area? 

6      A.   Oh, gosh, twenty years or more now. 

7      Q.   Have you had any specialized experience professionally 

8  working with families like the FLDS families that we found out 

9  at the YFZ Ranch? 
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10      A.   I've had some experience, yes. 

11      Q.   Can you tell the Court about that experience? 

12                MR. JONES:  Your Honor, We're going to -- Evan 

13  Jones for James -- 

14                THE COURT:  Come to the microphone, Mr. Jones. 

15                MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor. 

16                Your Honor, my name is Evan Pierce-Jones.  I 

17  represent fathers Lamar Johnson, Don Jessop, Leland Keate and 

18  James Dockstader.  And we object to this line of testimony in 

19  that it is not such as will assist the trier of fact to 

20  understand the evidence that has been presented and, therefore, 

21  is not appropriate expert testimony under Texas Rules of 

22  Evidence 702. 

23                And, further, we object under Texas Rules of 

24  Evidence 403 in that it is needless presentation of cumulative 

25  evidence.  Further, Your Honor, we would ask the Court in her
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1  discretion to permit us to take this witness on voir dire at 

2  this time to test his qualifications. 

3                THE COURT:  First, Mr. Jones, she has yet to even 

4  offer anything that would get you where you could take him on 

5  voir dire.  She's still laying the predicate. 

6                As to your objection on 702 grounds that you 

7  don't think it would be helpful for the Court, gosh, I'm 

8  telling you right now, help is what I need. 

9                So on 403 grounds I'm having a little trouble 

10  figuring out how you're -- how you're going to go there on that 

11  one.  But let's just let her at least lay the predicate to see 

12  if he has the ability to offer an opinion.  So I haven't ruled 
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13  on your objection, but I don't think that it's timely yet. 

14                You may continue. 

15                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

16      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Dr. Perry, could you continue and tell 

17  this Court what specialized experience you have that's unique 

18  from the average person on the street about this type of 

19  environment. 

20      A.   As I said, my -- my expertise is in understanding and 

21  helping children who have been impacted by trauma.  And the 

22  Branch Davidian Compound was assaulted by the ATF many years 

23  ago -- 

24                MR. JONES:  Your Honor, I'm going to object. 

25                THE COURT:  Just -- just so that I'm really
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1  clear, Mr. Jones, are you representing the same fathers that 

2  Ms. Hennington and Mr. Butler are representing? 

3                MR. JONES:  Your Honor, I'm signed in 

4  specifically for Mr. Dockstader.  Our firm represents all four 

5  fathers. 

6                THE COURT:  I know sometimes I have trouble 

7  understanding what you're trying to tell me.  The answer is 

8  "yes" or "no," you-all are one firm representing four fathers? 

9                MR. JONES:  That's correct, Your Honor. 

10                THE COURT:  And did I not request lead attorney 

11  designation?  I did.  And I kind of was under the impression 

12  from yesterday that Ms. Hennington was the lead attorney. 

13                Have we switched lead attorneys? 

14                MR. JONES: I don't believe that has been done, 

15  Your Honor. 
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16                THE COURT:  So the three of you meet over there, 

17  pick a lead attorney.  I'm not going to be having -- it's not 

18  fair to have three lawyers standing up in a firm situation. 

19  Y'all pick one. 

20                MR. JONES:  Very well, Your Honor. 

21                MS. RICHARDS:  May I proceed? 

22                THE COURT:  Yes. 

23      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Dr. Perry, could you continue telling 

24  the Court what your specialized experience is in this area? 

25      A.   Yes.  So -- because of my expertise in trying to help
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1  children who have been impacted by trauma, I was contacted by 

2  the State and asked to help with the children who were removed 

3  from the Branch Davidian Compound just after the assault and I 

4  ended up going up to Waco and leading a clinical team that 

5  worked with those children and their families for many, many 

6  weeks, and some of the children after that.  And -- 

7      Q.   Were there any -- I'm sorry.  Go ahead. 

8      A.   Because of that experience, I learned a little bit 

9  about the children who grew up in environments that were by 

10  some people called "cults," by other people called 

11  "psychologically destructive environments."  And as a result, I 

12  -- people started to refer individuals who had come from 

13  different types of environments such as that to me. 

14                And over the years I developed a expertise, to 

15  some degree, in understanding some of the challenges of leaving 

16  a -- a close-knit group like that; understood a little bit 

17  about how some of the beliefs and practices that were A-typical 

18  to the main secular population would impact the development of 
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19  these children and their functioning as -- as young adults. 

20                So over the years I've ended up working with 

21  children -- people who have come out of children of God, the 

22  Moon Group, Posse Comitatus, a number of smaller fundamentalist 

23  separatist groups so forth. 

24      Q.   And are their circumstances, those groups that you 

25  described, do they have common themes within their organization
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1  and the way they work with the members within it? 

2                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I object to leading, Your 

3  Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  This is a predicate question.  You're 

5  allowed to lead.  Answer the question. 

6                THE WITNESS:  Well, each of these groups are 

7  different in some ways.  But there are several of the groups 

8  that are what you would consider very authoritarian.  They have 

9  a central leader who is given a tremendous amount of 

10  responsibility, authority in making decisions and choices about 

11  the -- a wide range of aspects of life, including how they 

12  dress, what they eat, when they sleep, what work they do, and 

13  so forth. 

14                And some of these groups are more -- have 

15  different kinds of, I would say, unhealthy practices in the way 

16  that this individual, that the top, the leader, basically 

17  defines how they live and how these children grow up. 

18      Q.   Is that consistent with the group out at the YFZ 

19  Ranch? 

20      A.   Well, my understanding of their community is that 

21  their -- it is an authoritarian community.  There's -- 

Page 56



4-18-08 

22                THE COURT:  Mr. Hargrove has risen to object. 

23                MR. HARGROVE:  Judge, Tip Hargrove.  I represent 

24  two ladies.  I think now is the time to take this witness on 

25  voir dire.  He's given us enough to where we know where he's
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1  going. 

2                THE COURT:  You may. 

3                       VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION 

4  BY MR. HARGROVE 

5      Q.   Dr. Perry, how many leaders of this church have you 

6  spoken to? 

7      A.   I have not spoken with any leader. 

8      Q.   How much of their written doctrine have you read? 

9      A.   Very little. 

10      Q.   What research have you done on this particular 

11  religious group? 

12      A.   Well, the first thing I did was read whatever I could 

13  that was available, most of it from the press, which you take 

14  with a grain of salt. 

15      Q.   Thank you so much for that one. 

16      A.   So I tried to learn a little bit about their history. 

17  And some of that came from whatever was in the press.  And, 

18  again, I have no idea how accurate that is. 

19      Q.   Have you been -- 

20      A.   I have -- may I finish? 

21      Q.   Yes, you weren't complete.  Go ahead. 

22      A.   I met with two members, young adults, who grew up in 

23  the FLDS community, spoke with them about their beliefs and 

24  their experiences and the transition out of the community.  I 
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25  met with three young women of the FLDS community and
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1  seventeen-year-old girls, tried to talk with them about their 

2  beliefs and, you know, life in their community.  And, 

3  basically, that's -- that's about where I got. 

4                I would love to be able to speak with elders of 

5  the community, learn more about how they think and how they 

6  raise their kids. 

7      Q.   But, Doctor, at this point you're saying you talked to 

8  a few individuals, some who were in this group, and some who 

9  are still in this group? 

10      A.   Correct. 

11      Q.   But you have talked to none of the leaders, read none 

12  of the doctrine, about this group at all? 

13      A.   Well, that's true.  That's true. 

14      Q.   So your comments would be a global summary of what you 

15  think the whole group believes based upon what a couple of 

16  people have told you, who are not in the group any longer, and 

17  a few who are in the group now, am I correct? 

18      A.   No.  No, that's not correct. 

19                MR. HARGROVE:  Your Honor, I think our objection 

20  is good.  I do think -- 

21                THE COURT:  I know you do, because you wouldn't 

22  make it if you didn't.  But just get to the point. 

23                MR. HARGROVE:  And, Judge, the 403 objection, I 

24  think is a unique and very good one, because needless 

25  presentation of cumulative evidence is a time-saving device for
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1  the Court. 

2                And we've got tons of testimony already about 

3  brainwashing and that's where this is going.  We've got tons of 

4  testimony and/or documents in these various summaries that have 

5  been offered.  And so the Court has got that stuff already.  We 

6  really don't need to hear from Dr. Perry, sharp a guy as he is. 

7                MS. RICHARDS:  May I respond, Your Honor? 

8                THE COURT:  Okay. 

9                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you.  I don't think there's 

10  been any testimony yet regarding how these people are 

11  brainwashed.  We've talked about behaviors.  And what this 

12  doctor has is a special experience through his professional 

13  life where he's seen these type organizations.  He -- he has an 

14  understanding of how they work and what -- and they can offer 

15  this Court some information about what we should be looking for 

16  and what makes one mother -- what makes children safe or unsafe 

17  in this environment. 

18                THE COURT:  So you're not offering this witness 

19  as an expert in theology? 

20                MS. RICHARDS:  Not at all, Your Honor. 

21                THE COURT:  You're offering him under his 

22  credentials as a child psychologist? 

23                MS. RICHARDS:  Psychiatrist. 

24                THE COURT:  Psychiatrist. 

25                Mr. Hargrove, 403 -- and you know how it is, I
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1  have to read the rules, so just bear with me.  It says: 
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2  Although relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative 

3  value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair 

4  prejudice and confusion of the issue or misleading the jury. 

5  That's the part I thought maybe you were going to be concerned 

6  about in 403.  But you're saying it's cumulative and I've heard 

7  other expert testimony about what's going on out there? 

8                MR. HARGROVE:  No, you've heard testimony.  It's 

9  not expert.  You've heard plenty of testimony on this 

10  particular issue.  And all you've got to do is read the 

11  investigative reports. 

12                Family is an active member of a religious sect 

13  that practice child marriages and engage in adolescent sexual 

14  conduct.  The caregiver rejected, engaged -- reject and engage 

15  in adolescent contact.  The caregiver rejected intervention 

16  methods and refused to cooperate.  That's what this is about. 

17                The whole group is not going to cooperate.  And 

18  this man, excuse me, sir, is a -- has lots of information that 

19  the Court has already heard about.  I don't know why we're 

20  hearing about it again.  That's what we're saying. 

21                THE COURT:  Well, since, the Court has to make 

22  the determination on this issue, I think its help probably 

23  outweighs the fact that I would like to shorten this proceeding 

24  by cutting off a lot of testimony.  So thank you.  Overruled. 

25                Yes, ma'am?
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1                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  This is 

2  Mary Lou Alvarez, attorney for five of the mothers of the 

3  children who have been removed. 

4                I would like to make objections to the -- based 
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5  on Texas Rules of Evidence 702, 703 and 704.  The testimony 

6  that this witness has given on voir dire establishes that he 

7  does not have any information regarding the -- the 

8  fundamentalist -- the community that's at issue here in this 

9  case.  The reliability of his testimony is at issue under 

10  Daubert and Robinson.  He has not established his reliability 

11  to testify about the respondents who are at issue at this 

12  case -- in this case. 

13                Also, Your Honor, under Rule 704, to the extent 

14  that this expert is -- or purported expert is going to be 

15  giving opinion testimony on the ultimate issue, and that is as 

16  to whether or not the risk of danger to these children 

17  continues if they're returned to their -- to their families, 

18  that's objectionable.  That's for the Court to decide, and this 

19  expert cannot provide that kind of testimony. 

20                THE COURT:  Well, if he gets to give any 

21  testimony, if he gets to try to give the Court advice about the 

22  ultimate issue, I'm sure that you-all will object at that 

23  time.  But I don't think we're there for that point of your 

24  objection.  I'm overruling your other objections. 

25                MS. ALVAREZ:  As to the reliability of this
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1  expert's testimony based on what he's done in order to -- to go 

2  forward -- 

3                THE COURT:  Yes. 

4                MS. ALVAREZ:  -- with -- for the respondents? 

5  Thank you, Your Honor, for clarifying that for the record. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

7                    DIRECT EXAMINATION (CONT'D) 
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8      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Dr. Perry, to begin to work with this 

9  family or -- 

10                THE COURT:  Close to the microphone, please. 

11                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you. 

12      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) What did you do to start working with 

13  this organization? 

14      A.   Well, I'm not working with this organization.  You 

15  mean, TDPRS or -- 

16      Q.   Actually, I'm talking about the YFZ Ranch members. 

17      A.   Well, I've -- I mean, my role in this from the outset 

18  was, basically, after the -- all of this stuff had started to 

19  happen, our office was contacted and -- initially, because we 

20  have a -- a program project with CPS that is focusing on 

21  secondary trauma. 

22                So we have a program when caseworkers have 

23  particularly challenging situations, there's a member of our 

24  group who provides debriefings and help for the caseworkers. 

25  So she was contacted, I believe it was on Friday, as all of
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1  these things were beginning to transpire and people within -- 

2  and I'm not exactly sure who it was, whether it was the head of 

3  CPS or not, but they asked whether or not I would be willing to 

4  talk with them and provide some input about, you know, what 

5  -- what they should do with these kids to try and minimize any 

6  traumatic impact of the separation and so forth. 

7                So I was in Vermont teaching and I wasn't able to 

8  really talk to anybody until Sunday.  By the time I spoke with 

9  people at the TDPRS, the numbers of children that were involved 

10  had grown to be huge.  A number of decisions about keeping the 
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11  mothers with the children had been made. 

12      Q.   What did you think about the decision to keep the 

13  children with the mothers or the mothers with the children? 

14      A.   Well, you know, on one hand I think that -- I thought 

15  it was actually a very sensitive, respectful thing to do.  The 

16  scope of this and the challenges that were presented to me as I 

17  heard them were just enormous.  And I thought that that -- that 

18  the -- because of the -- the world that these children very 

19  likely lived in was quite insulated, and that so many of these 

20  experiences would be very new.  They would be unfamiliar with 

21  all kinds of things. 

22                I felt that it was a reasonable and positive 

23  thing to do.  Quite flexible, actually, since typically when 

24  there's a situation like this, the children are removed and the 

25  parents are not allowed to come along.  So I thought it
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1  demonstrated reasonable respect.  And I thought it was a pretty 

2  good thing for the issue of making these children not be 

3  completely traumatized by removal.  I did, however, tell them 

4  that, you know, from what little I knew about. 

5                MR. STEWART:  Your Honor, object.  Ask that we 

6  continue by question and answer, not narrative. 

7                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

8      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) What did you advise the staff at CPS 

9  about what you -- whether or not the children and the mothers 

10  should continue to be together post removal? 

11      A.   Well, one of the things I was asked about was the -- 

12  the interviewing, because we had done interviewing and -- of 

13  children under these circumstances before.  And I felt that it 
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14  was highly likely, although I didn't know, I just felt that it 

15  was highly likely that these children had been told and that it 

16  was a common practice to -- to not be comfortable, being fully 

17  disclose -- disclosing to authorities or people who were not 

18  part of the community. 

19                So I was not surprised -- I told them I would not 

20  surprised at all if they would be very cooperative to a point, 

21  but that they just wouldn't talk about certain things and that 

22  traditional forensic interviewing was not going be very 

23  useful. 

24                And I felt that -- that the -- the -- in our 

25  experience in the past, the ongoing monitoring of younger
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1  children and adolescents by adults in those environments sort 

2  of maintained the reminder that you do not talk with people who 

3  are not part of our community about our belief system and about 

4  our practices and things.  So I thought it was highly likely 

5  that they would not get any useful forensic interviewing done 

6  or certain investigative interviewing done while these kids 

7  were still living in the community and had their parents 

8  around. 

9      Q.   So do you think that it is more beneficial to the 

10  investigative process if -- if the children were not with the 

11  mothers? 

12      A.   Well, one of the things I communicated is that the 

13  process -- children who are -- all children, basically, who 

14  leave their homes and children, in particular, who have been in 

15  an environment that's insulated like this tend to be very slow 

16  in feeling comfortable to talk about things that are intimate 
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17  and that are potentially emotionally upsetting. 

18                So I -- the traditional model of doing an 

19  interview, you know, just bringing a child into the room and 

20  spending an hour interviewing them is very low yield. 

21                So in our experience, what worked was to be 

22  around the children, to be present with them, to be respectful, 

23  to be decent, to try -- try to be kind, and over time develop a 

24  real relationship where the child would trust you enough to be 

25  open about certain things.  And I said if there was any way to
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1  begin that process, that's the recommendation I made for the 

2  mental health team who were -- were trying to be involved in 

3  looking after the mental health of these kids. 

4      Q.   You heard the testimony that Ms. Voss gave and you saw 

5  the record, or heard the testimony from Officer Crawford about 

6  the records that he found that showed the pattern or -- of 

7  underage marriage, sixteen-year-olds and children, teenage 

8  girls conceiving children very young, and being joined in 

9  marriage with adult men. 

10                What's the harm to that for this community and 

11  the children in it? 

12      A.   Well, I think that young children, young girls who are 

13  fourteen, fifteen, and sixteen are not emotionally mature 

14  enough to consensually enter into a healthy sexual relationship 

15  or marriage. 

16      Q.   Do you think that there's any harm to younger children 

17  staying in this environment? 

18      A.   Man, I have to say, this -- I have lost sleep about 

19  this question. 
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20                MR. HARALSON:  Object, sidebar.  That's 

21  completely irrelevant, Your Honor. 

22                THE WITNESS:  I apologize. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Haralson. 

24                THE WITNESS:  One of the things that -- and, 

25  again, I think that this is part of what -- what needs to be
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1  understood and what needs to be found out by this ongoing 

2  process.  There are lots of things in this community that are 

3  very healthy.  The mothers that I saw with their young children 

4  were very loving and supportive. 

5                The boys I interacted with were delightful little 

6  kids.  I mean, these are the -- the adults that I spoke with 

7  were respectful and decent people.  There are lots of positive 

8  things about the community they've created. 

9                But I do believe that if the element of their 

10  belief system that allows underage marriage and marital 

11  relations between thirteen-, fourteen-, fifteen-year-old kid 

12  and a grown adult is abusive.  And I think that -- that the 

13  environment is authoritarian.  And I don't see that in 

14  necessarily a bad way, but the authoritarian -- 

15      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) In this instance -- 

16      A.   -- from what I was told from one of the children who 

17  was trying to explain to me and was consistent with what I read 

18  and consistent with what the members -- ex-members of the group 

19  told me, obedience is a -- is a very important element of their 

20  belief system. 

21      Q.   Did they indicate to you what disobedience would lead 

22  to? 
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23      A.   Disobedience would -- would lead to punishment and 

24  redirection.  And you were told to think on -- on the ways in 

25  which you had been disobedient and pray and remedy that.
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1                But continued disobedience and not obeying the -- 

2  either your father or the elders or the prophet would lead to 

3  eternal damnation.  But the -- so within this community there's 

4  a -- there's a very powerful sense of respect for the people 

5  who are in positions of authority.  The people who are 

6  authorities, the father, from my understanding, is the 

7  authority for his wives and children. 

8                And everyone is -- is -- 

9                MS. NUGENT:  Objection, Your Honor.  Objection to 

10  the narrative. 

11                THE COURT:  Question and answer, please. 

12                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

14      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) In this -- the organization out at the 

15  YFZ Ranch, what -- what appears to be the motivation for 

16  compliance by members? 

17      A.   My understanding was that compliance is being godly, 

18  that it's -- it's part of their honoring God. 

19      Q.   Are they encouraged to make individual choices in this 

20  organization? 

21      A.   I -- I believe that they're given opportunities to 

22  make some individual choices, but I -- I do believe that 

23  there's -- there are many situations where there are choices 

24  that are kind of not real choices. 

25      Q.   Can you explain?
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1      A.   They're -- they're the shadow of a choice.  An example 

2  that comes to mind is -- and may I explain what I mean by -- 

3      Q.   Yes, please. 

4      A.   -- that kind of choice?  There are times when you are 

5  given -- you know, you say you have free will and you can make 

6  a choice.  But if the choice involves one side that is packed 

7  with all kinds of good things and the other side is packed with 

8  not so good things, it doesn't have the same element as a free 

9  choice.  It's the appearance of a choice. 

10                And by example, I do this with all due respect, 

11  but I think I'm trying to do this to teach.  Yesterday there 

12  was one of the attorneys representing a mother said that her -- 

13  her mother was being detained.  And this -- but the mother does 

14  have free choice.  She has the choice to leave her two-year-old 

15  child.  But I think that most of the people in court realize 

16  that that's sort of a false choice.  That's an empty choice. 

17  The truth is, if you -- who wants to leave their two-year-old 

18  child. 

19                So it's the same way that this girl, who was 

20  describing the choice that she had to not get married, she 

21  didn't have to get married.  She said:  I didn't have to get 

22  married.  I wasn't forced to get married.  But when she was 

23  fourteen years old, her father said:  Do you want to come with 

24  me to Zion?  And she said:  Sure.  So he drove her to Zion. 

25  And in Zion she said --
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1                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, please, 

2  question/answer for the record.  We need a good record. 

3                THE COURT:  I'm sorry? 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Please, can we have 

5  question and answer? 

6                THE COURT:  All right. 

7      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) What did the child tell you why -- why 

8  she was coming? 

9      A.   She -- she -- she didn't know why she was going to 

10  Zion, which turned out to be the ranch. 

11      Q.   Did she know she was going to be married? 

12      A.   No, she didn't.  When she got there, she was -- her 

13  father said:  Prophet has said that you are to be married and 

14  do you want to marry this man?  And she said:  Yes.  And when I 

15  asked her:  Well, what if you had not wanted to get married? 

16  She said:  I wouldn't have had -- had to. 

17                But when I think about the fact that she was 

18  raised in this environment, where it's a blessing to have 

19  multiple children, it's a blessing to be compliant and obedient 

20  to your father and the prophet, that the choice -- the 

21  independent free choice of saying, "You know, I may not be 

22  ready at fourteen to be married," it doesn't feel to me like 

23  it's a true choice. 

24      Q.   Did you talk to any girls who had ever indicated that 

25  they had refused marriage?
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1      A.   I did talk to Becky Musser who left the group.  She 

2  had been married to, I believe, Rulon Jeffs.  Mr. Warren Jeffs 

3  father, I believe.  When he died, she was given the option, I 
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4  believe, of marrying him, marrying Warren Jeffs.  And she 

5  refused that and left the group. 

6      Q.   So it was marry as you're told or leave? 

7      A.   That was the impression I was given by -- in that 

8  discussion with her. 

9      Q.   How is this -- the dynamics of this organization 

10  harmful to boys? 

11      A.   Well, there's two areas where I think this environment 

12  is potentially harmful for boys.  One is that, you know, if 

13  that pervasive obedience and belief extends into the belief 

14  that it's okay to have sex and marry young women, I think that 

15  that's unhealthy.  I think that you're basically creating an 

16  environment that devolops people who will ultimately at some 

17  point have a high potential of replicating the sexual abuse of 

18  young children as part of their belief system, but it will be 

19  sexual abuse nonetheless. 

20                And I also think, and this is something that 

21  hasn't been talked about much, and this is a much more complex 

22  issue.  But despite all the -- 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I'm going to 

24  object.  No question has been asked. 

25                THE COURT:  Thank you.
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1      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Are there any other dangers to these 

2  boys? 

3      A.   Well, I think that this is a danger that applies to 

4  all of the children, including the boys.  And this is that I 

5  believe that -- that there are elements of the child rearing 

6  environment that are neglectful in a regard.  And when I -- 
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7      Q.   What regard is that? 

8      A.   -- say neglect, I'm not necessarily talking about the 

9  statutory elements of neglect.  And may I explain kind of what 

10  I mean? 

11      Q.   What do you mean by neglect when you're talking about 

12  it? 

13      A.   When you -- when you study child development and look 

14  at the way children grow up, one of the things that we study is 

15  the brain.  The brain is meaning, it's thinking, feeling and 

16  believing all kinds of things.  And while you're growing up 

17  when you are younger, there are parts of the brain that are 

18  responsible for speech and language, for example.  And if you 

19  take a child, and you raise that child, and you give them lots 

20  of opportunities to -- to hear spoken words and the child's 

21  spoken to and the child is read to, they'll develop healthy 

22  speech and language capabilities. 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection. 

24      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) And how does that relates to this 

25  situation?
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1      A.   Well, I'm -- 

2                MS. RICHARDS:  I'm sorry. 

3                THE COURT:  You get to go ahead. 

4                THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

5                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

6                THE WITNESS:  And I apologize if this is too 

7  long, but I think it's important to understand what I mean by 

8  neglect.  And that -- so there's a part of your brain, for 

9  example, that's involved in forming, maintaining healthy 
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10  relationships.  And if a child is raised in an environment 

11  where there's not healthy bonding and there's not healthy 

12  relationships, that part of the brain will not develop. 

13                And there is also the part of the brain that's 

14  involved in independent decision making and choice.  And that 

15  part of the brain, just like every other part of the brain, 

16  develops into what we call a... (inaudible) way.  It requires 

17  opportunities and repetitions to choose and to live with 

18  consequences of that choice and to see how you can make more 

19  mature decisions and how you can develop that capability. 

20                And so, for example, we allow typically a 

21  three-year-old -- 

22                MR. STEWART:  Objection, Your Honor, narrative. 

23  Ask we proceed by question and answer.  Also an objection based 

24  on the Court's ruling that we're going to have time 

25  constraints.  And it's looking to me like we're not going to
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1  have any time to cross examine. 

2                THE COURT:  Mr. Stewart, all these objections are 

3  eating up the clock, you're right.  But that's still part of 

4  the job.  We're going to get the opportunity -- you're going to 

5  have the opportunity to cross examine the witness.  Maybe not 

6  every individual lawyer, because we're going to do asked and 

7  answered. 

8                The most efficient way on something of this type 

9  of information is to do narrative.  This is -- this is 

10  background information on the basis of his opinion.  If you 

11  want it cross each time that there's to be a question, it is 

12  going to drag it out and I will revisit how long we're all 
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13  going to be here today.  It's your choice. 

14                Yes, ma'am? 

15                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

16  At this time I would like to make an objection again on Texas 

17  Rules of Evidence 702.  There's been no predicate to establish 

18  that this gentleman has the expertise or is qualified to 

19  testify about whether or not parts of the brain are developed. 

20                Also on a reliability standpoint, there's been no 

21  evidence to establish that this expert has seen any brain scans 

22  of the children at issue in this case in order to establish 

23  that so what he's saying is applicable to what's going on here. 

24                THE COURT:  Would you like to respond? 

25                MS. RICHARDS:  Yes, Your Honor.  Dr. Perry's a
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1  psychiatrist.  He has done a lot of study in the way the brain 

2  is developed, and the way it's affected by behaviors and 

3  environments and medicines and other things.  He's qualified in 

4  that area. 

5                As to having brain scans on any of these kids, 

6  there's no way on earth that could have been accomplished.  And 

7  I don't think it's necessary for him to be able to talk about 

8  these children as a group. 

9                THE COURT:  The Court will overrule your 

10  objection.  Please continue. 

11                THE WITNESS:  So -- so in our past experience, 

12  working with children who came from very authoritarian -- 

13                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor.  Your Honor, 

14  we're over here at the city hall.  And I understand it does 

15  take some time to have the objections come forward.  But if 
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16  they don't come forward, we're unable to hear -- 

17                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

18                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  -- what they're objecting 

19  to.  Thank you. 

20                THE COURT:  We'll try to do a better job.  I 

21  apologize.  Please help us, lawyers.  Move along. 

22                THE WITNESS:  So in our -- in our previous 

23  experience with children who have been raised in environments 

24  where there are very controlling or authoritarian environments 

25  that determine what you eat, how you dress, who you socialize
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1  with, and so forth, we found that these children grow up to be 

2  chronologically ten, but they have the -- this independent 

3  thinking capability of a much younger child.  And if you get to 

4  be fifteen or sixteen, you've got this, for example, the 

5  capacity to make independent decisions like a six-year-old. 

6  And then if these people leave the group, they're highly 

7  vulnerable to individuals who are willing to exploit them and 

8  take advantage of this, to some degree, child-like quality. 

9      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) And when you were talking to the 

10  individuals in this group, did you see any -- any examples 

11  of -- of where they were less mature than their chronological 

12  age as believed it to be? 

13      A.   Well, in regard to this decision making, this choice 

14  area, there were several times in my interviews with the young 

15  women where I gave them a choice to do something.  For example, 

16  I gave them -- I -- I said:  I would like to take your pulse. 

17  I don't have to.  If you don't want me to do that, I won't do 

18  it.  But if it's not objectionable to you, it would be helpful 
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19  to me. 

20                And in all cases, none of the three mothers, 

21  young women, were able to say either "yes" or "no."  They just 

22  kind of looked at me like they were puzzled and stunned.  And I 

23  explained what it would entail and they still wouldn't make a 

24  decision.  And I said:  Well, I'm taking this as a no.  So I -- 

25  I did see some evidence of that.
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1                I also had, in discussing this issue with the 

2  members who'd left the group, it was one of the things that 

3  they talked about, as well, that they just felt emotionally 

4  incapable of dealing with the decision making and the life 

5  outside of the group. 

6      Q.   So free opinion, free decision making, outside of the 

7  group or inside the group is not something that -- that's 

8  regularly learned because the control is already asserted on 

9  individuals; is that correct? 

10      A.   Well, I can't say that's correct.  I can say that I 

11  might speculate that from what I know about this environment 

12  that that's a possibility. 

13      Q.   Now with regards to the underage marriage problem, 

14  from your work with this type organization, is it easy to -- to 

15  change the thought patterns and break this cycle? 

16      A.   No. 

17      Q.   And will -- will it take some intensive work with 

18  individuals to help them, not just verbalize that they think 

19  that -- that it's wrong for adult men to have sex with minors, 

20  but for them to actually change behavior? 

21      A.   You know, I -- when you are socialized into a belief 
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22  and a behavior that is also imbedded as part of your religion, 

23  it's very deeply ingrained.  And I think that it's a tremendous 

24  challenge trying to help people, number one, see why all of us 

25  think that that's not right.  And then, number two, to change
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1  their behavior. 

2      Q.   At this time do you think that the children would be 

3  in a continuing danger if returned to their parents? 

4                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, I want to object and 

5  give myself time to get to the microphone. 

6                THE COURT:  I think your objection is that goes 

7  to the ultimate issue; is that right? 

8                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Your Honor.  Yes, that's 

9  right. 

10                THE COURT:  Would you like to respond -- you can 

11  come on up.  But would you like to respond to the ultimate 

12  issue objection? 

13                MS. RICHARDS:  No, Your Honor. 

14                THE COURT:  No, you don't? 

15                MS. RICHARDS:  Well, Your Honor, I know that this 

16  Court will make that decision and not Dr. Perry or any other 

17  person here.  But I think because of his unique experiences, he 

18  has the ability to shed some light on what would be beneficial 

19  in groups like this.  So I would like for him to answer it.  I 

20  think it's important for us to know, because I don't think any 

21  of us have ever been in a situation like this and he has. 

22                THE COURT:  Go for it. 

23                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you Your Honor.  Actually the 

24  testimony that the witness, himself, has -- had stated 
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25  indicates that he is not in any better position than the Court
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1  or anybody else in this courtroom to be in this situation. 

2                He has done very little research about the 

3  respondents at issue in the State's case here.  And he has only 

4  interviewed three minor children of over four hundred children 

5  that the State has removed. 

6                THE COURT:  Sustained. 

7                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you, Judge. 

8                THE COURT:  Have a seat.  Next question. 

9                MS. RICHARDS:  I'll pass the witness at this 

10  time. 

11                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Now, we're not going to 

12  have a frenzy at the microphone.  We're going to start over 

13  here with the parents, because I know the ad litems have lots 

14  of information, lots of questions, but let's start with the 

15  parents.  And then when I am satisfied that I've had enough 

16  evidence from the parents, then we'll open the floodgates to 

17  the ad litems, but a very limited floodgate. 

18                Now it's not fair that you-all, because you 

19  managed to get in here at the counsel table, have priority.  Is 

20  there a lawyer representing a parent -- a parent? 

21                MR. JACOBSEN:  Yes.  Yes, ma'am. 

22                THE COURT:  And you've been to the well a lot and 

23  if you want to come, that's fine.  But let's have first 

24  parents' lawyer to come up here.  You're the designated 

25  hitter?
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1                MR. JACOBSEN  Your Honor, my name is Roger 

2  Jacobsen.  I represent three of the mothers. 

3                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

4  BY MR. JACOBSEN: 

5      Q.   Sir, I have one question. 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  We cannot hear him. 

7                MR. JACOBSEN:  Thank you.  Can you here me now? 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Better. 

9      Q.   (MR. JACOBSEN) Sir, I have but just one question 

10  regarding choices, which was a theme that you got into.  Do you 

11  know what percentage of the children in this group opt out of 

12  the group and opt out of the belief system of plural marriage 

13  when they turn eighteen? 

14      A.   No, I don't. 

15      Q.   Thank you. 

16                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anyone else not in the 

17  well that wants to ask a question that represents a parent? 

18  And I'm going to be going to the city auditorium next, so if 

19  there's a parents' attorney over there, you can get them queued 

20  up. 

21                MS. GREGORY:  Sorry, Your Honor.  This is my 

22  first trip up here.  Where do I go? 

23                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Right here at this 

24  podium.  Thank you for asking.  Eat the mike.  It's the only 

25  way it seems to work.
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1                MS. GREGORY:  All right.  My name is Linda 
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2  Gregory.  I represent three of the mothers from Legal Aid. 

3                THE COURT:  Louder. 

4                MS. GREGORY:  My name is Linda Gregory.  I 

5  represent three of the mothers.  I have a question with respect 

6  to -- hold onto my glasses. 

7                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Excuse me, she still 

8  needs to speak into it and maybe speak slower and louder. 

9                THE COURT:  Now, wait.  Slower -- I know we're in 

10  West Texas, but you know, louder we'll work on. 

11                MS. GREGORY:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

12                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

13  BY MS. GREGORY: 

14      Q.   Mr. Perry, you testified as to the ability of these 

15  individuals to make decisions on their own.  You were talking 

16  about -- your testimony was about -- the women where you were 

17  talking about asking them whether or not you could take their 

18  pulse, and you felt they were unable to make that decision.  Is 

19  it possible that those women were afraid of you or -- or 

20  concerned about what you were going to do with that information 

21  that you were going to get from them? 

22      A.   Certainly.  And they could have said no, but they 

23  didn't. 

24      Q.   Do you understand that they were probably concerned 

25  about you perceiving them as being uncooperative?
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1      A.   They were told -- I did this interview with an ad 

2  litem.  And they were told right at the outset of the interview 

3  that they don't have to tell me anything that they don't want, 

4  that I'm trying to understand a little bit about their life and 
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5  a little bit about the way they live. 

6      Q.   So -- 

7      A.   So I feel I gave them lots of opportunity to -- 

8      Q.   Okay. 

9      A.   -- to not feel compelled to give me information they 

10  thought would be incriminating. 

11      Q.     All right, sir.  Let me -- and so because of that, 

12  now you're criticizing them because they did exactly what you 

13  said they could? 

14      A.   I'm not criticizing them. 

15      Q.   You're -- you're saying that you don't believe that 

16  they can make decisions.  You told them that they didn't -- 

17      A.   No, that's -- 

18      Q.   -- have to -- 

19      A.   -- not what I'm saying. 

20                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait. 

21                MS. GREGORY:  Yes, ma'am. 

22                THE COURT:  You're really fast, but in my 

23  courtroom -- 

24                MS. GREGORY:  I'm sorry. 

25                THE COURT:  -- I'm the only one that gets to
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1  interrupt people who are talking.  So let him finish.  You 

2  asked the question, he gets to finish saying the answer. 

3                MS. GREGORY:  Thank you. 

4                THE WITNESS:  Which question would you like me to 

5  answer? 

6                MS. GREGORY:  I know I got crazy, didn't I? 

7                I'm done.  That's all. 
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8                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

9                MS. GREGORY:  That's all I needed to know.  Thank 

10  you. 

11                THE COURT:  All right.  Sheri, over at the city 

12  hall, do we have anybody that wants to talk -- I mean, ask 

13  questions? 

14                Sorry.  It was a slip. 

15                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, it looks like 

16  only -- 

17                THE COURT:  All right, good. 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  It looks like only the attorney 

19  ad litems -- 

20                THE COURT:  All right. 

21                DISTRICT CLERK:  -- would like to ask questions 

22  at this point. 

23                THE COURT:  Not yet.  Keep that thought. 

24                Are you an attorney representing a parent? 

25                MS. DELONG:  Yes, Your Honor.  Nancy Delong.  I'm
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1  representing four mothers. 

2                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

3  BY MS. DELONG: 

4      Q.   You testified you participated in allowing the mothers 

5  to stay with their children instead of having the children 

6  removed from the mothers; is that true? 

7      A.   No, I didn't par- -- I don't believe I participated in 

8  that. 

9      Q.   You consulted with them about that issue? 

10      A.   No, they actually -- they made that decision.  I 
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11  wasn't involved in that decision. 

12      Q.   But you recognize the fact that removing their 

13  children, when they're bonded with their parents, can cause 

14  psychological damage, also? 

15      A.   Everybody in my field recognizes that. 

16      Q.   And can cause issues of abandonment for years to come? 

17                Fear of being left behind? 

18      A.   Well, I didn't testify to that, no. 

19      Q.   But would you say that does happen? 

20      A.   I think it's -- it can happen.  If a child is taken 

21  away from a parent and under certain circumstances and never 

22  returned, of course. 

23      Q.   And you also recognize that many religions and many 

24  parents tell children:  If you continue to be bad, you're not 

25  going to heaven?
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1      A.   I guess, if you -- if you say so.  I'm not an expert 

2  on theology. 

3                MS. DELONG:  Okay.  Thank you. 

4                THE COURT:  All right.  I kept you-all at bay 

5  long enough.  Come on. 

6                MS. HENNINGTON:  Thank you, Judge. 

7                MR. HARGROVE:  Your Honor, Tip Hargrove.  I 

8  represent two mothers. 

9                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

10  BY MR. HARGROVE: 

11      Q.   Dr. Perry, first let me ask you about your -- your 

12  comment about when you said you -- you were speculating about 

13  what these people thought as a group.  You're casting a pretty 
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14  wide net, aren't you, when you say, "that's what they all think 

15  and feel"? 

16      A.   I'm -- you would have to remind me, specifically, when 

17  I said that they all feel something or think something, because 

18  I don't think that that's what I said. 

19      Q.   Well, your implication, is it not true, is that this 

20  group, or these individuals, all these men and women out here 

21  and at the auditorium, who are mothers and fathers, think 

22  exactly the same? 

23      A.   I don't think I said that, either. 

24      Q.   If they think differently, then they might decide to 

25  do something different with their child than someone else in a
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1  group; am I not correct? 

2      A.   If they think differently, yes. 

3      Q.   Now, is it not also correct that it is a good idea for 

4  parents to try to influence their children? 

5      A.   Certainly, if the influence is a positive one.  If the 

6  parent is influencing the child in an unhealthy way, that's not 

7  a good thing. 

8      Q.   Well, what we've heard about in this courtroom 

9  yesterday and today is sexual abuse, and that's really 

10  underaged pregnancy.  That's where we're going, primarily, 

11  isn't it? 

12      A.   No. 

13      Q.   It's not? 

14      A.   It's sexual abuse.  The issue of pregnancy is a 

15  product of the sexual abuse. 

16      Q.   All right.  Well, you're allege -- you're telling us 
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17  that this behavior, that a lot of society considers to be bad 

18  and traumatic, and I'm not arguing with that necessarily, is 

19  influencing the other children that are out there, even 

20  infants, correct? 

21      A.   No, that's not what I said. 

22      Q.   All right.  So a little bitty kid can't be influenced 

23  by the fact that there is a sixteen-year-old pregnant girl at 

24  the ranch? 

25      A.   I don't know what you're -- I'm not sure what you're
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1  saying.  What's the question? 

2      Q.   How can a six-month-old child be influenced in any way 

3  by the fact that someone within a few hundred yards of that 

4  child is pregnant, if that pregnant person is sixteen years 

5  old? 

6      A.   I don't think I ever said that a pregnant woman was 

7  influencing a six-month-old child. 

8      Q.   Dr. Perry, you're aware that the State wants to keep 

9  all these kids, aren't you? 

10      A.   My understanding, if -- if I may explain, my 

11  understanding of this, is that the State feels that they have 

12  insufficient information to make adequate plans for the care of 

13  these kids, and that they need the time to gather that 

14  information so they can make appropriate decisions about how to 

15  help these children and help these mothers. 

16      Q.   And that would mean that when Judge Walther rules, all 

17  the kids stay with the State.  That's what it means, right? 

18      A.   Until there's time -- until there's satisfactory plans 

19  put in place. 
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20      Q.   Well, Dr. Perry, you're clearly, I think, saying, as 

21  is the State, that it's time for a change? 

22      A.   I'm sorry? 

23      Q.   There's a time for a change as far as underaged 

24  marriage and sex? 

25                MS. NUGENT:  Objection, Your Honor,
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1  argumentative. 

2                THE COURT:  Excuse me.  Objection? 

3                MS. NUGENT:  Objection, Your Honor, Laura 

4  Nugent.  Objection as to argumentative nature of these 

5  questions and also as to relevance and the ultimate issue. 

6                THE COURT:  Mr. Hargrove, you wouldn't be 

7  argumentative, would you?  And you would get to the -- 

8                MR. HARGROVE:  No, ma'am.  I've had a personality 

9  change.  And as to -- as to ultimate issues, experts get to 

10  talk about that it's right in the rules. 

11                THE COURT:  But I -- you know, I've had 

12  objections that they can't.  And I kind of ruled that I get to 

13  make the ultimate decision.  He can provide information. 

14                MR. HARGROVE:  Absolutely.  I think that's 

15  correct.  And that's what the Rules of Evidence said. 

16                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Because somebody at your 

17  table wanted to keep him off for that.  But could we just ask 

18  the questions simply, for me? 

19      Q.   (MR. HARGROVE) Well, Dr. Perry, let me -- let me read 

20  some things that you just said.  Maybe that's simple. 

21                You provided me yesterday with your website and 

22  gave me the information that you were going to rely on prior to 
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23  testifying, didn't you? 

24      A.   Well, I -- I didn't say it was the information I was 

25  going to rely on for my testimony.  I said it -- it's some
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1  stuff I read. 

2      Q.   How come you gave me your website then? 

3      A.   Because you wanted it. 

4      Q.   And -- 

5                THE COURT:  Mr. Hargrove, in the interest of 

6  time, get to the point. 

7      Q.   (MR. HARGROVE) Doctor, haven't you said in writing, 

8  and in your research, determined that a child develops ninety 

9  percent of his brain prior to a -- in his first three years? 

10      A.   I -- I probably wrote that the brain gets to be ninety 

11  percent the adult size by three years.  But that's different 

12  than development. 

13      Q.   Well, did you say:  Bonding experiences lead to 

14  healthy attachments and healthy attachment capabilities when 

15  they are provided in the earliest years of life.  During the 

16  first three years of life the human brain develops the ninety 

17  percent of the adult size and puts in place the majority of the 

18  systems and structures that will be responsible for all future 

19  emotional behavior, social and psychological functioning during 

20  the rest of life? 

21      A.   I did, but not with that tone of voice.  I'm sorry. 

22                THE COURT:  He kind of invited that.  I'm sorry. 

23                MR. HARGROVE:  Touche. 

24                THE COURT:  And you're -- just get to the point, 

25  Mr. Hargrove, please, for me.
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1                MR. HARGROVE:  Your Honor, I think I am sticking 

2  to the point. 

3                THE COURT:  Okay, good. 

4      Q.   (MR. HARGROVE) Dr. Perry, also in your writings you 

5  have indicated and used words such as "hope" being extremely 

6  important for children, correct? 

7      A.   Yes. 

8      Q.   Now, if these children were to hope to be home, would 

9  that be important for them? 

10      A.   I hope they can at some point be home. 

11      Q.   And have you also said many times in writing and 

12  otherwise, that the attachments that children develop when they 

13  are young are extremely important, in fact, maybe the most 

14  important? 

15      A.   Yes. 

16      Q.   Dr. Perry, do you -- do you feel that there is nothing 

17  that these mothers or fathers could say at this point to this 

18  Court that could justify the return of their children now? 

19      A.   I -- my understanding of the ability to communicate 

20  with -- 

21                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection. 

22                THE COURT:  Wait.  Yes? 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I believe that counsel 

24  has asked this witness to speculate as to what information the 

25  Court would need to make the Court's decision.  And I don't
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1  believe that's a proper question of this witness. 

2                THE COURT:  Mr. Hargrove, would you rephrase your 

3  question?  I really think you're close. 

4                DISTRICT CLERK:  We cannot hear the objection. 

5                THE COURT:  Sorry? 

6                DISTRICT CLERK:  I'm sorry.  We could not hear 

7  her objection. 

8                THE COURT:  He's going to rephrase his question. 

9  It's okay. 

10                DISTRICT CLERK:  Okay. 

11                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

12      Q.   (MR. HARGROVE) Dr. Perry, what I'm trying to get at 

13  with you, and my question concerns, how, since the department 

14  has said:  We've got to keep the kids now.  We want to ask this 

15  court to keep the kids and not return them.  And the Court has 

16  already indicated that the Court would like to hear from 

17  parents at some point.  Those parents have got to have some 

18  guidance as to what they could do to try to convince this Judge 

19  that the children could come back now.  That's really what 

20  we're here about. 

21                Now you're the expert who's said:  There's some 

22  problems here that have to be addressed.  And these parents are 

23  going to want to say:  No, I want my kids back now.  So what 

24  can that parent say to a judge that could be helpful in getting 

25  the child returned?
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1      A.   Well, I don't want to presume to say what would help 

2  the judge.  But what would help me feel comfortable would be if 

3  a parent came forward and said:  You know what?  I -- I don't 
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4  believe that young women should be married until they're 

5  eighteen.  I -- I do think it would be useful for us to get to 

6  know a little bit about the outside world, but not be so 

7  fearful of it.  I do think that we would be willing to teach 

8  you about the way we think and believe.  We do -- we would like 

9  to have more transparent boundaries between our belief system 

10  and the way we live and the rest of the world so that you 

11  understand us and we understand you. 

12                We -- you know, if a parent said:  Listen, I have 

13  all these great child rearing practices, but I'm a little 

14  concerned about this stuff that you said about developing 

15  capacity to make free choice.  How would you recommend that we 

16  change a little bit of what we do so that might be able to 

17  happen?  If a parent came forward and said that:  Listen we're 

18  not perfect and you're not perfect, we know that, believe me, 

19  but let's figure out how we can create a healthy environment 

20  for our kids. 

21                Believe me, so much of what they do out there is 

22  great.  I mean, so much of what they do with these kids is 

23  wonderful.  But there are parts of what they do that I believe 

24  are very destructive right now. 

25      Q.   Okay.  So to make you more comfortable, a -- a mother
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1  or father saying, "I would not consent to my child marrying 

2  prior to eighteen," would help you a lot? 

3      A.   Sure. 

4                MS. KEENUM:  Object, Your Honor, asked and 

5  answered.  This is Deborah Keenum.  This has been asked and 

6  answered. 
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7                THE COURT:  Thank you.  I'm probably going to 

8  overrule your objection, but don't give up on that.  Mr. 

9  Hargrove. 

10      Q.   (MR. HARGROVE) If a parent were to say, "I will not 

11  allow my child to be married against her will," would that help 

12  you? 

13      A.   Not really, because that's -- I don't feel that these 

14  young women are, quote, it's a -- would say to you that it is 

15  "against my will."  As I said before, I think they're given 

16  this -- this sort of choice that is so heavily weighted on one 

17  side that it doesn't have the elements of a free choice. 

18      Q.   If a parent were to say, "I will teach against 

19  underaged marriage," would that help you? 

20      A.   You know, if I -- if I knew the mother and trusted her 

21  and felt that she was being truthful, it would, yeah.  The 

22  problem is that right now, today, the history of my 

23  interactions and my reading of the other people's interactions 

24  with these families is that they're not sure when they're sort 

25  of getting the full story or when they're getting accurate
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1  information and when they're not.  That's what I would be 

2  concerned about. 

3                You need time to develop an element of trust and 

4  relationship and the clarity so that you can actually act on 

5  the things that you're talking about. 

6      Q.   And in your opinion is that better with the children 

7  not with their mothers, a better chance of that?  Is that what 

8  you're telling us? 

9      A.   Well, you know, I -- I think that it's great that the 
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10  mothers that are with their young kids.  I think that's great. 

11  I -- this is just a lose-lose deal.  I don't think there's -- 

12  there's no great way to make this come out.  So I'm not sure 

13  how to answer that question. 

14      Q.   Well, I leave you with this.  Have you not written and 

15  do you subscribe to a -- a tenet which you call "another chance 

16  to get it right"? 

17      A.   Well, I -- actually that's -- I've referred to that. 

18  That's a title of a book by Andrew Vachns.  But I do believe in 

19  that, yeah. 

20                MR. HARGROVE:  I'll pass the witness. 

21                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

22                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Approach, Your Honor? 

23                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Good morning -- good 

25  afternoon.  Okay.
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1                THE COURT:  Nobody can hear you. 

2                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Okay.  Can you hear me? 

3  Now is that loud enough? 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No. 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Okay.  Is this loud 

6  enough? 

7                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No. 

8                THE COURT:  No. 

9                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Can you hear me now? 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Barely. 

11                THE COURT:  Shout at them.  It's a good as the 

12  mike gets -- 
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13                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Can you hear me now? 

14                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Better. 

15                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I just have two quick 

16  questions. 

17                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

18  BY UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY: 

19      Q.   Earlier you testified that you were qualified to 

20  testify regarding this because you've met and interviewed three 

21  seventeen-year-olds; is that correct? 

22      A.   Well, I met with other kids, but -- 

23      Q.   Okay.  How -- how many times did you meet with them? 

24      A.   Just once. 

25      Q.   For how long?
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1      A.   I think the interviews were fifteen to twenty minutes. 

2      Q.   Okay.  With each child? 

3      A.   Yeah. 

4      Q.   Okay.  And then you said you also had other interviews? 

5      A.   Yes, I met with people who had left the group. 

6      Q.   Okay.  And those were your other interviews? 

7      A.   No, I had other -- well, I didn't have really 

8  interviews.  I spent time with the children and spent time with 

9  the families. 

10      Q.   Okay.  Which children and which families? 

11      A.   I have no idea. 

12      Q.   Okay.  Are these current members of FLDS? 

13      A.   They're over in the coliseum. 

14      Q.   Okay.  And how long -- how much time did you spend? 

15      A.   A few hours. 
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16      Q.   Okay.  Okay.  Is it -- is it your testimony today that 

17  there will be a continuing danger to these children until this 

18  group becomes less authoritative? 

19      A.   My issue isn't as much as the authoritative element. 

20                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm going to object based 

21  on non-responsive. 

22                THE COURT:  I think she's calling for a "yes" or 

23  "no". 

24                THE WITNESS:   You will have to ask the question 

25  again.
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1      Q.   Okay.  Is it your testimony -- testimony today there 

2  is a continuing danger to these children as long as this group 

3  does not become less authoritative? 

4      A.   Not really.  I mean that -- 

5      Q.   Okay. 

6      A.   -- that's an element of my concern, but that's not the 

7  core. 

8      Q.   Is the core going to sexual abuse? 

9      A.   Yes. 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Okay.  Thank you.  No 

11  further questions. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Yes, ma'am? 

13  Thank you. 

14                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you, Judge.  Mary Lou 

15  Alvarez. 

16                THE COURT:  Shout at me. 

17                MS. ALVAREZ:  Mary Lou Alvarez for five 

18  respondents in this case. 
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19                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

20  BY MS. ALVAREZ: 

21      Q.   Dr. Perry, you had testified on direct examination 

22  that if an element of the respondents' belief system allows 

23  underaged marriage, that would be abusive.  But you have not 

24  offered any evidence to the Court today that you have reviewed, 

25  from the respondents, that an element of their belief system is
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1  underaged marriage; isn't that correct? 

2      A.   No.  When you say "respondents," what do you mean? 

3      Q.   The respondents in this case, the respondents whose 

4  children have been remove from that -- 

5      A.   I'm not aware -- what do you mean?  Who are you 

6  talking about? 

7      Q.   Do you know who this case is about? 

8      A.   Huh.  Yes. 

9      Q.   Okay.  That's who I'm talking about. 

10      A.   So, yes, I have.  They talked about their beliefs, 

11  that it was fine getting married at any age when I interviewed 

12  them, so.... 

13      Q.   Okay.  And when you say "they," you're referring again 

14  to the three -- 

15      A.   Yes.  Young, yes. 

16      Q.   -- seventeen-year-old minors that you interviewed, out 

17  of over four hundred children that were removed from this 

18  community; is that correct? 

19      A.   That's correct. 

20      Q.   And you also testified that a -- that -- that being 

21  a -- having -- excuse me, let me rephrase this.  You stated 
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22  that this community believes that it is a blessing to have 

23  multiple children.  Do you remember that testimony? 

24      A.   I believe that I -- I'm not sure that I -- yeah, I 

25  mean, I had been told that that was a blessing in their
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1  community, yes, to have many children. 

2      Q.   Okay.  And you're aware that many traditional 

3  Christian communities, such as Catholics and Baptists, believe 

4  that it is a blessing to have children?  Are you aware of that 

5  fact? 

6      A.   I wasn't aware that I was making that pejorative 

7  comment. 

8      Q.   Well, so you are testifying that this community 

9  believes that it's a blessing to have multiple children. 

10  That's not evidence that this community is abusive to their 

11  children, is it? 

12      A.   I never said it was. 

13      Q.   It is not? 

14      A.   I -- I never said it was. 

15      Q.   "Yes" or "no," it's not? 

16      A.   No. 

17                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I think she's 

18  badgering the witness. 

19                THE COURT:  The objection was badgering and 

20  argumentative.  Next question, please. 

21                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Your Honor. 

22      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) Now what elements of the child rearing 

23  environment have you witnessed from the respondents in this 

24  case that are neglectful? 
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25      A.   I didn't say that I had.
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1      Q.   So there is no evidence that the child rearing 

2  environment of this community is neglectful, is there? 

3      A.   I disagree. 

4      Q.   What -- what have you offered the Court based on -- 

5      A.   The -- the -- if you'll recall my testimony, I was 

6  trying to explain that there is a form of neglect that has to 

7  do with opportunities. 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I would like 

9  to object. 

10                THE COURT:  Thank you.  What -- what's the 

11  objection? 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Asked and answered, and 

13  repetitive. 

14                THE COURT:  You don't get to shake your head and 

15  help me rule on this one.  Repetitive works. 

16                MS. ALVAREZ:  Sorry, Judge. 

17                THE COURT:  Let's -- you -- you've got a point 

18  that I know you're going to get to.  And you're trying to kind 

19  of lay the predicate to do it.  I'm pretty much waiving 

20  predicate on these questions, the normal way we do.  Y'all can 

21  appeal me.  I'm sure you're going to do that anyway.  So just 

22  get to the point. 

23                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes. 

24      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) Dr. Perry, you don't have any evidence 

25  that this -- that the respondents in this case have been
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1  neglectful to their children, do you? 

2                MS. ALVAREZ:  May I rephrase? 

3                THE COURT:  Oh, yes, please. 

4                MS. ALVAREZ:  I'm new at this, Judge.  Surprise, 

5  surprise. 

6                THE COURT:  Well, you're doing real good. 

7      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) Dr. Perry, you've offered no specific 

8  testimony or evidence to the Court that the respondents in this 

9  case have been -- been neglectful to their children, have you? 

10                MS. RICHARDS:  May I approach, Your Honor? 

11                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  We have an objection. 

12                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I believe that this 

13  has been asked and answered.  And I would object on the basis 

14  that it's repetitive.  Additionally -- 

15                THE COURT:  I was kind of thinking maybe you were 

16  going to say that really what he was offered for was an expert 

17  witness to help qualify the testimony of your caseworker, who 

18  had testified about how she thought that that was, perhaps, 

19  abusive based on evidence or information she had from an 

20  expert. 

21                MS. RICHARDS:  That's exactly what I was going to 

22  say, Judge.  Exactly. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Next question, please. 

24                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Judge.  Your Honor, I'm -- 

25  I'm at a loss.  I'll sit down.
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1                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Okay.  Now, here's what 
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2  we're going to do with regards to ad litems.  You know, in the 

3  normal 14-day hearing -- 

4                DISTRICT CLERK:  Ma'am. 

5                THE COURT:  Just a second. 

6                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, I had one -- I had 

7  one attorney for respondent over here who would like to speak 

8  before you close the floor. 

9                THE COURT:  Oh, I was on such a roll.  Okay. 

10  Come on. 

11                MS. DORSCH:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I'm Angie 

12  Dorsch, Legal Aide West Texas.  I'm representing six of the 

13  mothers, and I just had a few questions. 

14                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

15  BY MS. DORSCH: 

16      Q.   First of all, Dr. Perry, do you believe, in your 

17  opinion, that to treat each of the family units that -- in this 

18  case as being the same, each of the family units that was 

19  living at the YFZ Ranch? 

20      A.   Well, I -- I think that that's hard to answer.  I 

21  think in some ways they've chosen to live as a large 

22  household.  But I do think that it would be worthwhile trying 

23  to separate out and -- and deal with individual families and 

24  biological parents.  But it's been very difficult to do that, 

25  from what I understand.
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1      Q.   And if there are any of those family units of which 

2  there has never been a marriage or pregnancy before the age of 

3  eighteen, do you believe that the children in those family 

4  units are in the same danger as the rest of the children? 
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5      A.   I think the environment, you know, the -- the child 

6  rearing environment is very similar for all those children.  I 

7  think that they're exposed to those beliefs.  And I think that 

8  it's highly likely that they're at the same risk as children 

9  who are living in a household where there's been a sexual 

10  offense. 

11                MS. DORSCH:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you.  And you did keep your 

13  word of a couple of questions.  I appreciate that. 

14                Okay.  I understand that ad litems have been 

15  grouped, not by me, but by the coordinating ad litems in some 

16  sort of color coding system. 

17                MS. DUSEK:  That's correct, Your Honor.  They 

18  have -- we have, as a group, determined multiple subsets with 

19  some commonality of issues and interests in the case, Judge. 

20                THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, you know, it is rare that 

21  at the 14-day hearing we actually have ad litems.  Normally ad 

22  litems get appointed today.  Keeping that in mind, help me 

23  focus on not what happened, but what I need to do tomorrow. 

24  And I'm going to ask y'all to organize yourselves by color code 

25  groups, so that I -- not that you have absolute only one
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1  spokesman per group, because I understand that you-all -- I 

2  wanted individual opinions, and I'm getting it. 

3                But I want you-all to try to, in a controlled 

4  fashion, ask a few questions about this.  Ms. Dusek. 

5                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, we -- we have -- 

6                THE COURT:  They can't hear you. 

7                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, we have one complicating 
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8  issue at the moment.  And that is that we started this process 

9  with over three hundred attorneys.  Unfortunately we have 

10  multiple attorneys who have, by necessity, needed to leave town 

11  and have now identified co-counsel to represent them.  What we 

12  have been attempting to coordinate throughout the day is to -- 

13  Mr. Stout and I have been attempting to coordinate a means by 

14  which, if the Court were going to take a lunch break, these 

15  groups --  we're not going to.  All right, Your Honor. 

16                THE COURT:  Sustenance will only embolden 

17  you-all. 

18                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, I -- 

19                THE COURT:  Yes, I will give you all a lunch 

20  break if you're asking for one. 

21                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, it's not -- frankly Mr. 

22  Stout and I are not nearly as concerned for food for everyone 

23  as much as we are giving the attorney ad litems the opportunity 

24  to gather as their groups.  And they had -- they had developed 

25  some spokes people, for lack of a better way to put it, the
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1  other night.  I don't know which of these attorneys are still 

2  here.  And if could possibly allow them to break briefly, get 

3  organized and then proceed as the Court would like, I think 

4  that's what the plan that they have.  We just need a few 

5  moments to implement -- 

6                THE COURT:  You're suggesting that if I give you 

7  forty-five minutes, that you could -- 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No, Ten. 

9                THE COURT:  Ten.  They don't want lunch, Carmen. 

10  I tried. 
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11                MS. DUSEK:  That's fine, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  If we took a break for ten minutes, 

13  you-all might be able to crystalize your presentations?  You've 

14  got it. 

15                (Recess.) 

16                THE COURT:  And just for the record, and 

17  particularly for my local lawyers, I was ready in ten minutes, 

18  guys. 

19                Okay.  Get lunch? 

20                THE WITNESS:  No. 

21                MS. JOHNSON:  Your Honor, may I be recognized? 

22                THE COURT:  I'm asking if he got lunch.  Give me 

23  a break.  Just a second. 

24                Did you get lunch? 

25                THE WITNESS:  No, but that's all right.
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1                THE COURT:  I'm sorry. 

2                THE WITNESS:  That's all right. 

3                THE COURT:  For what purposes do you rise? 

4                Nobody can hear you unless you're at the 

5  microphone. 

6                MS. JOHNSON:  Thank you. 

7                My name is D'Ann Johnson.  I'm an attorney with 

8  Texas Rio Grande. 

9                THE COURT:  Nobody can hear you. 

10                MS. JOHNSON:  My name is D'Ann Johnson.  I'm an 

11  attorney with Texas Rio Grande Legal Aid.  We represent 

12  forty-six women in the coliseum.  I was at the coliseum this 

13  morning, after waiting for three and a half hours last night 
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14  for access to counsel.  We have filed an emergency motion for 

15  access to counsel. 

16                This morning I was able to get in about 8:00 into 

17  the horse stall, which was a very interesting place to -- to 

18  contact my clients.  I'm from Austin.  Many of our other 

19  attorneys are from all around the State, as you know.  We have 

20  also traveled in to represent the respondent-mothers in these 

21  cases. 

22                Because they do not have cell phones, we cannot 

23  contact our clients.  We can't write to them at the coliseum, 

24  and we can't be here all the time in order to be able to talk 

25  to our clients.  So we are asking that our clients be given
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1  their cell phones so that we may be able to contact them in 

2  between -- and that we have easy access into the coliseum at 

3  any time that we're able to go. 

4                Yesterday, when I was there for three-and-a-half 

5  hours, all of the ad litems were permitted in to see the 

6  clients, their clients, including some of our clients, because 

7  if they had a two-year-old, their mother came with them. 

8                And, however, they said that the State was not 

9  able to let me in, even though I was sitting there for 

10  three-and-a-half hours trying to get access to our clients.  So 

11  would you like to see a copy of the motion that got filed this 

12  morning, if I may approach? 

13                (Handed motion to bailiff.) 

14                MS. JOHNSON:  In addition, these women don't 

15  have an opportunity to know what's going on in the Court today, 

16  because all mothers over the age of seventeen are not permitted 
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17  to watch television.  We have some mothers with medical needs. 

18                I have one that's in isolation, who I was told I 

19  couldn't see this morning.  There are serious medical needs for 

20  the women that are there.  And the respondent-mother's 

21  attorneys really need to be able to talk to them.  So we'd 

22  really like you to consider this emergency motion. 

23                THE COURT:  And what -- what relief are you 

24  seeking? 

25                MS. JOHNSON:  We would like to at least have them
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1  have their cell phones and to have some order to whoever is 

2  keeping us from being able to access the coliseum easily.  So 

3  while I was there, the Department of Public Safety said it was 

4  the Department of Family, DFPS, that wasn't letting us in. 

5                There was a lot of this and it was very difficult 

6  and, needless to say, I did not get in to see the clients last 

7  night. 

8                THE COURT:  Does anybody want to be heard?  Yes, 

9  please. 

10                MR. WILLIAMS:  My name is Gary Williams.  I'm the 

11  general counsel for the Department of Family Protective 

12  Services.  I can convey to you the information that I'm aware 

13  of, in that while this has been going on, and previously, 

14  the -- as you know, the situation out there is being run by 

15  several agencies. 

16                Baptist Children's Home is involved, the FPS is 

17  involved, DPS is involved, the local polices are involved.  And 

18  they continually try to do the best job they could under the 

19  circumstances to make access available. 
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20                The ad litems are going in specifically to the 

21  coliseum.  And they have cubicles there for them to talk to 

22  their clients.  To my knowledge the parents' attorneys, their 

23  cubicles made open to them at the -- she's correct, I think 

24  it's called a horse barn. 

25                But in any event, it's a little bit separate from
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1  the coliseum.  And the last information I got last night, I had 

2  a couple of my attorneys e-mailing me saying that they were 

3  there till 12:30 making sure that everybody was able to see 

4  their clients. 

5                Now if the only comment is that they're not 

6  inside the coliseum, that's correct.  That -- that is not being 

7  allowed, for them to go in the coliseum directly.  They're 

8  bringing the clients out from the coliseum to see the parents' 

9  attorneys.  That's my understanding of that situation. 

10                THE COURT:  But I have a lawyer saying that she 

11  was out there for three hours last night and was unable to talk 

12  to her client. 

13                MR. WILLIAMS:  And I don't have any specific 

14  information on that.  I know it may be one of those 

15  situations that -- it sounds like one of the situations where 

16  it's an adult -- I mean, a question of whether the adult's an 

17  adult or a minor.  I don't know if that was an issue, because 

18  we've had a lot of issues with some ad litems not wanting -- 

19  sometimes there are ad litems appointed and adults -- ad litems 

20  and parents' attorneys appointed for the same person.  And 

21  sometimes there's a discrepancy about that. 

22                I don't know what the situation was at that 
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23  particular time.  I don't have any specific knowledge about 

24  that. 

25                THE COURT:  Could I just have a little bit of
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1  clarification from the representative?  You, specifically, have 

2  how many clients? 

3                MS. JOHNSON:  Of my clients, I have three.  But 

4  TRLA has forty-six. 

5                THE COURT:  And you specifically were unable to 

6  talk to your three clients? 

7                MS. JOHNSON:  Last night, that's correct.  They 

8  said while the Court was going on, I could not see the clients, 

9  for some reason, because too many people were involved in the 

10  decision.  Although the ad litems came out and they were able 

11  to get immediately in. 

12                THE COURT:  I can't fix last night. 

13                MS. JOHNSON:  Correct. 

14                THE COURT:  Let's try to deal with today.  Now, 

15  the cell phones were taken away for a variety of reasons.  They 

16  were actually -- initially removed because of security concerns 

17  by the Public Safety Department.  They were returned and then 

18  there were probably what was characterized to the Court as some 

19  inappropriate use of those cell phones and necessitated the 

20  Court's asking that those cell phones be removed. 

21                Your clients are not being held at that 

22  location.  They are free to leave.  If they want to leave, they 

23  can. 

24                Last night we identified that if the attorneys 

25  went out there, and the attorneys had their clients come with
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1  them to the courthouse today, that those clients would be 

2  allowed to return, provided it was the attorney that returned 

3  them, because there's been some issue as to who's who, and 

4  whether or not that's actually the mother being returned to the 

5  children, that the Department has agreed to allow back. 

6                But I don't -- I have no way of knowing what's 

7  going on out there.  I really -- cannot really stop this 

8  hearing and it would be improper for me to make an inspection. 

9  Now, what do you want me to do with -- it is not a perfect 

10  solution.  What do you want me to do? 

11                MS. JOHNSON:  We are asking to have their cell 

12  phones returned, so that those of us that have to go back to 

13  Austin, or Corpus, Laredo, or Plainview can contact our clients 

14  over the weekends or any other time that we need to speak with 

15  them, because we won't be here in San Angelo, many of us, all 

16  of the time.  We have to make arrangements to come back, as you 

17  know. 

18                And we also want to make sure that whatever the 

19  confusion is between the different entities are in charge of 

20  the coliseum understand that the attorneys have a right to 

21  access to their -- 

22                THE COURT:  So the relief you're asking for 

23  has -- is for, really, a long-term problem, right? 

24                MS. JOHNSON:  Only if you keep them out there for 

25  a long time, Your Honor.
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1                THE COURT:  Right.  And if I can get to this 

2  14-day hearing, you know, I might actually get to make that 

3  decision.  But I want to make it really clear.  I am not 

4  keeping your clients.  Your clients have chosen to stay and the 

5  Department has chosen to allow them to stay.  They are free to 

6  go at any time. 

7                MS. JOHNSON:  That's right.  But they want to 

8  stay with their children, which we want to respect, as their 

9  attorneys.  And we need to be able to contact them so that we 

10  can properly represent them. 

11                It's very difficult for us not to have access to 

12  them and not to be able to talk to them.  And I'm very 

13  concerned with some that may be pregnant or nursing or in 

14  isolation, that we're able to continue to communicate with 

15  them. 

16                THE COURT:  Thank you for making your concerns 

17  known. 

18                MS. JOHNSON:  Thank you. 

19                THE COURT:  All right.  I believe we were about 

20  to begin some sort of orderly, to-the-point questioning by some 

21  of the attorney ad litems; is that correct? 

22                MS. MOTL:  Yes. 

23                THE ATTORNEYS:  Yes, Judge. 

24                THE COURT:  Do you all have a plan? 

25                THE ATTORNEYS:  Yes, Judge.
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1                THE COURT:  Okay.  Whose's the first spokesman? 

2                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor -- 

3                THE COURT:  First implies only one is jumping up. 
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4                MS. DUSEK:  And I'm not the spokesperson.  But if 

5  the Court would like for me to kind of help explain how I 

6  make -- 

7                THE COURT:  Could you just direct traffic? 

8                MS. DUSEK:  Absolutely, Your Honor.  Why don't 

9  we, if we could start, Judge, with a representative attorney 

10  from the group of young mothers, who are represented by 

11  attorney ad litems, that would be the orange group folks. 

12                MS. SLOAN:  I'm Andrea Sloan and I am speaking on 

13  behalf -- 

14                THE COURT:  Louder, before he yells at us. 

15                MS. SLOAN:  Sorry. 

16                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

17  BY MS. SLOAN: 

18      Q.   I'm Andrea Sloan and I'm speaking on behalf of all the 

19  young mothers.  And I was just wondering if you have an 

20  opinion, in the short-term, depending on, of course, what the 

21  Judge decides about whether or not the young mothers should be 

22  allowed to remain, in the event that they're not allowed to 

23  return to their home, should they be allowed to remain in the 

24  same home with their babies? 

25      A.   I think that would be -- you know, if the appropriate
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1  safeguards and other elements of a service plan can be put in 

2  place, I think that could be great. 

3      Q.   What -- what safeguard would you recommend for a 

4  sixteen- or seventeen-year-old mother with a baby? 

5      A.   Well, in a -- I can't answer that specifically.  I can 

6  give you some broad principles that I think would be important, 
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7  if that's all right, if that's what you're looking for. 

8      Q.   I think that -- I don't want to have you go back into 

9  that.  Not because I want to cut you off, but just the similar 

10  things that we've discussed earlier today? 

11      A.   Well, kind of. 

12      Q.   But you want to give me some examples, then? 

13      A.   Well, I'm happy to help anybody who wants my insight 

14  about how to proceed forward in a way that's in the best 

15  interest of the kids. 

16                However, in order to sort of give you a useful 

17  opinion, I would need information about the specifics of the 

18  child and the parent and the sister-wives that have played a 

19  role in that child's life, or the father and the role -- just 

20  all kinds of stuff that needs to be gathered to be -- to create 

21  a -- a respectful -- respectful to the -- to these mothers and 

22  their belief system, and a child-sensitive developmentally 

23  appropriate situation.  And I -- it would take time. 

24      Q.   Sure.  And I guess what I'm getting at, in the -- in 

25  the more immediate short-term, assuming that there are minor
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1  mothers, these are huge assumptions, and assuming that the 

2  decision was made to place them in here, other than allowing 

3  them to go home, and assuming that the -- that the Department 

4  made appropriate placements for those young mothers, would 

5  there be any reason then that those young mothers could not 

6  have their babies with them, other than logistics? 

7      A.   No, I wouldn't think so. 

8                MS. SLOAN:  Thank you. 

9                MS. DUSEK:  Judge, I can hear Sheri Woodfin 
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10  trying to get in touch with the Court, also. 

11                THE COURT:  Yes, Sheri?  Sheri, I see your lips 

12  moving, but I can't hear you.  Sheri. 

13                MS. SLOAN:  She said they're having a difficult 

14  time hearing. 

15                THE COURT:  We can't hear them, and they can't 

16  hear us. 

17                MR. STOUT:  We can hear out of this speaker, 

18  barely. 

19                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge, we can hear you fine. 

20  We're just having difficulty hearing the witness. 

21                THE COURT:  Sheri, I can't hear you.  Your lips 

22  are moving. 

23                SOUND TECHNICIAN:  I believe it's their side. 

24                THE COURT:  It's their side. 

25                SOUND TECHNICIAN:  Can y'all hear us now?
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1                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Can you hear us now? 

2                SOUND TECHNICIAN:  Yes. 

3                THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay. 

4                SOUND TECHNICIAN:  The witness volume is too 

5  loud. 

6                THE ATTORNEYS:  No. 

7                SOUND TECHNICIAN:  Sorry. 

8                MS. DUSEK:  And, Your Honor, can they hear me? 

9                THE COURT:  Can you all hear the -- 

10                SOUND TECHNICIAN:  Yes, Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  This speaker's -- This speaker's not 

12  working. 
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13                MS. DUSEK:  Judge, while they get this fixed, I 

14  think the logical next step is to have a representative from 

15  the teenage boys group ask questions next, Your Honor. 

16                THE COURT:  All right.  Teenage boys. 

17                MR. JARVIS:  My name is Billy Britt Jarvis. 

18                THE COURT:  Come on. 

19                MR. JARVIS:  My Name is Billy -- 

20                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, can you hear me? 

21                THE COURT:  Yes.  Can you hear us? 

22                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes.  Would you like the ad 

23  litem for the orange group from the auditorium now? 

24                MR. STOUT:  Yes. 

25                MS. DUSEK:  Yes.
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1                THE COURT:  Apparently yes.  Sorry. 

2                MS. DUSEK:  I apologize, Your Honor.  I forgot. 

3                MS. MAPES:  Hi, Judge.  I'm Jane Mapes.  I'm 

4  representing Jennifer Steed, who is a twenty-seven-year-old 

5  mother who is in the coliseum with two children.  And I have 

6  one question for the doctor. 

7                THE COURT:  All right. 

8                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

9  BY MS. MAPES: 

10      Q.   Dr. Perry -- Dr. Perry, do you think -- 

11                MR. STOUT:  Excuse me.  Excuse me. 

12                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  We have an objection? 

13                MR. STOUT:  Judge, if it's a twenty-seven-year- 

14  old person, it's only children with children's in the orange 

15  group. 
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16                MS. MOTL:  She's an attorney ad litem. 

17                MS. MAPES:  Actually, she was placed in the 

18  orange group by Mr. Stout.  And it wasn't known at the time she 

19  was a minor -- 

20                MR. STOUT:  Judge, if she was placed in the 

21  orange group by Mr. Stout, it's because both CASA and CPS 

22  indicated -- if she indicated that she was twenty-seven, it 

23  didn't appear that she was or someone else indicated that she 

24  wasn't.  So my point, in fact, is if our ad litem is indicating 

25  it's a twenty-seven-year-old person, then she needs to make a
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1  file as to that.  And that's not -- that's not appropriate in 

2  that group, then.  But we were only placing in groups based 

3  upon what CASA and CPS indicated to us and that they had 

4  received information. 

5                THE COURT:  Okay.  We're not going to debate 

6  whether this individual is twenty-seven or not.  We'll waive 

7  any of that.  You're in the orange group.  You said you had one 

8  question. 

9                MS. MAPES:  Yes, ma'am.  Thank you. 

10      Q.   (MS. MAPES) Dr. Perry, if a mom with two children, who 

11  were five and seven years old, would accept services from CPS 

12  and follow a service plan and lived off site with her children 

13  in an apartment, a woman who could work independently and 

14  support her children, would you determine that they are -- that 

15  the children are at risk at the present time or should those 

16  children be returned to their mom? 

17      A.   I think that if you could adequately determine that 

18  this mother had all those attributes and that these children 
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19  really were the children of this mother, and there was a -- a 

20  set of services that could be put in place, I think it would be 

21  reasonable to, you know, have the mother and the child try to 

22  live in this independent way, if she so chose. 

23      Q.   Thank you.  And you think if this woman was savvy and 

24  had computer skills and was able to support herself off site, 

25  then you would recommend that her children be returned to her
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1  so long as there was some conclusive evidence that these were 

2  her children? 

3      A.   I -- I'm not making any recommendations about that 

4  kind of stuff until I have a chance to do some sort of real 

5  evaluation. 

6      Q.   Well, I'm asking you your opinion. 

7      A.   I can't give one about that without some real 

8  information. 

9      Q.   Well, I'm giving you real information.  I've met with 

10  my clients and I have this information. 

11                THE COURT:  I think you said you had one 

12  question.  Was this still one question? 

13                MS. MAPES:  Yes.  No, that was the question. 

14                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

15                MS. MAPES:  Thank you, Judge. 

16                THE COURT:  Have a seat.  We're going to now do 

17  the all-boy representation, is that it? 

18                MS. DUSEK:  How they had -- 

19                THE COURT:  Never mind.  He can just tell us who 

20  he is. 

21                MS. DUSEK:  How they had divided was teenage 
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22  boys, and if you just want me to go through a list to see if 

23  it works with the Court, and I don't have to keep popping back 

24  and forth, I'm happy to do that. 

25                THE COURT:  No, popping back and forth works.
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1                MS. DUSEK:  Thanks, Judge. 

2                MR. JARVIS:  My name is Billy Britt Jarvis.  I 

3  represent Ammon Steed, 2903, date of birth 11/11/90; Brandon 

4  Steed, 2902, 4/23/90; Leslie Steed, 2875, 6/15/90; Samson 

5  Jessop, 5/10/91, 2902; Levi Steed 12/27/92, 2876.  And I have 

6  no questions, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

7                THE COURT:  Bless you.  Do you have someone from 

8  his similar category at your place, Sheri? 

9                DISTRICT CLERK:  Teenage boys? 

10                MR. STOUT:  They're not, Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  They say there aren't any. 

12                DISTRICT CLERK:  That's what they're saying here, 

13  Judge. 

14                MS. DUSEK:  Special needs seems to be the next 

15  group.  And I believe we have one attorney from the entire 

16  attorney ad litem group. 

17                THE COURT:  Special needs attorney. 

18                MR. CALDWELL:  No questions, Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  Just so you hear, no questions. 

20  Thank you, Mr. Caldwell. 

21                MS. DUSEK:  Teenage girls -- 

22                THE COURT:  I'm sorry we have a lawyer rising. 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, there may be 

24  a special needs attorney in the auditorium.  There was one 

Page 114



4-18-08 

25  earlier today.
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1                THE COURT:  Is there a special needs attorney? 

2                MR. FOSTER:  Your Honor, this is Steven Foster 

3  speaking.  I'm the representative for the group of boys under 

4  five, and one of our boys under five is going through rehab. 

5  And I think that might be the one they're referring to.  And we 

6  do have an attorney that has a question that he's asked me to 

7  pose in the under five group.  And it might be easier and more 

8  appropriate for you now. 

9                THE COURT:  You're up.  Let's go. 

10                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

11  BY MR. FOSTER: 

12      Q.   Doctor, if a young -- young boy under the age of five 

13  has special needs, was going through rehab, would it 

14  potentially help that boy's developments and rehabilitation if 

15  he had his mother present and near? 

16      A.   Yes, potentially. 

17                MR. FOSTER:  Okay.  No further questions, Your 

18  Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

20                MS. DUSEK:  Teenage girls believed to not have 

21  any children, Your Honor. 

22                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, as 

23  representative of that group, we have no questions with regard 

24  to this witness at this hearing. 

25                THE COURT:  The courthouse representative has no
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1  questions.  Does someone have a question over at the 

2  auditorium? 

3                DISTRICT CLERK:  She's coming, Judge. 

4                MS. HENLEY:  Hi, Your Honor, Jenny Henley 

5  representing the green ad litems. 

6                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

7  BY MS. HENLEY: 

8      Q.   Dr. Perry, with the children, you cannot tell this 

9  Court that every child -- every child is at risk of serious 

10  injury or sexual abuse if returned home?  You cannot tell the 

11  Court that, correct? 

12      A.   For sexual abuse, I probably can't, no. 

13      Q.   Or serious injury, correct? 

14      A.   I think the children are -- are at risk for potential 

15  emotional injury, yes. 

16                MS. HENLEY:  That's all I have, Your Honor. 

17                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

18                MS. DUSEK:  Boy -- adolescent boys age five to 

19  eleven. 

20                THE COURT:  Five to eleven. 

21                MS. TEMPLETON:  I'm Maridell Templeton.  I'm 

22  Maridell Templeton.  I represent Jacob Harker.  And I have some 

23  short questions. 

24                THE COURT:  Okay. 

25
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 
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2  BY MS. TEMPLETON: 

3      Q.   Did you get the impression that any of the children 

4  had been coached or -- on how to respond to questions? 

5      A.   Well -- 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection.  Calls for 

7  speculation.  He has already testified, he's only talked to a 

8  couple of smaller children. 

9                THE COURT:  Overruled. 

10                DISTRICT CLERK:  It's overruled. 

11                THE COURT:  Answer the question if you can. 

12                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Yes, I had the impression 

13  that they were being monitored and that there was a degree of, 

14  I don't want to use censorship, but they -- when I was in the 

15  auditorium and this playing and just talking with some of the 

16  children, wasn't in an interview, wasn't anything more than 

17  talking about fishing and, you know, driving tractors on the -- 

18  on the ranch.  Mothers came over and would whisper to the 

19  children.  And then they would just sort of move a way and not 

20  interact with me. 

21                So there was a sense that there was a -- the 

22  children were being monitored about the way they interacted 

23  with strangers. 

24      Q.   All right.  If the children are allowed to stay with 

25  their mothers or fathers, is there a possibility that they will
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1  continue to be monitored, which will impede the investigations, 

2  either directly or indirectly? 

3      A.   I think it's possible, yes. 

4      Q.   Considering the wide disparity in the number of girls 
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5  to boys, with there being many more girls at the ranch, do you 

6  believe more investigation should be done to determine why this 

7  is; where the boys are; and what exactly dynamic is causing 

8  this? 

9      A.   Yes, I do. 

10      Q.   Okay.  And would that also be to determine how it's 

11  affecting the children, especially the boys? 

12      A.   Yes. 

13      Q.   What -- what potential affect might it have if the 

14  boys and their mothers are returned to the ranch? 

15      A.   I'm sorry, what potential affect? 

16      Q.   Yeah, is -- is that loc- -- real question, is that 

17  location going to be meaningful to these children as opposed to 

18  going to a -- somewhere else with their mother or father? 

19      A.   Again, I may be -- be -- from what I can tell, I do 

20  believe that they feel that that is a special place.  It's an 

21  important place for them, it has meaning.  And so I think 

22  it's -- I think it would be very different for them in going to 

23  a different setting. 

24      Q.   Could that potentially be harmful to the children in 

25  the sense that they're going back to where they were or --
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1      A.   I think that when they return, if -- you know, or if 

2  they return, sorry, probably presumptuous, to their families 

3  and if they go to that -- that environment, it re-enforces 

4  their belief that they hold about the community and God and so 

5  forth.  And so I think that the more -- the more their life 

6  before this happened is replicated, the more they'll believe 

7  like they did before this experience. 
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8                MS. TEMPLETON:  All right.  Thank you. 

9                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am?  Ms. Dusek, there seems 

10  to be another ad litem rising. 

11                MS. EDMONDS:  Yes, Your Honor.  May it please the 

12  Court.  Your Honor, my name is Bobbie Edmonds.  I represent a 

13  child, Walt Roy Barlow, date of birth 2/20/02.  He's six years 

14  old, cause number 2902.  Your Honor, I have one for the 

15  doctor. 

16                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

17  BY MS. EDMONDS: 

18      Q.   Doctor, which children are least at risk for the 

19  return to their mothers only, based upon your testimony that 

20  there were good qualities, i.e., principles of obedience, 

21  respect for elders, respect for authority and -- what age 

22  group? 

23      A.   Well, you know, in terms of proximal risks versus 

24  long-term health and wellness of the child, I think the 

25  youngest children are.  Babies are least influenced by any
 

132 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  beliefs that may be unhealthy.  And I -- from what I could see, 

2  the young mothers were very loving to their babies and were 

3  very good nurturers.  So I think that's probably the one group 

4  that's at the least risk. 

5                MS. EDMONDS:  Thank you. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you very much.  Do we have 

7  anything one, Sheri, over at the auditorium? 

8                MS. ROACH:  Yes, Your Honor, my name is Laura 

9  Roach.  And I represent a precious child by the name of William 

10  Jessop, date of birth March 27th, 2003.  And our group has come 
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11  up with a couple of questions for Dr. Perry. 

12                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

13  BY MS. ROACH: 

14      Q.   The first question is:  Explain to this Court why 

15  there's immediate danger for the young boys today if they go 

16  back to the ranch. 

17      A.   Well, I guess -- what do you mean by "immediate 

18  danger," exactly?  I'm sure that that's a legal phrase that 

19  I -- I don't know the whole meaning of that. 

20      Q.   Well, what I'm getting at is, what kind of harm- and 

21  realize that we represent children, my group, and this question 

22  is coming from a group that represents children age five to 

23  eleven boys- what immediate harm do you see happening to them 

24  if they're returned by this Court at -- at the conclusion of 

25  this hearing?
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1      A.   I believe that they would continue to be exposed to 

2  beliefs that it include underage marriage and essentially 

3  sexual abuse of girls. 

4      Q.   But you don't believe they're in any physical harm, 

5  just psychological harm? 

6      A.   Emotional.  Yeah, emotional, psychological harm, sure. 

7      Q.   And our other question, it's -- it's more of a 

8  comparative harm analysis.  From your psychological background 

9  and your expertise, do you think that the boys age five to 

10  eleven would be more harmed by, one, returning to the ranch 

11  with or without their mothers or, two, sending the kids to 

12  separate foster living conditions away from their families or, 

13  three, remaining in the coliseum as they're living right now? 
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14      A.   None of the above.  And, respectfully, I think that -- 

15      Q.   Can you explain? 

16      A.   I think that -- and I -- it's my -- in my 

17  conversations with the Department, I think that they're willing 

18  to do these kinds of things, but I think that if these children 

19  are -- are kept in the custody of the State, that there have to 

20  be sort of exceptional and innovative problematic elements that 

21  have to be put in place for these children and their families. 

22  It's a very unique situation.  And I think the traditional 

23  foster care system would be destructive for these kids, I 

24  think.  So I think there has to be tremendous -- 

25                (Clapping.)
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1                THE COURT:  Ladies and gentlemen, really, let's 

2  not delay this with applause on things. 

3                THE WITNESS:  I think that -- that all of the 

4  three solutions that you talked about would not reflect the 

5  kind of innovation that I think would be necessary to really 

6  help these kids. 

7      Q.   (MS. ROACH) Can you enlighten us on what you think 

8  could work?  Do you have any ideas? 

9      A.   Yeah.  But I -- 

10      Q.   Can you share them? 

11      A.   I think that -- 

12                THE COURT:  Answer the question, Doctor. 

13                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Yes.  I think that -- that 

14  these children and families have to get to be known on an 

15  individual basis, their strengths, their vulnerabilities, their 

16  beliefs.  I think that based upon what is -- is learned about 
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17  these individuals and these families and their beliefs, that 

18  there should be a specific individualized plan put together 

19  that creates an environment that's respectful and nurturing and 

20  loving, but also is open and allows for people to grow up with 

21  -- with the capacity to make true, free decisions about things 

22  they do as they mature. 

23                And I think that, you know, there's a lot of 

24  different potential solutions to that.  But, again, I would -- 

25  I would say I don't think that you can give a one-size-fits-all
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1  program for these individual children and families, all of 

2  which who are in some ways quite unique, but in some ways quite 

3  similar because of their beliefs. 

4                MS. ROACH:  Thank you.  That's all I have, Your 

5  Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

7                MS. DUSEK:  Girls age five to eleven, Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

9                MS. O'TOOLE:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  I'm 

10  Polly O'Toole and I represent girls -- purple group, girls ages 

11  five to eleven. 

12                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

13  BY MS. O'TOOLE: 

14      Q.   One of the questions I had has already been asked and 

15  answered, so I'm not going to go there again.  But I want to 

16  refer your attention to the statute, to the standard that the 

17  Court has to pay attention to today. 

18                The Court has to find sufficient evidence to 

19  satisfy a person of ordinary prudence and caution that there is 

Page 122



4-18-08 
20  a continuing danger to the physical health or safety of 

21  children.  That's the purpose of a hearing today. 

22                You just testified, did you not, that there is no 

23  danger to the physical health or safety of the children that 

24  you're aware of? 

25      A.   No, I didn't.
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1      Q.   Okay.  You said the harm was psychological? 

2      A.   Well, the brain is a physical organ.  The brain is a 

3  biological organ.  It's -- it's just as biological as bone.  So 

4  if you -- if you have a child rearing practice that alters the 

5  brain in unhealthy ways, it's the same as breaking a bone. 

6      Q.   So -- 

7      A.   Probably worse, actually. 

8      Q.   Okay.  So the reason that the Court ought to keep the 

9  children separated from their parents is because their brain 

10  organ could be damaged while they're separated -- if they're 

11  not separated from their parents.  It's their brain that you're 

12  worried about? 

13      A.   Yeah, I'm worried about their emotional, their 

14  cognitive, their social health. 

15      Q.   Okay. 

16      A.   Which is mediated by their brain. 

17      Q.   In the terms of balancing what the Court is being 

18  asked to decide, whether to return them to their home or to 

19  keep them separated from their families, have you made a 

20  determination that the harm that will be done to them by being 

21  separated from their families is greater than the harm that 

22  would be -- be done to them if they were allowed to return 
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23  while CPS develops this plan that everybody seems to allude to, 

24  that they need time to develop a plan to help these families? 

25                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Object.  Asked and
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1  answered. 

2                THE COURT:  Overruled.  Thanks, guys.  I really 

3  can rule on these without a voice vote by all of y'all. 

4                THE WITNESS:  And I apologize.  The question was 

5  so long, I don't remember it. 

6      Q.   (MS. O'TOOLE) I'm sorry.  Let me see if I can make it 

7  clear.  Representing girls ages five to eleven, the people that 

8  I've been asked to represent, we want our children returned to 

9  their parents while CPS develops the plan for helping them. 

10                The attorney ad litems in our group don't 

11  necessary disagree with the concerns that you outlined earlier 

12  in your testimony.  We'd like to see CPS help them.  But in 

13  this intervening time, everybody keeps saying they need more 

14  time.  They need more time.  In the meantime, our clients, our 

15  little girls, they're suffering -- 

16                THE COURT:  Wait a minute. 

17                MS. RICHARDS:  I'm going to object, Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  Okay.  While you're objecting, hold 

19  that thought.  They've advised me that they need to change out 

20  a microphone. 

21                SOUND TECHNICIAN:  Yes, ma'am. 

22                THE COURT:  So y'all keep working things out. 

23  I'll step off the bench.  He's going to change out a 

24  microphone.  I'll be back when he says it's ready. 

25                (Recess.)
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1                (Court proceeded without the presence of the 

2                 court reporter.) 

3                THE COURT:  I am so sorry.  In sixteen years, 

4  that's the first time it's ever happened. 

5                Are you ready? 

6                THE REPORTER:  Yes, ma'am. 

7                THE COURT:  For the fourth time. 

8                MS. O'TOOLE:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

9                    CROSS EXAMINATION (CONT'D) 

10      Q.   (MS. O'TOOLE) With respect to girls ages five to 

11  eleven, have you attempted to balance the physical and 

12  psychological damage that's being done to the girls by virtue 

13  of this separation from their home and their families, versus 

14  any damage to the children that might be done in the short term 

15  by allowing reunification now, today, letting a plan be devised 

16  by CPS while the children are with their families?  What is the 

17  danger to this five to eleven group by letting them be with 

18  their families while the plan is developed? 

19                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I'm going to object. 

20                THE COURT:  All right. 

21                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I think this question 

22  was actually asked and answered when parents were -- were 

23  questioning. 

24                THE COURT:  Okay.  Since I don't remember, if you 

25  can, can you answer the question?
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1                THE WITNESS:  I'll give it a shot. 

2                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

3                THE WITNESS:  First of all, I haven't -- you 

4  know, I'm not the one who's having to do all the balancing 

5  here, so I haven't really thought about this specific group in 

6  this specific context. 

7                But I do think that of the children, that the 

8  young pre-adolescent girls are amongst the most vulnerable to 

9  be exposed to this continuing way of life, because it's a time 

10  in life when you're looking to your older children of the same 

11  sex and seeing what -- the way they live, and how -- how things 

12  go in my community.  And I think that they would be, of any of 

13  the girls, among any of the children, among the most vulnerable 

14  to being impacted by a belief system that institutionalizes 

15  sexual abuse. 

16      Q.   (MS. O'TOOLE) But, sir, aren't they being exposed to 

17  that at the coliseum and at the pavilion?  Nothing is going to 

18  change in the next sixty days about that exposure. 

19                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I'm going to object. 

20  There's no question there, just argument. 

21                MS. O'TOOLE:  Okay. 

22      Q.   (MS. O'TOOLE) What -- what difference is it whether 

23  they're at the coliseum, the pavilion or in their homes over 

24  the next sixty days?  Isn't it true that their belief system 

25  isn't going to change over that time?  You've already
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1  testified, there's nothing we can do in the short-term to 

2  change them or help them.  Why not let them be together? 

3      A.   I don't believe I testified there's nothing in the 
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4  short-term that we can do to help them. 

5      Q.   Okay.  Their belief system -- would you agree with me, 

6  their belief system is not going to be changed within the next 

7  sixty days? 

8                THE COURT:  Just a second.  Are you making an 

9  argument for longer care? 

10                MS. O'TOOLE:  No, sir -- no, ma'am, I'm not. 

11                THE COURT:  Happens a lot.  Don't worry about it. 

12                MS. O'TOOLE:  It's a 14-day hearing and the 

13  standard is:  Is there a continuing danger to the physical 

14  health and safety of the child? 

15      Q.   (MS. O'TOOLE) I'm trying to get to the point that 

16  there's really no difference whether they're housed in the 

17  coliseum or the pavilion or whether they're allowed to go home, 

18  the beliefs that you're concerned about, isn't it true, are 

19  going to be the same?  They're together there.  They still have 

20  those beliefs.  They'll be together at the ranch or in some 

21  apartment together with the same beliefs. 

22                What difference does it make if they're allowed 

23  to be together? 

24      A.   The difference is that the major source of authority 

25  in that community are the men, the father of the household and
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1  the elder of the community.  And when they are not around those 

2  individuals, then the formal presentation of those elements of 

3  the belief system are not as powerfully reinforced. 

4      Q.   Is -- there is no concern if it's just the women and 

5  the children together, or there's less concern -- significantly 

6  concern if the men are separated? 
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7                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I'm going to object. 

8  That has been asked and answered. 

9                THE COURT:  Asked and answered. 

10                MS. O'TOOLE:  Nothing further.  Thank you, Judge. 

11                THE COURT:  Thank you, ma'am. 

12                Anyone representing the seven to eleven girls? 

13                Emmit? 

14                MS. DUSEK:  Five to eleven. 

15                MR. FLEMING:  Your Honor, can I please apologize? 

16  Emmit Fleming.  I have a girl that probably is special needs. 

17  I haven't seen her.  She's six-years-old in the 2902.  I have a 

18  very brief question, if I might be permitted to ask, please. 

19                THE COURT:  We're taking folks that have been 

20  designated as representatives.  Are you in that category? 

21                MR. FLEMING:  Ma'am, I did not attend the purple 

22  group meeting.  I think my concerns are somewhat different. 

23  But I'll be happy to take a seat.  I just would like to have an 

24  opportunity, at some point. 

25                THE COURT:  Go ahead, Emmit.  You're there.
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1                MR. FLEMING:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

2                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

3  BY MR. FLEMING: 

4      Q.   Doctor, can you state that it is ever beneficial for a 

5  child to be living in a circumstance where we've heard 

6  testimony that there is a young mother and child who have 

7  disappeared, that there were name changes, age changes and 

8  parental changes in the move from first information at the 

9  community, second, at the civic center in Eldorado, third, at 
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10  Fort Concho and, fourth, now at the coliseum we're getting 

11  different ages? 

12                We're getting different information regarding 

13  parents.  We have had testimony regarding what some people use 

14  a different four-letter word for, but underage sex.  Can you 

15  testify that that would be beneficial for one day for my child 

16  to be living in that kind of circumstance? 

17      A.   No. 

18                MR. FLEMING:  Thank you. 

19                MS. DABEAU:  Your Honor, my name is Jocelyn 

20  Dabeau.  And I'm representing one child in a group of ad litems 

21  that are representing girls ages five to eleven in the purple 

22  group. 

23                THE COURT:  All right. 

24 

25
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MS. DABEAU: 

3      Q.   Doctor, you said earlier that you felt that foster 

4  care would be destructive -- traditional foster care would be 

5  destructive for these five- to eleven-year-old girls.  Could 

6  you please expand on what you meant by that? 

7      A.   What I mean is that if you take one of these 

8  individual children and put them in a typical foster placement 

9  that we use, may be a wonderful foster home, they will be with 

10  foster children who are very different from them.  They will -- 

11  if they are put in public schools, they'll be exposed to a 

12  variety of, I would say, initially overwhelming experiences. 
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13                And I think that it's -- that would not be the 

14  ideal environment for children who have been raised in this 

15  kind of a setting.  I think, you know, maybe at some point one 

16  or more of these individual children would get to the point 

17  where a specialized foster placement would be reasonable.  But 

18  I think that wherever these kids go, they can't be traditional 

19  foster care.  It needs to be foster -- if it is a foster 

20  setting, it needs to have incredible training about the FLDS 

21  community, about issues of trauma maltreatment, about creating 

22  opportunities for these children to be exposed to similar, but 

23  not destructive belief systems so that they can begin to have 

24  an opportunity to create free choice about a variety of things. 

25  And that just does not exist, the foster -- foster care system
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1  that I'm aware of. 

2      Q.   Thank you, Doctor.  And on the free choice issue and 

3  the issue of if they weren't returned to their families, if 

4  another caretaker, and they are not with their parents, these 

5  five to eleven year old girls, do you have any fears that, 

6  whoever gets assigned, that these children are going to be more 

7  susceptible to, perhaps, abuse from the outsiders for physical, 

8  mental, emotional abuse from people who are not their 

9  caretakers, since you testify you feel they might be 

10  developmentally impaired in their ability to kind of sort out 

11  what's right and what's wrong? 

12      A.   Well, I didn't testify to exactly what -- them not 

13  being able to decide what's right and wrong. 

14      Q.   You're right.  I -- I misstated. 

15      A.   But shall I go ahead and answer 
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16                THE COURT:  If you can, without agreeing that you 

17  said that she said that you said. 

18                MS. DABEAU:  Would you like me to rephrase it? 

19                THE COURT:  No, let me just go on this one. 

20                MS. DABEAU:  I believe what you said -- okay. 

21  Thank you, Your Honor. 

22                THE WITNESS:  What are we talking about again? 

23  No, I'm sorry, what -- what did you ask? 

24      Q.   (MS. DABEAU) Since they -- if these children lack the 

25  capacity to make decisions as to whether or not, perhaps, to
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1  permit themselves to be abused, are -- are you worried if those 

2  caretakers that are not their parents, that they are being more 

3  susceptible, outside of the presence of their parents, to such 

4  pressures? 

5      A.   Well, I do believe that individuals who come from 

6  settings like this are more vulnerable to adults and/or older 

7  kids who are coercive, who are destructive, who are unhealthy. 

8  And I think that -- that to some degree there's this -- a 

9  child-like quality in the way they seek others to help them 

10  make decisions about important things.  And then it does make 

11  them more vulnerable. 

12                However, I would not like my comments to be any 

13  assumption that the caretakers that they would be put in care 

14  of would be wanting to exploit or abuse these kids. 

15      Q.   Certainly not.  Thank you, Doctor.  I have one final 

16  question.  You stated before that you believe it might impede 

17  the investigation if the kids were returned to their parents at 

18  this time. 
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19                Do you think the investigation would be similarly 

20  impeded if they were able to have regular contact with their 

21  fathers and mothers during the investigation? 

22      A.   I think the investigation is going to be incredibly 

23  difficult almost under any circumstances.  And every 

24  opportunity there is to have the belief that they -- if this is 

25  their belief, the belief that they should not be fully
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1  disclosing to outsiders, that they should not talk about 

2  certain parts of our practice that may be illegal, that they 

3  should be cooperative to a degree, but essentially be 

4  passive-aggressive in their other behaviors.  If that's 

5  re-enforced, I think it would clearly interfere with the 

6  investigation. 

7      Q.   Okay.  You can continue.  I didn't mean to cut you 

8  off. 

9      A.   That's enough. 

10      Q.   Okay. 

11      A.   Did that answer your question? 

12      Q.   Thank you. 

13      A.   Sorry. 

14                MS. DABEAU:  Yes, thank you. 

15                THE COURT:  All right.  Carmen? 

16                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, our last two groups will 

17  be boys age birth through four, and group girls age birth 

18  through four. 

19                THE COURT:  All right.  Yes? 

20                MR. SHELTON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  My name is 

21  Scott Shelton, representing the boy -- or on behalf of the blue 
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22  group, the boys birth through four years old. 

23                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

24  BY MR. SHELTON: 

25      Q.   Doctor, what I'm going to ask you about is in regard
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1  to that group.  And what I'm searching for is whether or not 

2  there are particular, I'll call them primary concerns, that you 

3  would express to the Court as to whether or not these issues 

4  should be very -- considered very important in the Court's 

5  decision as to whether or not to return the children or keep 

6  them in their current circumstance for right now. 

7                First, I ask, do you think there's any particular 

8  dangers that's brought about by the removal because of the 

9  things, like lack of immunization, and those kind of things 

10  that would be more medical type things or used to a lot of 

11  outdoor recreation or activity that they may not have now?  Are 

12  there particular things that arise from that that you think the 

13  Court needs to be aware of? 

14      A.   Well, from -- from what I could see and from what I 

15  was told by others, these kids are pretty healthy.  I do think 

16  it's probably a good idea.  You know, it may not be within 

17  their belief system to do immunizations, but I think that the 

18  medical area's an area that needs to be investigated.  And each 

19  of these children's medical issues needs to be made known to 

20  the people who are providing for them and taking care of them. 

21  So I do think it's an important area. 

22      Q.   So health exams, for example, medical exams, you would 

23  consider to be a very important part of this -- what needs to 

24  be done? 
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25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   Are you familiar where there's a group, I believe, 

2  called Child Find that provides psychological services and all, 

3  as I understand, works with CPS on a fairly regular bases?  Are 

4  you aware of them at all? 

5      A.   You know, the name sounds familiar, but I don't know 

6  anything specific about them. 

7      Q.   Thank you.  Do you think it's very important to keep 

8  siblings, I'm saying brothers and sisters, together, assuming 

9  they've been identified as such, in whatever environment 

10  they're in? 

11      A.   I think it can be a tremendous asset, yes.  I think it 

12  can be real positive. 

13      Q.   I'll ask you what I guess I'm referring to as kind of 

14  the family trunk, which would be a father, a mother, and child 

15  as opposed to a family tree.  Do you feel like identifying 

16  actual biological parents for these children is a very 

17  important issue? 

18      A.   Yes, I do. 

19      Q.   Of the things that I've talked about, do you have an 

20  opinion as to whether or not they're more likely to occur 

21  quickly and efficiency if the children are not returned to the 

22  ranch? 

23      A.   I think that if they were returned, it would make all 

24  of those things much more difficult. 

25                MR. SHELTON:  Thank you, Your Honor.
 

149 

Page 134



4-18-08 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1                MR. FOSTER:  Your Honor, my name is Steven 

2  Foster.  And I'm a representative of the under five male group. 

3  May I continue? 

4                THE COURT:  Sure. 

5                     FURTHER CROSS EXAMINATION 

6  BY MR. FOSTER: 

7      Q.   Your Honor -- Doctor, I would pose to you some areas 

8  you kind of go over, but I -- my group would like to focus you 

9  on just under five.  One of the harms you had mentioned is when 

10  you are taken away from either a family situation or a 

11  situation that you're used to, the lack of bonding would 

12  sometimes be traumatic and detrimental, would you agree? 

13      A.   Can you actually -- I don't know what you're -- I'm 

14  not sure I understand the question. 

15      Q.   Well, you stated before that, you know, the traumatic 

16  removal of an individual of whatever age from a situation 

17  they're used to can sometimes be traumatic and detrimental. 

18  Would you agree?  I believe you testified to something similar 

19  to that before. 

20      A.   Yes, that can be detrimental sometimes, yes. 

21      Q.   And would you agree that in the formative years, say 

22  zero up to five, and if there's different answers for say a 

23  one-year-old, and a four-year-old, please tell us that.  But 

24  would you agree that that area, the removal from a situation 

25  you're comfortable with, could be very traumatic?
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1      A.   The younger you are, the more vulnerable you are to 
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2  changes in -- in care giving and household and so forth, yes. 

3      Q.   And another harm, I guess, sort of a competing 

4  interest you discussed was the harm that could be done to all 

5  boys, of whatever age, and that, you know, they're picking up 

6  bad traits in the authoritarian environment, they're more 

7  likely to become sexual preditors themselves, correct? 

8      A.   Well, I guess.  I -- 

9      Q.   Well -- 

10      A.   If you mean -- if you mean that children growing up in 

11  an environment where they're exposed to these beliefs and 

12  practices have a higher probability of developing those traits, 

13  I mean, yes. 

14      Q.   Okay.  And would you agree that that's sort of more a 

15  long-term product, less acute problem, than a traumatic bond 

16  being broken?  Would you agree with that? 

17      A.   What do you mean by a "traumatic bond" being broken? 

18      Q.   Well, I mean, just any kind of change to one's normal 

19  routine.  Would you agree that a twelve-year-old being put in a 

20  situation they're not used to, they could probably deal with it 

21  a little bit better than, say, for example, a three-year-old? 

22      A.   I think that's accurate, yes. 

23      Q.   Okay.  And, conversely, you know, the sort of the 

24  long-term psychological damage that could happen to these boys, 

25  would you agree that that's less acute and more of a long-term
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1  problem than a short-term problem? 

2      A.   If you mean -- I would say that being raised in an 

3  environment with these beliefs is not a traumatic event.  It's 

4  a socialization. 
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5      Q.   Well, I guess what I'm asking you is, being removed 

6  from that -- even if you're being remove from a bad 

7  environment, that process in itself can be traumatic, correct? 

8      A.   It could be.  And I think in this case it has been 

9  handled with, I think, remarkable flexibility in allowing, 

10  initially, the parents -- the mothers to come, I think, 

11  buffered some of that potentially traumatic impact. 

12      Q.   And would you agree that those sort of long-term 

13  psychological harms might not be as urgently needed to be dealt 

14  with than, say, the immediate harm of a fourteen-year-old girl 

15  potentially being sexually assaulted tomorrow? 

16      A.   I guess I don't -- if I know a fourteen-year-old 

17  girl's going to be sexually assaulted tomorrow, I would act 

18  more urgently and immediately, yes, than if I knew a child was 

19  growing up in an environment with unhealthy practices. 

20      Q.   Let me ask you, just focusing on the short-term, 

21  that's all this hearing is about is what the Judge is going to 

22  do in the short-term.  Would you agree, if there were going to 

23  be any children returned to their family, that probably the 

24  first place to start looking would be in the younger group 

25  where the acute problems of being in a strange environment
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1  might outweigh the more long-term problems that we have more 

2  time to deal with? 

3      A.   Well, it's -- it's my understanding that the vast 

4  majority of the kids under five are still with a parent.  So -- 

5  but I guess, you know, if you're making a hypothetical, it's 

6  the younger you are the more disruptive it is to be removed 

7  from your home environment. 
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8      Q.   So you'd agree that if any of these group, and I'm not 

9  trying to put you in a position saying that any should, but if 

10  any of this group of four hundred some children were to be 

11  returned today, the ones most likely to be in that group, the 

12  least likely to be immediately harmed, would be the very young 

13  children, whether boys or girls? 

14      A.   I believe I stated that the babies would be the group 

15  that would be the least impacted by that environment. 

16      Q.   Okay.  And by "babies," I guess -- 

17      A.   And young kids. 

18      Q.   What -- would you agree after babies it would be, say, 

19  young adult -- young children, say, between baby age and five 

20  years? 

21      A.   So your group? 

22      Q.   Yes. 

23      A.   Yeah, I think that's accurate. 

24                MR. FOSTER:  Okay.  Thank you.  No -- no more 

25  questions, Your Honor.
 

153 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1                MR. PICKERING:  David Pickering, Your Honor.  I 

2  represent Sondra Jeffs.  She's a four-year-old girl.  And it's 

3  in case number 2902. 

4                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

5  BY MR. PICKERING: 

6      Q.   Following up on Mr. Foster's questions, Doctor, it's 

7  my understanding that the most least -- least likely child to 

8  be affected or children to be affected by returning to the 

9  ranch would be these zero to four to five-year-olds; is that 

10  correct? 
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11      A.   I would agree, yes. 

12      Q.   Would you then have an opinion as to whether or not 

13  your prior testimony about traumatic trauma from separation 

14  from the primary caretaker or parent would override that 

15  return? 

16      A.   I guess I'm not -- I don't recall testifying -- my 

17  understanding is these kids are still with their parent, their 

18  biolog- -- their mothers. 

19      Q.   Let me -- let me kind of clarify my question then. 

20  It's my understanding of your prior testimony that when you 

21  take the young child away from the primary caretaker or parent, 

22  there's going to be a separation anxiety or traumatic result as 

23  a result of that; is that correct? 

24      A.   Yes, it can be very traumatic for a young child. 

25      Q.   Okay.  My question is, balancing that for Judge
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1  Walther trying to say or determine:  Do I take these children 

2  that are four or I do leave them there?  Do you have an opinion 

3  as to which would be the worst or more evil in a situation so 

4  to speak with regard to the children?  Should they -- would it 

5  be worse to -- to separate them from the parent or would it be 

6  worse to send them back to the ranch? 

7      A.   I'm not sure that that's a decision that has to be 

8  made.  I mean, they're -- they're with their parent.  I mean, 

9  what we're talking about is the opportunity to create an 

10  environment where there's the opportunity to still be with your 

11  primary caregiver and also be out of the destructive 

12  environment. 

13      Q.   Okay.  But just for a moment, assuming that when 
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14  they -- CPS takes the children, that they would remove them 

15  from their parent, even the zero to five-year-olds, would you 

16  have an opinion as to which would be worse, return to the ranch 

17  with a parent or the removal? 

18      A.   That -- I just don't know that I could give -- say one 

19  way or the other.  I think both -- like I said before, it's a 

20  lose-lose.  They're both not great for the child. 

21      Q.   So you don't have an opinion which would be worse, 

22  generally speaking? 

23                THE COURT:  He's asked and answered that one. 

24  You have, too.  Move on. 

25                MR. PICKERING:  Thank you, Your Honor.  That's
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1  all I have. 

2                THE COURT:  You already talked about special 

3  needs.  And you said you didn't have any questions, Mr. 

4  Caldwell. 

5                MR. CALDWELL:  Under the lines of answers that 

6  this doctor, an expert witness, has given, Your Honor, I feel I 

7  need to ask a few questions. 

8                THE COURT:  Have a seat Mr. Caldwell.  We'll 

9  get -- 

10                MR. CALDWELL:  Huh? 

11                THE COURT:  Have a seat, please. 

12                In our order of things, do we have anybody else 

13  that you want to ask questions?  I know you're at the coliseum, 

14  hang on. 

15                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, we have an attorney ad 

16  litem who would like to, when the Court provides her an 

Page 140



4-18-08 
17  opportunity, if the Court will do so, ask a medical question 

18  which I believe under the Family Code is allowed to be 

19  addressed, even though it may not necessarily fall under the 

20  Court's decision at the 14-day hearing today, but a medical 

21  issue pertaining to all of the children, which is something 

22  that I believe the Legislature prescribed under the Family Code 

23  to be addressed at any CPS hearing. 

24                THE COURT:  Okay.  Keep that thought.  Write the 

25  question down.  I see somebody at the city auditorium.  What do
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1  you have? 

2                MS. ALLEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Jackie Allen, 

3  and I represent the pink group. 

4                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

5  BY MS. ALLEN: 

6      Q.   Dr. Perry, of girls under five, my child, in 

7  particularly, Vilate Marion Barlow, is four-and-a-half months 

8  old and she's nursing, so I think I have one of the youngest 

9  ones. 

10                The pink group has asked me to ask you this 

11  question that should apply specifically to our group because 

12  they are girls.  Which one of the following is presently the 

13  greater danger to the welfare of girls under five:  lifestyle 

14  of the FLDS community or separation from their mothers? 

15                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I'd object.  I believe 

16  that question's been asked and answered. 

17                THE COURT:  Have a seat.  Thank you.  Overruled. 

18  Can you answer the question? 

19                THE WITNESS:  I think fundamentally it's probably 
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20  more unhealthy for the child to be removed from a parent. 

21                MS. ALLEN:  Thank you. 

22                THE COURT:  All right.  I believe with that -- 

23  yes? 

24                One more at the city auditorium. 

25                MR. JOYNTON:  Your Honor, my -- yes, I'm also
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1  with the pink group.  My name is Stan Joynton.  I represent two 

2  children.  Actually one is in the pink group, Sweet Rachel 

3  Jeffs, an infant girl.  And one is in the blue group, Lyle 

4  Warren Jeffs, who's a four-year-old boy.  And those are all in 

5  2902. 

6                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

7  BY MR. JOYNTON: 

8      Q.   Doctor, just one follow-up question, please.  A few 

9  minutes ago the response to a question from Scott Shelton you 

10  testified that identifying the biological parents is very 

11  important in this situation. 

12                Now, as I understand it, in -- in the large group 

13  homes that the kids live in, oftentimes they are cared for by 

14  people other than their parents.  And I would imagine that in 

15  some situations they may not even have much contact with their 

16  biological parents.  Could you please explain what you meant by 

17  your answer there? 

18      A.   My answer was in an affirmative answer to whether or 

19  not it would be important to identify the biological parents. 

20  And that was my answer.  I thought it would be -- think that's 

21  helpful to try and figure out families so that the State can 

22  figure out how to put together programs to help these children 
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23  and their families. 

24      Q.   Okay.  But if they have no -- no real connection with 

25  biological parents, would your answer be the same?
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1      A.   Yes.  Even if the children have no connection, and 

2  even if the other people are -- are care giving and playing a 

3  parenting role with the children, I think it would still be 

4  important to know who the biological parents are. 

5                MR. JOYNTON:  Okay.  Thank you. 

6                THE COURT:  All right.  We're over here.  We've 

7  got a lawyer here.  Ms. Ellis, are you part of the group 

8  spokesmen? 

9                MS. ELLIS:  Your Honor, I am not a spokesman. 

10                THE COURT:  We're still doing spokes people. 

11                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, we have -- we have gone 

12  through our groupings.  A couple of people have passed me 

13  questions that they would like to see if the Court would 

14  recognize them to ask single questions in the Court's 

15  discretion, Your Honor. 

16                THE COURT:  All right.  First I will take the 

17  first one that you wanted to ask questions.  And I've forgotten 

18  your name right now.  Come on, please. 

19                Mr. Caldwell, you will be in this line. 

20                MS. DIAZ:  Your Honor, I'm Dorothy Diaz and I'm 

21  with the blue group.  I have a question. 

22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MS. DIAZ: 

24      Q.   The -- is it possible that some of the disabilities of 

25  the children have not been properly diagnosed with a genetic
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1  disorder because they have not been provided the required 

2  genetic testing at birth? 

3      A.   I suppose it's possible.  I'm not aware of the 

4  disabilities that the children have. 

5      Q.   Were -- are you concerned that genetic -- the birth 

6  testing has not been done in many of these children? 

7      A.   Quite honestly, I mean, on the scale of things that I 

8  would be concerned about, that's not that high.  But, I think, 

9  certainly if a child has either physical or emotional symptoms 

10  that suggest that there may be a genetic problem, I think it 

11  would be very important to get appropriate testing. 

12      Q.   Then, I guess, I'm -- it is my understanding that 

13  Texas has now legislated for testing of nineteen disorders that 

14  may pre- -- there -- early identification prevents long-term 

15  problems, like metabolic disorders and mental retardation, that 

16  may be resolved by early identification and in having proper 

17  diet, for example, PKU. 

18      A.   Correct. 

19      Q.   Do you believe that's an important thing to be done in 

20  these children? 

21      A.   I -- I think, you know -- and again, I'm sure the 

22  State is very wise in its decision to legislate the screening 

23  for this.  I think it's very important, if the child has those 

24  things, that early intervention can be important. 

25                Again, I think that, you know, that would be
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1  great if that was done with these kids.  But on the scale of 

2  things that concern me about their problems, I don't think it's 

3  that high. 

4                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am?  Yes, please. 

5                MS. MORRISON:  I'm Carla Morrison. 

6                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

7  BY MS. MORRISON: 

8      Q.   I don't know if you were here last night.  We were on 

9  the record and there are several of us that have children 

10  between the ages of zero and four and five that, through bad 

11  luck, the moms were not on the campus when the raid happened 

12  and so they have been separated from their little children. 

13                My client is three years old and hasn't seen her 

14  mom since they were removed.  Where -- we've been in a 

15  situation where Child Protective Services has not been willing 

16  to allow these moms to rejoin their children. 

17                And my question is, would it be your 

18  recommendation if -- if the Judge decides to remove, to ask 

19  that the moms that were not with their children at that point 

20  be allowed immediate access and be able to stay with their 

21  children, as the other ones have done that happened to be there 

22  when the raid happened? 

23      A.   Well, I mean, I -- I would like to see the State to be 

24  as flexible -- I mean, see them to be as flexible as possible 

25  around those issues.  I think the challenge they have is
 

161 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  they're not always aware of who's connected to who. 

2                You know, if that can be adequately demonstrated 

3  that these two -- this is the biological mother, this is the 
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4  biological child, I personally would say, you know, if you're 

5  letting these other mothers do it, just let them in, let them 

6  be with their child. 

7      Q.   One step further, if we don't finish today, would it 

8  be your recommendation that we try to finish something like 

9  that today, if this hearing continues on for more days?  I 

10  mean, should we -- should we try to get these -- this process 

11  started? 

12      A.   I'm -- you know, I think if -- good things that happen 

13  earlier are better than good things that happen later. 

14                MS. MORRISON:  Thank you. 

15                THE COURT:  Ms. Ellis. 

16                MS. ELLIS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  My name is 

17  Kelly Ellis.  I represent two girls in suits 2168 and 2902. 

18                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

19  BY MS. ELLIS: 

20      Q.   Doctor, I have just one question for you, and it's 

21  based not only on your knowledge concerning this group and 

22  their belief structure or belief system, but also any other 

23  experience -- experiences you've had with similar groups or 

24  similar belief structures. 

25                Do you believe that there's any cause for concern
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1  that if the children, any of them at any age, are returned to 

2  the parents or caretakers at the ranch that, due to the 

3  structure of their belief system, there's cause for concern 

4  that the children could either be hidden or removed from the 

5  jurisdiction of this Court? 

6      A.   I think that's possible, yes. 
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7      Q.   And that would be a concern that you would have? 

8      A.   Yes. 

9                MS. ELLIS:  Thank you.  No further questions, 

10  Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Mr. Caldwell. 

12                MR. CALDWELL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I'm John 

13  Caldwell and I represent three young boys.  But the one in 

14  particular I'll be asking a question about is Shawn Jeffs. 

15  He's in cause number 2902, date of birth June 19th, 2002. 

16                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

17  BY MR. CALDWELL: 

18      Q.   Doctor, I've been -- I have -- was designated as the 

19  person to ask questions about the special needs group.  And 

20  Shawn has been diagnosed, according to the initial medical 

21  determination, to have Downs Syndrome and mental retardation 

22  and he's five-and-a-half years of age.  Have you worked with 

23  children with Down Syndrome or developmental disabilities in 

24  your work with children? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   Okay.  And is it not true that such children with 

2  special needs, their maturity level is generally going to be 

3  less than children of their chronological -- their 

4  chronological peers? 

5      A.   Typically they have developmental delays, yes. 

6      Q.   And if that -- is it not also true that children or 

7  adults with developmental disabilities such as Down -- mental 

8  retardation, with Downs and others, have more difficulty 

9  dealing with changes in their routine and in their -- their 
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10  regular life surroundings? 

11      A.   Yes, that's true. 

12      Q.   So much of what you've testified to here previously 

13  about the traumatic affect of the change the children 

14  encountered when they're taken out of their normal 

15  circumstances, removed from their parents or the people acting 

16  as parents, and their routine is changed, would be magnified 

17  with children with developmental disabilities? 

18      A.   Yes, I -- 

19      Q.   Okay. 

20      A.   -- that's accurate. 

21      Q.   So you were testifying earlier about those age groups 

22  that the attorneys are representing children, their attorneys 

23  ad litem, but if Shawn is five-and-a-half, but has mental 

24  retardation and Down Syndrome, would your concerns be more 

25  similar to that age group of four and below than it would be
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1  for five and above? 

2      A.   Yes. 

3                MR. CALDWELL:  Okay.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

4  That's all the questions I have. 

5                THE COURT:  You're welcome.  All right.  I think 

6  I've heard all the evidence I need to hear from this witness. 

7  So with that, you may step down.  You're not excused, but just 

8  in case. 

9                Does the Department have any further witness? 

10                MS. RICHARDS:  Department rests, Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  Thank you.  With that, we're going to 

12  start with the parents.  We'll start with the attorneys -- 
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13  ma'am? 

14                MS. RICHARDS:  May Dr. Perry be excused? 

15                THE COURT:  Is there any reason that we're going 

16  to need to have him recalled?  You may be excused. 

17                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  I didn't see anybody over at the 

19  auditorium.  Okay.  Thank you, sir. 

20                THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

21                THE COURT:  We're going to start with the parents 

22  and we're going to start with the fathers.  Ms. Hennington. 

23                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor, we'd call Dr. 

24  John Walsh to the stand. 

25                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm sorry, Your Honor, we
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1  can't hear her. 

2                THE COURT:  I know.  She's going to have to come 

3  to the microphone.  They've called Dr. John Walsh? 

4                MS. HENNINGTON:  Walsh, yes, ma'am. 

5                THE BAILIFF:  Your Honor, there is not a doctor 

6  John Walsh in the hallway. 

7                MS. HENNINGTON:  He's out there.  I sent Nathan, 

8  Judge.  I sent one of my partners out there because he was in 

9  one of the rooms. 

10                THE COURT:  Okay. 

11                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

13                MS. HENNINGTON:  I've been informed they may have 

14  stepped out to my office for a minute so can we start with 

15  another witness? 
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16                THE COURT:  That would be a really good idea. 

17                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes, ma'am.  We'd call James 

18  Dockstader to the stand. 

19                THE COURT:  Is this a parent? 

20                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes. 

21                THE COURT:  Do we have the notice form that I had 

22  prepared?  Do you have it filled out?  I need it turned in to 

23  the Court. 

24                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I didn't have him 

25  sign one of those because, Your Honor, I thought that was only
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1  for unrepresented clients. 

2                THE COURT:  Okay.  What, in particular, I want, 

3  there is some warnings on there, and I need to have him sign 

4  those. 

5                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay. 

6                THE COURT:  Unless you're waiving those. 

7                MS. HENNINGTON:  Judge, I have other witnesses I 

8  can start with until one of my partners can come back and go 

9  through that with him. 

10                THE COURT:  I just need to make sure that we dot 

11  all the I's. 

12                Dr. Walsh is now here. 

13                MS. HENNINGTON:  Wonderful.  Sorry for the 

14  delay.  Thank you, Judge.  Thank you, Judge.  Can everybody in 

15  the back hear me? 

16                THE COURT:  Can anybody hear her? 

17                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No. 

18                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay.  Is this better?  Can you 
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19  hear me? 

20                THE COURT:  No, because they didn't respond. 

21                MS. HENNINGTON:  Can you hear me? 

22                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes. 

23                THE COURT:  Sort of. 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Barely. 

25                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes?
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1                THE COURT:  Try again. 

2                MS. HENNINGTON:  Can you -- 

3                THE COURT:  Never mind. 

4                (Microphone feedback.) 

5                MS. HENNINGTON:  Can you hear me now? 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes. 

7                MS. HENNINGTON:  Is that better? 

8                THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

9                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay. 

10                THE COURT:  Would you state your name for the 

11  record, please. 

12                THE WITNESS:  William John Walsh. 

13                THE COURT:  Have you been sworn by the Court, 

14  sir? 

15                THE WITNESS:  No, ma'am. 

16                THE COURT:  Would you raise your right hand. 

17                (Witness sworn.) 

18                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am. 

19                THE COURT:  Now you may begin. 

20                MS. HENNINGTON:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

21                        WILLIAM JOHN WALSH 

Page 151



4-18-08 

22  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

23                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

24  BY MS. HENNINGTON: 

25      Q.   Dr. Walsh, could you state your education for the
 

168 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  Court, please? 

2      A.   I have a PhD in religious studies from the University 

3  of Wales.  I did my dissertation on the ascension of theology 

4  of Joseph Smith.  I have a masters degree in Jewish studies.  I 

5  have done post-doctorate work in Roman Catholicism, University 

6  of St. Thomas in Houston.  I have completed sixty-one semester 

7  hours in Mormon religion from Brigham Young University and the 

8  ... (inaudible) Institute of Religions. 

9      Q.   Before I go further, could everyone hear him? 

10                THE COURT:  Sort of. 

11                DISTRICT CLERK:  Difficult over here, Judge.  He 

12  needs to lean a little bit towards you.  We could pick him up 

13  better. 

14                THE COURT:  Here's the microphone I need you 

15  to -- 

16                THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

17                THE COURT:  All right. 

18      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Okay.  Dr. Walsh, so you did a -- 

19  what was your dissertation in? 

20      A.   My dissertation was entitled the Ascension of Theology 

21  of Joseph Smith. 

22                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  We can't hear him. 

23                THE COURT:  I know.  Kind of point yourself in 

24  between the two of these.  It's -- you know. 
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25                THE WITNESS:  My dissertation was done on the
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1  Ascension of Theology of Joseph Smith, who was the founder of 

2  the Mormon religion. 

3      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Okay.  Now, do you go around the 

4  state or testifying on a regular basis? 

5      A.   No, this is my first time in a courtroom.  I'm a 

6  little bit nervous. 

7      Q.   Okay.  I don't think you're the only one in here today 

8  that's nervous about all this stuff, so...  Do you have any 

9  knowledge or any studying -- do you have any knowledge of the 

10  FDLS? (sic) 

11      A.   Yes, I do. 

12      Q.   Now are you a member of the FDLS? 

13      A.   No, I'm not. 

14      Q.   Are you working for the State of Texas at this time? 

15      A.   I am not. 

16      Q.   You have any family members who are FDLS members? 

17      A.   No, I don't. 

18      Q.   Do you feel that you have a -- a knowledge of what the 

19  faith and beliefs and the doctrines of the FDLS are? 

20      A.   Yes, I do. 

21      Q.   Now, if -- is -- specifically, is there a doctrine in 

22  any of the Book of Mormon or anywhere else that says, we are -- 

23  the -- the religious sect, or anything like that that says, We 

24  are going to encourage underaged girls to have sex"? 

25      A.   No, there is no scriptural basis for that
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1  designation.  Different FLDS leaders have had different 

2  positions at different times about it.  But there is nothing in 

3  any of the foundation scriptural works that gives the proper 

4  age for marriage. 

5      Q.   Is there any doctrine or fundamental, you know, some 

6  kind of something written that says women must submit to what 

7  their -- their father or what their husband says? 

8      A.   Yes, there is.  The FLDS accept the Bible as the word 

9  of God.  And as part of the Bible, the -- First Timothy teaches 

10  that women should submit themselves to their husbands. 

11                Now, the FLDS women, just like Methodist women 

12  and Baptist women and Catholic women, have interpreted what 

13  that means in different ways at different times. 

14      Q.   So is there anything that says that they don't have 

15  the ability to choose what to wear or what to eat? 

16      A.   No.  Part of the -- the foundation of this religion 

17  and part of what separates it from traditional -- 

18                MS. RICHARDS:  Objection.  Non-responsive.  He 

19  answered the question. 

20                THE COURT:  Usually that is the questioner's 

21  objection.  But if you could, just answer the question. 

22                THE WITNESS:  No, there's not. 

23      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Okay.  Do the women -- and based on 

24  your knowledge of FDLS religion or -- or beliefs, can women 

25  choose when to get married?
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1      A.   Yes, they can. 
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2      Q.   Can women choose to get an education? 

3      A.   They can to some degree.  At some point, if -- there 

4  are certain things that they can choose to do that might 

5  exclude them from the community, but they still have the choice 

6  to -- they still have the ability to make that choice. 

7      Q.   And when you say "exclude from the community," they 

8  can still be a member of the church, if they choose to be.  But 

9  they could go live in Houston, Texas, or here in Eldorado, 

10  Texas, or -- 

11      A.   There -- there are thousands of FLDS living in many 

12  different states. 

13      Q.   That -- is it -- is it unreasonable to assume, then, 

14  that because of one or two people have a belief, that the 

15  entire community of the FDLS members would have the same 

16  belief? 

17      A.   No, that is not a reasonable belief.  That would be 

18  the same thing as saying all Catholics believe the same thing 

19  or all Baptists believe the same thing. 

20      Q.   Okay.  Now, if there -- in a community that has a 

21  large number of FDLS members, if there is one person who is 

22  engaged in sexual activity under a legal age, does that mean 

23  every single household has to go and do that? 

24      A.   No.  The -- the family practices of the FLDS will vary 

25  family from family.  It is a common thought that many of them
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1  or all of them are polygamists, and that's not true.  Not all 

2  of them are not polygamists.  And the age at which they marry 

3  will also vary family by family. 

4      Q.   And your knowledge of this, you have actual 
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5  information that you have read and studied that tells you this 

6  or is this just an opinion of your own? 

7      A.   This comes from reading hundreds of books about their 

8  beliefs and practices and about the beliefs and practices of 

9  all of the roots of Mormonism.  It also comes from personal 

10  interviews with various people over eighteen years of studying 

11  them. 

12      Q.   And now you haven't been out to the coliseum where 

13  these children of these families have been, have you? 

14      A.   No, I have not. 

15      Q.   And you haven't been able to interview any of the 

16  individual parents or respondents that are the subject of this 

17  lawsuit? 

18      A.   That is correct. 

19      Q.   But you can say with eighteen years of experience of 

20  studying this particular religion? 

21      A.   Correct. 

22      Q.   And have you studied other religions, as well? 

23      A.   Yes, I've studied Judaism.  I have a master's degree 

24  in Jewish studies.  I've studied Roman Catholicism.  And I've 

25  read books in the general area of the academic areas of
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1  religious studies from -- studied many different Western 

2  religions. 

3      Q.   Do you have any information that you could tell the 

4  Court on how may be a -- a person who's of the FDLS faith 

5  defines a household or a family? 

6      A.   A family will usually be centered upon a patriarch or 

7  a husband who will have one or more wives.  And these are not 
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8  necessarily legal wives, but these are formal or informal 

9  arrangements made, and then the children resulting from those 

10  unions. 

11      Q.   Okay.  Now have you studied any -- do you have any 

12  knowledge about how they educate the children?  Do you have any 

13  knowledge of their education system? 

14      A.   I'm less knowledgeable in their daily practices, like 

15  education, than I am in their theology.  But I do know they 

16  generally follow, you know, some type of home-schooling 

17  program. 

18      Q.   Do -- do you know if they include subjects like math 

19  and science and writing? 

20      A.   It is my understanding that they do. 

21      Q.   Dr. Walsh, I'm going to read you something.  I want 

22  you to tell me if this is a reasonable statement based on your 

23  knowledge, your -- of the FDLS practices.  The family is an 

24  active member of a religious sect- and they're referring to the 

25  FDLS- that practices child marriages and engages in adolescent
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1  sexual conduct.  Does this religion practice child marriages? 

2      A.   I don't believe so.  To my knowledge all of the 

3  various leaders who have spoken out about who to marry and so 

4  forth have always believed that marriage should occur after the 

5  menstrual cycle has begun and that women are -- or females are 

6  no longer, quote-unquote, children, but they may be teenagers 

7  for some of the people, not all of them.  Not all of them 

8  believe in teenage marriage. 

9      Q.   Does the religion, itself, say to engage in adolescent 

10  sexual conduct? 
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11      A.   I -- I think that's a major distortion. 

12      Q.   Okay.  Now it is possible, isn't it, that there could 

13  be some incidences of sexual conduct by teenagers, is that 

14  right, in -- in this faith?  There's nothing to prevent that? 

15      A.   Are you talking within the marital or the non-marital 

16  relationship? 

17      Q.   Either. 

18      A.   Okay.  They generally expel people who engage in 

19  non-marital sex within their community.  And within the marital 

20  or -- relationship, some people may have wives who are under 

21  the age of eighteen. 

22      Q.   Okay.  Now -- but again, it's an individual choice; is 

23  that right? 

24      A.   That's correct. 

25      Q.   So if -- if -- say you're given -- there have been
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1  some testimony earlier today that said a woman in this faith is 

2  given the choice:  Get married at this age or go to hell. 

3  Would that be a normal choice that a woman would be given or a 

4  sixteen-year-old girl would be given in this -- in this 

5  religion?  Does that make sense what I'm asking? 

6      A.   A girl could be given advice from either the leaders 

7  of the community or her parents that she is of the right age to 

8  marry and should marry someone, and that if she is disobedient, 

9  there could be spiritual consequences. 

10                In my experience, in the vast majority of cases, 

11  parents would not approach the situation in that way.  That 

12  would be, I believe, an unusual -- 

13                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor -- 
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14                THE WITNESS:   -- situation. 

15                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  I know you're new at 

16  this.  If a lawyer rises, you have to let them have the 

17  opportunity to make an objection.  So I need you to stop 

18  speaking while they do that. 

19                Yes, Mr. Stout. 

20                MR. STOUT:  The reason I -- 

21                THE COURT:  Would you approach the microphone, 

22  Mr. Stout. 

23                MR. STOUT:  Yes, Your Honor. 

24                I object, unless we're going to get to the 

25  specific instances of -- of the -- of the compound or the
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1  church in Eldorado, as to a general philosophy of groups, if 

2  he's not familiar and talks about that group. 

3                THE COURT:  Well, Mr. Stout, I am going to allow 

4  a certain amount of leeway for her to establish -- I think 

5  she's trying to establish what the normal religious beliefs for 

6  members of this religious group would be.  Is that correct, Ms. 

7  Hennington? 

8                MS. HENNINGTON:  That's correct, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  I will indulge you.  Go ahead. 

10                MS. HENNINGTON:  Thank you. 

11      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) So they're given some spiritual 

12  consequences, but would they be told they have to leave the 

13  community or go to hell? 

14      A.   In my eighteen years of experience, I have heard a few 

15  cases where people were asked to leave the community.  That is 

16  not the normative method, in my experience. 
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17      Q.   And does the parent of that child get to make the 

18  decision?  I mean, do they get to give them advice, give them 

19  opinion or -- or have any say-so in that? 

20      A.   The child will make the decision whether to marry or 

21  not to marry and whether -- whether to -- of who to marry or 

22  whether they want to marry this person or not marry.  If a 

23  situation has -- has arisen where the community has said, "We 

24  believe that this is a good match," I mean, basically, they're 

25  into matchmaking.  And if the community says:  We think this is
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1  a good match, there could be some discussion -- 

2      Q.   Okay. 

3      A.   -- about why they think this is a good match. 

4                There have been cases where girls have said:  I 

5  don't think it's a good match.  I'm not willing to do this. 

6  And they have not been expelled from the community.  So there's 

7  not one way that it always turns out. 

8      Q.   Okay.  In your eighteen years of study, have you -- 

9  would you say that there's more people that you have met that 

10  have not married until they're over age eighteen or is there 

11  less?  Can you -- can you estimate that for me? 

12                THE COURT:  Yes, there's an objection. 

13                MR. PACHECO:  Your Honor, my name's Dan Pacheco, 

14  I represent one of the young children -- actually two of the 

15  very young children in this matter.  And I object on the basis 

16  of relevance.  The man's testified he has not spoken to a 

17  single member of the ranch, and so who he's -- who he's met and 

18  who he's talked to is not -- the question's not relevant.  He 

19  doesn't have any basis to answer it. 
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20                THE COURT:  Ms. Hennington, why is it relevant? 

21                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, we're listened -- 

22  Your Honor, we've listened to hours of testimony put on by the 

23  State where they haven't gotten any actual information from any 

24  of the respondents or the elders from the members of the ranch 

25  and it has been relevant.  I think his would be relevant as to
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1  actually what are the practices of the FDLS. 

2                THE COURT:  Well, I -- 

3                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor -- 

4                THE COURT:  I'm a little concerned.  I mean, I 

5  think that the Court was hearing that there has been sexual 

6  abuse.  I've heard your expert testify that -- that his 

7  understanding of their faith would not involve sexual abuse. 

8                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay. 

9                THE COURT:  I mean, so if there's deviation of 

10  his understanding of what actually occurred out there, which is 

11  what his objection is, is that can you connect the dots?  What 

12  you've given us so far, and I'm going to give you a little more 

13  time, obviously, but you're going to have to connect up the 

14  dots with what the standard practice is, how it applies to what 

15  happened out there or maybe didn't happen out there. 

16                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay. 

17      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Dr. Walsh, you've spoken to my 

18  partner, Evan Jones, and you received some information about 

19  the numbers of -- of -- and the allegations in this particular 

20  case; is that right? 

21      A.   That's correct. 

22      Q.   And in that there have been -- sorry just one second. 
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23                In -- in this case, you're aware there are four 

24  hundred children that have been removed -- temporarily removed 

25  from the YFZ Ranch, is that right, you knew that?
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1      A.   Yes, that's correct. 

2      Q.   And of that there have been introduced into evidence 

3  medical records of three teenage -- allegedly teenage girls. 

4  Would that be -- based on your understanding of the FDLS, would 

5  that be an unreasonable or less/higher number than four 

6  hundred? 

7      A.   Historically that's a relatively new phenomenon.  It's 

8  probably related to some of the teachings of Warren Jeffs.  As 

9  far as the most FLDS did not marry at that age and did not 

10  start conceiving and bearing children at that age.  They were 

11  usually much older. 

12      Q.   And so the practices that are being alleged to be a 

13  global practice is not necessarily a practice of the church, is 

14  it? 

15      A.   That's correct. 

16      Q.   And of the membership of the church? 

17      A.   That's correct. 

18                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I'd pass the 

19  witness at this time. 

20                THE COURT:  All right.  At this time we'll take a 

21  representative from the Department. 

22                MS. RICHARDS:  Shawn Richards representing the 

23  Department. 

24                THE COURT:  Speak into the microphone, please. 

25                MS. RICHARDS:  Yes, sir -- or yes, ma'am.
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1                THE COURT:  That's okay. 

2                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

3  BY MS. RICHARDS: 

4      Q.   Dr. Walsh, who is the head of -- of this sect right 

5  now?  Who's the prophet? 

6      A.   There's actually -- I think that many people think -- 

7  believe that Warren Jeffs is still leading this sect.  Some 

8  people have believed that maybe a transfer of power has started 

9  to occur.  But I think that most people would say Warren Jeffs 

10  is still the leader of this sect. 

11      Q.   And under Warren Jeffs' authority in this sect, 

12  underage marriage has taken place; isn't that correct? 

13      A.   That's correct. 

14      Q.   And, in fact, have you been shown the exhibit that was 

15  entered into court earlier that showed twenty underage 

16  marriages within -- 

17      A.   No, ma'am, I have not seen the exhibit. 

18                MS. RICHARDS:  May I approach the witness? 

19                THE COURT:  Sure. 

20      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Dr. Walsh, I just showed you the chart 

21  that's been entered into evidence.  And it's -- it's a record 

22  of twenty women that have been engaged in sexual conduct under 

23  the age of -- of seventeen.  That practice is contrary to the 

24  way that most FLDS sects work; is that correct? 

25      A.   Historically that is true.  It's contrary to the way
 

181 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

Page 163



4-18-08 

1  that the majority of FLDS sects work during the time of Warren 

2  Jeff's father. 

3      Q.   But under Warren Jeffs, it's become more common; is 

4  that correct? 

5      A.   In some places it's become more common.  If you look 

6  at, say, the twenty thousand or so estimated members of the 

7  FLDS in the United States, it is not a common practice, in my 

8  opinion. 

9      Q.   Would you say in a group the size of Eldorado, out at 

10  YFZ Ranch, that twenty would be a large number of underage 

11  marriages? 

12                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I'm going to object 

13  to a mischar- -- 

14                Your Honor, I'm going to object to a 

15  mischaracterization of the evidence that she's talking about. 

16  The Exhibit 26 lists many births that were born before any -- 

17  Eldorado ever came into -- YFZ ever -- Ranch was ever started. 

18                Many of the dates of births were prior to 2004. 

19  And there's been no evidence that has indicated that those were 

20  here at this ranch. 

21                THE COURT:  You want to rephrase your question? 

22                MS. RICHARDS:  I would, Your Honor.  I would. 

23      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) If there's a pattern, a continuing 

24  pattern, and whether they were born out at YFZ, but under the 

25  authority of prophet Jeffs, Warren Jeffs, this practice is
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1  continued, that's a deviation from the normal practices of this 

2  organization; is that correct? 

3      A.   If those facts were true, I don't know that they are 
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4  or not. 

5      Q.   If -- if this Court has heard evidence of underage 

6  marriage and birth, that would be contrary to the -- to the way 

7  they usually worked; is that correct? 

8      A.   That's correct. 

9      Q.   Also if the children were reporting regularly during 

10  the investigation process that when prophet says you should 

11  marry, you marry, would that be consistent with their beliefs? 

12      A.   Could you ask the question again?  I'm sorry. 

13      Q.   If the children are reporting that when you marry, the 

14  time that you marry is when the prophet says that you marry, 

15  would that be consistent? 

16      A.   It would be generally consistent, but as the children 

17  age, there becomes a little bit more of a negotiation process 

18  among the stakeholders in the community.  The parents have a 

19  say.  The elders of the church have -- have a say.  And then 

20  the child involved also has a say. 

21      Q.   And that's normally; is that correct? 

22      A.   That's correct, that's normally. 

23      Q.   If the children were indicating that at any age a 

24  child could marry, would that be contrary to the normal 

25  practice?
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1      A.   That would be contrary to the normal practice. 

2      Q.   The normal practice, you did say was -- 

3      A.   And it would be contrary to the normal practice, also, 

4  under Warren Jeffs. 

5      Q.   Would it -- I didn't fully understand what you said 

6  when you were talking about when girls mature, at the age that 
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7  -- that they have physical development, that they're eligible 

8  for marriage; is that correct? 

9      A.   Well, correct.  Among the FLDS there's been a variety 

10  of opinions expressed as far as what is the proper age to 

11  marry.  Some of the elders of the church have stated in church 

12  meetings they believe eighteen a good age.  Others have said 

13  sixteen is a good age, if the parents agree.  Others have 

14  expressed the opinion that when a female begins her menstrual 

15  cycle, that's a sign.  And that's kind of following old 

16  testimony theology that's common to some fundamental sects and 

17  other groups, as far as among Jewish people and other people, 

18  as well.  So there's a variety of opinions as far as what is 

19  the right age to marry among the FLDS. 

20      Q.   So as long as she is matured -- 

21      A.   Well, it's -- 

22      Q.   -- it's possible? 

23      A.   Well, it is possible.  And they also generally look at 

24  the child.  For example, there might be an agreement that says 

25  this child is ready to marry at age sixteen, but her sister may
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1  be deemed to be still too immature or not ready to assume 

2  community responsibilities and, therefore, might have to wait 

3  until she was older. 

4                MS. RICHARDS:  I'll pass the witness. 

5                THE COURT:  From the ad litems? 

6                MR. GARCIA:  Lawrence Garcia, Your Honor.  I 

7  represent Sterling Johnson. 

8                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

9  MR. GARCIA: 
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10      Q.   You seem to not know whether Warren Jeffs was still 

11  the prophet for this community.  Would that be correct? 

12      A.   He is the technical prophet for this community.  Among 

13  Mormon thinkers right now, there's a discussion about whether 

14  or not there's a slow transfer of authority.  And there's a 

15  disagreement as far as what's really happening behind the 

16  scenes. 

17      Q.   Sir, if I were to tell you that of dozens of rooms 

18  that we were shown at -- at the compound, every single one had 

19  a large portrait of Warren Jeffs, that in many cases there were 

20  progressions of portraits starting with Joseph Smith and going 

21  through Warren Jeffs, that there was not any place that there 

22  was a large photograph in a prominent position other than 

23  Warren Jeffs, would that change your opinion any? 

24      A.   Not at all. 

25                MR. GARCIA:  Okay.  Nothing further.
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1                THE COURT:  Wait.  I'm -- I think I see some 

2  motioning here.  Ms. Motl, did you rise -- 

3                MS. MOTL:  Yes, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  -- to be recognized?  Come on down. 

5                Ms. Motl, I think there's someone that wants 

6  to -- is that -- no, okay.  All right.  Thank you.  We're going 

7  to get to you in just a second.  She's not getting in line 

8  ahead of you. 

9                MS. MOTL:  Terri Motl, Your Honor, representing 

10  the orange group.  I have three specific children that I am 

11  representing, minors.  I'm attorney ad litem as with minors for 

12  Rose Marie Johnson, Patricia Steed and Josephine Johnson. 
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13                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

14  BY MS. MOTL: 

15      Q.   My question to the witness is, if -- with your study 

16  of the FLDS history, it appears that you are making different 

17  distinctions between different groups within the FLDS? 

18      A.   That's right.  I'm saying that they are -- you cannot 

19  treat them all the same.  They're not homogenous. 

20      Q.   And so if we have a particular group, which is 

21  isolated and insulated from other groups of the FLDS, and they 

22  have their own prophet, it won't be the same practices in that 

23  group that would be in another FLDS not governed by that 

24  prophet? 

25      A.   Well, the FLDS will probably always recognize one
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1  prophet.  And that's what will unite them is the common 

2  leadership of one person.  However, the amount that each group 

3  or each person out of twenty thousand people pays, the amount 

4  of adherence they that pay to him will probably be about the 

5  same as how much, you know, American Catholics pay attention to 

6  the Pope.  Some people pay a lot of attention and some people 

7  pay a little bit less. 

8                So there will always be probably one leader among 

9  the FLDS who's chosen to lead their priesthood counsel. 

10      Q.   Who are you saying that one leader is? 

11      A.   What I'm saying is is Warren Jeffs is the technical 

12  leader at this time.  But because of his difficulties and stuff 

13  like that, there is common among, you know, the Mormon 

14  intellectual community that they believe that, you know, some 

15  decision-making authority has to be delegated and possibly 
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16  changed and perhaps he may resign, perhaps other things might 

17  happen.  No one knows what's going to happen. 

18      Q.   And in your study of the history with the FFL -- 

19  FLDS -- 

20      A.   Uh-huh. 

21      Q.   -- group, are you familiar with a phrase used "Lying 

22  for the Lord"? 

23      A.   I am.  I've heard it before. 

24      Q.   Have you heard it within the history of this group? 

25      A.   Yes, I have.
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1      Q.   And -- 

2      A.   I've heard it within the history of all Mormon groups. 

3      Q.   All Mormon.  And when you say "all Mormons," you're 

4  saying the FLDS group and the non-FLDS? 

5      A.   Yes.  Normally that's someone that's an enemy to the 

6  church, is a phrase that they would use to describe them.  Kind 

7  of like an ex-Catholic would talk about Catholicism. 

8      Q.   What phrase? 

9      A.   "Lying for the Lord."  It's not something the FLDS 

10  would use.  It's what something an enemy to the church would 

11  use about the FLDS. 

12      Q.   So within your study of history, you've never read 

13  historical accounts of the prophets lying for their Lord and 

14  instructing their members to lie for the lord? 

15      A.   If you're asking me if I've ever seen cases where the 

16  FLDS have been deceptive, is that what you're asking me? 

17      Q.   Yes, sir. 

18      A.   Okay.  That's a different -- different question. 

Page 169



4-18-08 

19  There are times when they are -- can be deceptive.  Normally 

20  when they feel that their survival is at stake.  There's been a 

21  lot of persecution in the history of this sect, and they do not 

22  trust outsiders.  They do not -- basically, if you're not part 

23  of the group, then they believe that they are always at risk 

24  from you. 

25      Q.   And so if you are not a part of their group they are
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1  not going to be honest and truthful to you? 

2      A.   They -- they may be, but what I'm saying is, is 

3  that -- let me give you an example.  In the past, in different 

4  areas, law enforcement has come in and questioned their 

5  children and asked them:  Who is your daddy and who is your 

6  mommy?  Okay.  In the past, as soon as the children identified 

7  the parents, the law enforcement will put the parents in the 

8  state penitentiary for polygamy, which has been illegal in many 

9  places.  And this is a historical thing going over a hundred 

10  fifty years. 

11                So over the time, the FLDS have thought their 

12  children if somebody asks you, who is my mommy and who is my 

13  daddy, then you better not say, because you know that they're 

14  trying to put mommy and daddy in jail.  So that would be an 

15  example of trying to do something out of a sense of survival. 

16                Generally -- 

17      Q.   Are you -- 

18      A.   Generally, they're -- they're good, decent, honest 

19  people.  But when they feel persecuted, when they feel that 

20  they're going to be treated unfairly, then they're not going to 

21  necessarily tell you what they really think. 
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22      Q.   Within the history of the FLDS group, are you aware of 

23  any -- are you aware of any practices that involve the use of a 

24  bed in the temple? 

25      A.   Historically, the only use of the bed -- of a bed in
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1  the temple has been -- you have to understand that a lot of 

2  people come fasting to do temple worship.  And the temple 

3  worship, itself, will last a number of hours.  And it's not 

4  uncommon, with hundreds of people, for people to faint. 

5                And so most temples, that have been created by 

6  all of the different Mormon faiths, will have a place where 

7  someone can lie down if they're not feeling well.  To my 

8  knowledge, in any Mormon sect throughout history, there's never 

9  been any sexual activity in the temple. 

10                MS. MOTL:  May I approach the witness, Your 

11  Honor? 

12                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

13                MS. MOTL:  That -- I have no further questions, 

14  Your Honor. 

15                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Yes, ma'am? 

16                MS. RICHARDSON:  Your Honor, Susan Richardson. 

17  My client is a young girl, Sarah Nielsen, case number 2851, 

18  date of birth March 18th '03. 

19                THE COURT:  Thank you, Susan. 

20                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

21  BY MS. RICHARDSON: 

22      Q.   Doctor, I would -- I would like to see the record 

23  clarified on the issue, what is the traditional FLDS belief, 

24  and what is an untraditional practice.  With respect to Warren 
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25  Jeffs, you say he's the technical prophet.  What do you mean
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1  "technical"? 

2      A.   What I mean is, is that he is the official -- the 

3  registered leader of the church.  He is the president of the 

4  high priesthood for the church. 

5      Q.   Do you have personal knowledge of his personal beliefs 

6  regarding marriages of underaged girls with men over forty?  Do 

7  you have personal knowledge of his personal belief regarding 

8  that practice? 

9      A.   No to that question. 

10      Q.   Okay.  Do you have any personal knowledge of his 

11  individual theological tenets as they may agree or disagree 

12  with the traditional beliefs of the FDLS (sic) church? 

13      A.   Yes, I do, in general.  I read a number of treatises 

14  that he's written.  And in general he's very much in agreement 

15  with the traditional 19th Century Mormonism. 

16      Q.   And what is that traditional belief with respect to 

17  marriage of underage girls with men over forty? 

18      A.   That there is no one belief.  There's not a -- 

19  there's -- there's not any doctrine or teaching that comes from 

20  any of the -- the scriptures or any of the standard works or 

21  any of the pastoric niacle (spelled phonetically) works that 

22  they have. 

23                Different church leaders have just said, you 

24  know, in sermons to their people at different times, their 

25  opinion on when people should be getting married.  So there's
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1  nothing in scripture about what the right age is. 

2      Q.   And isn't it fair to say that Mr. Jeffs' personal 

3  practice might be that he not only encourages, participates in 

4  marriage of himself at over forty to underaged women? 

5                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor -- 

6                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

7                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor -- Your Honor, I -- 

8  this is Amy Hennington.  I'm going to object to Warren Jeffs. 

9  He's in custody.  He's not a resident here at the YFZ Ranch. 

10  It's irrelevant to what his personal ideas may be, because he 

11  is in jail somewhere. 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  He is the reputed father 

13  of the child that I represent.  And whether he resides in the 

14  federal prison, Your Honor, or at the ranch, I think is 

15  irrelevant as to his impact on my particular child, her family 

16  and the community. 

17                THE COURT:  In other words, he'll need to be 

18  served, so he can be a party? 

19                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I think he does. 

20                THE COURT:  You may answer the question. 

21                THE WITNESS:  Can you repeat the question, 

22  please? 

23      Q.   (MS. RICHARDSON) Uh-huh. Is it possible for the Court 

24  Reporter to read it back, because I said it like I wanted to. I 

25  may not be able to read it.
 

192 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1                THE COURT:  Okay. 
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2                MS. RICHARDSON:  Can you do that? 

3                THE REPORTER:  Yeah, it might take me a minute to 

4  find it. 

5                MS. RICHARDSON:  I appreciate it. 

6                THE REPORTER:  Okay.  Question: And isn't it fair 

7  to say that Mr. Jeffs' personal practices might be that he not 

8  only encourages -- 

9                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor -- 

10                THE COURT:  Sheri, Debbie's reading back the 

11  question.  I know all of the lawyers over there remember the 

12  question.  Let's let her read the question. 

13                THE REPORTER:  I just thought you could read it 

14  to them. 

15                THE COURT:  You want me to read it?  Okay. 

16                THE REPORTER:  Well, you have the microphone. 

17                THE COURT:  I believe the question that you were 

18  asking reads as follows:  And isn't it fair to say that Mr. 

19  Jeffs' personal practices might be that he not only encourages, 

20  participates in marriage of himself at over forty to underaged 

21  women -- and then you were interrupted by the objection. 

22                MS. RICHARDSON:  Thank you. 

23      Q.   (MS. RICHARDSON) Do you understand? 

24      A.   I actually don't understand the question.  Could you 

25  rephrase it, please?
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1      Q.   Yeah.  Do you understand that Mr. Jeffs not only 

2  encourages the community, but actually himself participates in 

3  marriage or spiritual unions between himself, over forty, and 

4  underage women?  Do you understand that is his personal 
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5  practice and apparent belief? 

6      A.   What I would say is that he encourages marriage.  And 

7  that, in some ways, he is indifferent to the age of women, 

8  which is different, I think, than what you're saying.  Because 

9  I don't think when he's looking at potential wives for himself 

10  or others, he's looking them at saying:  Uh-huh, this one is 

11  underage, therefore, let's marry her because she is underage. 

12                I think what he does is he comes to a conclusion 

13  that says:  This woman has reached adult status in our 

14  community and, therefore, she will be treated as an adult and 

15  offer the opportunity for marriage.  But there's not some sort 

16  of leering:  Ah-ha, let's get some underaged girls.  It's more 

17  of a case of he has chosen, rightly or wrongly, to say that 

18  this particular female has become -- has become of maturity in 

19  our community. 

20      Q.   Is it fair to say Mr. Jeffs has offered that 

21  opportunity to girls fourteen? 

22      A.   I -- I do not have -- I do not have personal knowledge 

23  of all the offers that he's made. 

24      Q.   Do you have -- that may be the most truthful testimony 

25  we've had since we started.
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1                Do have any knowledge that he has offered the 

2  opportunity to any girl age fifteen? 

3      A.   I -- I don't have inside information of who he's 

4  arranged matches for. 

5      Q.   No, I'm talking about him, the opportunity to 

6  spiritually unite with him? 

7      A.   I don't -- 
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8      Q.   Do you have any information about that? 

9      A.   No, I don't. 

10      Q.   Sixteen? 

11      A.   I don't. 

12      Q.   Seventeen? 

13      A.   I don't. 

14                MS. HENNINGTON:  Judge, he -- 

15                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

16                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I'm going to object 

17  to badgering the witness.  He's already testified he doesn't 

18  have personal knowledge of Warren Jeffs' personal 

19  relationships. 

20                MS. RICHARDSON:  I'll withdraw the question. 

21                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

22      Q.   (MS. RICHARDSON) Do you have -- therefore, you don't 

23  have really any personal information what Warren Jeffs 

24  practices with regard to him marrying underage girls or other 

25  men in the community marrying underaged girls?  You don't have
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1  any personal knowledge whether that has occurred with 

2  regularity and whether that is a practice that he encourages 

3  among the people who follow his personal tenets?  You don't 

4  have any information one way or the other whether he encourages 

5  that or doesn't encourage it? 

6      A.   That's a lot of words.  Can you rephrase that with 

7  just -- 

8                THE COURT:  She's a lawyer.  Give her a break. 

9      Q.   (MS. RICHARDSON) And you're a doctor. 

10      A.   Well, I'm trying to be accurate, so... 
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11      Q.   All right.  Do you have any personal information to 

12  offer this Court -- 

13      A.   Uh-huh. 

14      Q.   -- assuming with me that -- that Warren Jeffs has 

15  fathered some children in this community. 

16      A.   Okay. 

17      Q.   And assuming with me that some of these children are 

18  the product of marriages with women under legal age. 

19      A.   Okay. 

20      Q.   Assume with me, do you have any personal knowledge 

21  that he doesn't encourage that -- 

22      A.   That he doesn't encourage that? 

23      Q.   -- that he hasn't encouraged marriages between older 

24  men and underage women at this community?  Do you have any 

25  personal knowledge that he does not do that?
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1      A.   I do not have any personal knowledge that he does not 

2  do that. 

3      Q.   Do you have any personal knowledge of how many women 

4  he has spiritually united with under legal age? 

5                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, objection.  He 

6  asked and previously said he didn't know the answer. 

7                THE COURT:  Overruled. 

8                THE WITNESS:  I don't have any personal knowledge 

9  regarding all the personal relationships of Mr. Jeffs. 

10      Q.   (MS. RICHARDSON) One last question.  Is it possible in 

11  your mind that Mr. Jeffs has personal practices that he's 

12  encouraged others to follow that have nothing to do with and 

13  are, in fact, not consistent with the traditional beliefs of 
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14  LDS? 

15      A.   I think that it's fair to say that -- that he has 

16  taken- and teenage marriage would be one of them- a minority 

17  position among the FLDS on some issues that have bothered a lot 

18  of members of the FLDS faith. 

19      Q.   And that minority position is that he doesn't care how 

20  old a girl is when she's spiritually united, so long as she has 

21  matured into womanhood? 

22      A.   Well, what he said in his -- in his sermons to the 

23  people is that he looks at a number of factors, including 

24  individual maturity and other things like that.  It's not 

25  simply one issue that he looks at.  But if you were to look
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1  at -- I think that -- I think that it would be a fair statement 

2  to say that he has recommended more younger girls than possibly 

3  his predecessors have.  I think that's a fair statement. 

4      Q.   And how young has Mr. Jeffs recommended? 

5      A.   Well, normally it's been -- is that someone would not 

6  be eligible at all if they have not begun menstruation. 

7      Q.   All right.  So from menstruation to seventeen, how 

8  young has he recommended unions? 

9      A.   Of my personal knowledge, thirteen is the youngest 

10  that I'm aware of. 

11                MS. RICHARDSON:  No further questions, Your 

12  Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  Yes, Ms. Dusek? 

14                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, I know a note has been 

15  passed forward to me, so I will read the question.  My name is 

16  Carmen Symes Dusek, for the record, I'm one of the coordinating 
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17  attorney ad litems in the case for the children. 

18                The question is:  Is the FLDS order -- or I'll 

19  read the question as it's written to me, Your Honor. 

20                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

21  BY MS. DUSEK: 

22      Q.   Is their order or mission to increase the population 

23  of their group? 

24      A.   The -- I'm sorry.  Repeat that. 

25      Q.   I think -- I think what they're getting at is --
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1      A.   Why do they have so many children, is that what you're 

2  asking? 

3      Q.   Well, is that -- is that a -- is that one of the 

4  objectives or the missions of the FLDS, part of their belief is 

5  to increase the size of the group? 

6      A.   Not really.  I mean, what the FLDS believe is that 

7  they have a sacred responsibility to help all the children of 

8  God come down to earth from pre-mortality, where they live with 

9  their heavenly father, and to love them and rear them in 

10  righteousness so that one day they may go to heaven.  So they 

11  believe that having children is a sacred calling. 

12      Q.   Is there a belief within the FLDS that mothers who 

13  have more children, and the more numbers of children a mother 

14  has, has them held in higher esteem? 

15      A.   There is a belief that the willingness to have more 

16  children indicates a greater willingness to help God fulfill 

17  his plan.  However, let's say you had a mother who was not able 

18  to bear children would probably not be castigated by the 

19  community.  The community would look at it and say:  This is 
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20  someone who's doing the best that she can. 

21                On the other hand, if a healthy woman says:  I 

22  don't want children, children aren't important to me, then her 

23  behavior or attitude would not be consistent with normative 

24  FLDS belief and probably the other women wouldn't think too 

25  highly of her.
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1      Q.   And would I be fair to say that if a -- if a teenage 

2  girl, who had come into biological maturity, able to bear 

3  children, were to decline to be spiritually married and to 

4  begin to birth children, is it your understanding that that 

5  might cause her to be held in a lower regard by the members of 

6  the group as a whole? 

7      A.   It would depend upon the reasons going on.  I mean, 

8  there have been cases where, say, a teenage girl has rejected a 

9  possible match.  And everyone else in the community felt that 

10  the people that suggested the match made a mistake.  Everybody 

11  knew this was a bad match. 

12                There have been other cases where -- that the 

13  community decided that the rejection was really based upon the 

14  girl not being aligned with the values of the community, that 

15  she didn't, perhaps, value marriage and family as well as other 

16  people. 

17      Q.   Would it be fair to say, then, or would you agree with 

18  me, then, that if a young woman was perceived to not value the 

19  church beliefs, as -- and that may not be an artful way of 

20  putting what you just said -- but if she was perceived to not 

21  share that same values, that that could be emotionally harmful 

22  to that child if she were to decline to be spiritually married 

Page 180



4-18-08 
23  and to bear children at whatever age? 

24      A.   I don't know if I would view that to be emotionally 

25  harmful, no.  I mean, yes, she -- it's just like with -- it's
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1  just like Catholicism.  What do you do if you have a teenage 

2  girl that says:  I don't want to go to mass.  And I don't like 

3  the Pope.  And there's going to be consequences within her 

4  Catholic family if she expresses those attitudes.  I don't know 

5  that it's emotion- -- 

6                MS. RICHARDSON:  Objection.  Non-responsive, Your 

7  Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Right person to make the objection. 

9  Sustained. 

10                MS. RICHARDSON:  Thank you.  No further 

11  questions. 

12                THE WITNESS:  Sorry, Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  You're doing good. 

14                MR. PICKERING:  David Pickering, Your Honor, for 

15  Sondra Jeffs, four-year-old child. 

16                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

17  BY MR. PICKERING: 

18      Q.   Doctor, in your studies of FLDS, have you ever come 

19  across an instance where any of the sects of FLDS advocate 

20  sexual contact or conduct with anyone other than a designated 

21  wife and/or husband? 

22      A.   I never have, absolutely not.  They -- one of the 

23  things that all -- it's different groups of Mormonisms have in 

24  common, including the FLDS, is the belief that all sexual 

25  activity must be confined within a proper marriage relationship
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1  that has been recognized as a marriage relationship within the 

2  community. 

3      Q.   So in regard to Judge Walther trying to make a 

4  decision about what to do with these children, is it your 

5  opinion, then, that any child under the age of her menstrual 

6  period is not in danger of being sexually molested? 

7      A.   You know, child abuse is a plague within our 

8  community.  And I couldn't say that, you know, out of twenty 

9  thousand FLDS there are no child abusers.  But that is 

10  considered such a heinous sin by the FLDS that it's almost 

11  inconceivable that it would be tolerated if it was known.  And 

12  if it was known, then any abusers would, you know, definitely 

13  be ostracized by -- from the community on a permanent basis. 

14      Q.   Is it likewise your understanding that any sexual 

15  contact that occurs between a husband and any of his wives 

16  occurs behind closed doors, out of the presence of the 

17  children? 

18      A.   Oh, absolutely.  As a matter of fact, you know, the 

19  FLDS- and hopefully I'm not going to offend them by saying 

20  this- but they wear religious garments at all times that are 

21  basically -- you know, they're like longjohns.  And they go 

22  from wrist to ankle.  And even during their intimate 

23  relationships between a husband and a wife, they wear these 

24  garments to protect the spirituality of their relationships. 

25  Most FLDS men have never even seen their wives naked, no matter
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1  how long they've been married. 

2      Q.   And in your studies of the FLDS, Doctor, have you come 

3  across any sects within the FLDS, including Eldorado, that 

4  advocates corporal punishment for the children? 

5      A.   I have come across cases where people advocate 

6  corporal punishment. 

7      Q.   Okay.  Is it widespread to knowledge within the sects 

8  of LDS? 

9      A.   No, normally children are given time-outs. 

10      Q.   And can you tell me, Doctor, based on your studies, do 

11  you have any opinion with regard to the family values of the 

12  LDS sects? 

13      A.   The only issue that most people have, as far as the 

14  morality and the family values with the FLDS, would come from 

15  two standpoints.  Number one, the polygamy aspect.  If you take 

16  away the polygamy aspect, and it's just whether or not a man 

17  has more than one wife, then most people would look at the FLDS 

18  and say:  These are incredibly great, you know, family values. 

19                The second thing that some people have a problem 

20  with is they are traditionally a very conservative group. 

21  They're normally a farming community.  Normally the wives stay 

22  home and take care of the children.  They -- they believe 

23  that's their -- their primary focus.  And that bothers some 

24  modern thinkers or some feminists thinkers. 

25                But as far as just general family values, if you
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1  take away the polygamy, they would be very harmonious (sic) 

2  with just about any conservative religious group, Catholic, 

3  Baptist, or whatever, in the United States. 
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4                MR. PICKERING:  Thank you, Doctor. 

5                THE COURT:  Now, we're going to have a few 

6  questions from the auditorium, and then we're going to figure 

7  out what we're going to next. 

8                Anybody over at the auditorium, Sheri, want to 

9  ask some questions? 

10                MS. SHEPHERD:  Your Honor, Sheri's not here. 

11                THE COURT:  Okay. 

12                MS. SHEPPARD:  My name -- my name is Nancy 

13  Shepherd.  My children are Renon Barlow, date of birth 

14  2/11/1999, Cause Number 2804; and Barbara Jeffs, date of birth 

15  9/13/96, Cause Number 2902.  I just have one question. 

16                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

17  BY MS. SHEPHERD: 

18      Q.   Do you have an opinion as to why there are more girls 

19  than boys at this ranch? 

20      A.   Normally during the teenage years the boys will begin 

21  working, often outside of the community, to earn money.  That's 

22  probably the primary reason. 

23                MS. SHEPHERD:  Thank you. 

24                MS. LOCK:  I'm Paula Lock.  I represent James 

25  Steed, born 11/25/05.
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MS. LOCK: 

3      Q.   Sir, what is -- is there a secondary reason?  You said 

4  it's the primary reason.  What is -- what are the other reasons 

5  that the boys -- there are only twenty-four out of the four 

6  hundred and sixteen children here, of teenage boys, is my 
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7  understanding. 

8      A.   I'm -- 

9      Q.   Where did they all go? 

10      A.   If there's been some distribution, I'm not aware of 

11  the specific facts of that case. 

12      Q.   Okay. 

13      A.   So I don't know. 

14      Q.   Okay.  Your answer to the previous question was, 

15  there's a -- a primary reason why, they go to earn money 

16  outside of the community.  Are there other reasons generally 

17  for FLDS? 

18      A.   I -- I don't know why there aren't more boys. 

19      Q.   Do you know what the phrase "be sweet" means, sir? 

20      A.   Yes, I do. 

21      Q.   What is that? 

22      A.   Generally it's -- it's a phrase where you're telling 

23  someone to remember to follow the example of Christ and be long 

24  suffering, being patient, not respond in anger, not -- don't 

25  let people provoke you.
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1      Q.   Do you know if it has that same meaning to this 

2  particular group at the ranch or do you even know what it would 

3  mean at the ranch when they tell their children "be sweet"? 

4      A.   That's the general FLDS and Mormon teaching. 

5      Q.   Okay. 

6      A.   Normally you would use it, for example, with 

7  children -- with children -- if a child is, for example, gets 

8  angry at another child for something, you would say "now be 

9  sweet."  You know, you remember, basically, how we've taught 
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10  you to -- to behave and throwing a temper tantrum is not the 

11  right way. 

12      Q.   Sir, would you say that when you talked about girls 

13  having a choice at -- to begin at the age of thirteen to accept 

14  a marriage that's recommended by the prophet, by their family, 

15  by the community, would you say that those girls have any real 

16  choice to decline or are they pressured so much by it that they 

17  pretty much have to agree? 

18      A.   I think they have -- well, first of all, I don't think 

19  it's true that there is a systematic, every time a girl turns 

20  thirteen she gets married.  I think that is just not accurate. 

21  There are some girls as young as thirteen, to my knowledge, 

22  that had been married.  It's not necessarily the normative 

23  practice. 

24                As far as having a real choice, yes, I believe 

25  the girls are given a real choice.  Now, sometimes in some of
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1  the FLDS communities they have decided that -- that the reason 

2  for rejecting the choice is sufficient to, you know, not have 

3  them in the community, that it causes -- whether it's too much 

4  tension or some other issue.  But in other cases girls have 

5  successfully said:  No, this is not a good match for me.  And 

6  they've remained in good standing in the community. 

7                So it's all depends.  There's not a general 

8  pattern you can apply to all cases. 

9      Q.   Do you know whether that situation has happened at the 

10  YFZ Ranch that a young girl -- teenage girl has rejected an 

11  arrangement marriage and been allowed to stay or been 

12  ostracized from the community? 
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13      A.   I don't know of a specific case either way at the 

14  ranch. 

15                MS. LOCK:  Thank you. 

16                THE COURT:  Ms. Oakley 

17                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  (Inaudible.) 

18                THE COURT:  We're recognizing one lawyer from 

19  over here.  We'll get back to you in just a second. 

20                MS. OAKLEY:  Mary Ann Oakley, attorney for 

21  Malachi Jeffs, under five boy. 

22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MS. OAKLEY: 

24      Q.   Sir, are you familiar with a "house of hiding" or any 

25  reference to hiding that perhaps would be in the Bishop's
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1  Records?  I'll represent to you that there's been an exhibit 

2  introduced into evidence, which by two person's names there's 

3  been an entry "house of hiding."  And then in another exhibit 

4  there's been an entry "in hiding" or "hiding." 

5                Does that mean anything to you or do you have an 

6  opinion or any information based on your research and 

7  experience as to what that might be? 

8      A.   Over the, say, hundred and eighty years that this sect 

9  has existed, at various times, they -- like I've said, they've 

10  been persecuted, they've run afoul of the law due to polygamy. 

11  But also just general religious reasons where their religious 

12  sensibilities have conflicted with the normative patterns than 

13  whatever area they were in. 

14                It's been common during those periods of 

15  persecution to have places that -- you know, people that 
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16  basically need to hideout.  So if the Sheriff is after your dad 

17  because, you know, he's a polygamist and they want to charge 

18  him with bigamy or something like that, then, you know, it's 

19  been common to say there's a place, a neighbor, a friend, a 

20  cousin that he can go to and be safe. 

21      Q.   And even if a member of the church has violated state 

22  law, would it be consistent with the church to hide a member 

23  based on their violation of the law? 

24      A.   That depends.  If -- if it's a violation about 

25  polygamy, which is a fundamental teaching of the church, it
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1  would be consistent.  If it's a violation of something that's 

2  not about the teaching of the church, for example, if --  if 

3  someone -- if a member of the FLDS community molested a child, 

4  and the authorities somehow found out about it, and there's a 

5  warrant issued, and people are looking for the child molester, 

6  the FLDS would not be prone to help the person. 

7      Q.   What if it was an underage wife who called and 

8  complained to the law that she had been beaten? 

9      A.   It is definitely, definitely not the pattern among the 

10  FLDS to hold people against their will or coerce them in that 

11  manner.  You know, studying the FLDS, you know, you hear 

12  stories from ex people that, you know, were former members of 

13  the group.  And they will tell you horrific stories, some of 

14  which may be true to some degree.  But if you're asking about 

15  the general practice of these people, it is absolutely contrary 

16  to their religion to hold someone against their will.  If 

17  someone, for example, a wife were hit by her husband, and she 

18  called the police, it would be contrary to their religion to 
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19  somehow abscond her and hide her off somewhere. 

20      Q.   So your -- your interpretation of "in hiding" would be 

21  if the member felt persecuted and it was -- it was the church 

22  protecting them? 

23      A.   In -- don't put me in this number, but I was going to 

24  say ninety-five percent.  But in the vast majority of cases 

25  where different members of the FLDS have helped other members
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1  hide out, in almost every case it has involved polygamy.  It's 

2  someone -- some law enforcement officer in some county 

3  somewhere decided he had had enough of a man having intimate 

4  relations with more than one woman, a warrant was issued, and 

5  then they're on the run.  This goes back, you know, a hundred 

6  eighty years. 

7      Q.   Very good.  I think you've answered my question. 

8  Thank you. 

9                THE COURT:  Now, I know that this has been 

10  extremely helpful information for you-all.  And there are ad 

11  litems that still want to ask more questions.  But in all 

12  honesty, I need to probably allow the mothers' attorneys if 

13  they want to ask this expert some questions.  So save your 

14  thoughts.  We may get back to you, we may not. 

15                Yes?  Obviously we're not going to be through by 

16  4:00.  But we're still working to be through by sundown. 

17                MR. EDWARDS:  I have no questions for the 

18  witness. 

19                THE COURT:  No questions from Mr. Edwards.  Thank 

20  you. 

21                MR. JACOBSEN:  May I approach? 
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22                THE COURT:  Yes, sir. 

23                MR. JACOBSEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Roger 

24  Jacobsen.  I'm the attorney for three mothers. 

25
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MR. JACOBSEN: 

3      Q.   Doctor, you had earlier said that many FLDS members 

4  live outside the ranch or other communal settings; is that 

5  correct? 

6      A.   That's correct.  There's not a formal census, but 

7  there's been various estimates.  But a good estimate is there 

8  are about twenty thousand FLDS members in the United States. 

9      Q.   And are most of those in the southwest? 

10      A.   Most of them are around Colorado, Utah and Arizona. 

11      Q.   Now, is there a difference in the type of influence 

12  that the FLDS community has over families that are living 

13  separately from a communal group? 

14                My question is, are they more of the outside 

15  world than people that live in a ranch-type setting? 

16      A.   No.  Generally, the FLDS are very, you know, insular 

17  people.  They do not trust outsiders.  And that would be common 

18  to them wherever they're at. 

19      Q.   Now, you also, I think you had mentioned, that not 

20  everybody participates in the polygamists (sic)? 

21      A.   That's right.  Not all FLDS are polygamists. 

22      Q.   Do you have a sense of the percentage of plural 

23  marriages? 

24      A.   Say sixty percent, fifty percent. 
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25      Q.   Do you have a sense of the percentage of children who
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1  grow up in the religion and yet may stay in the religion, but 

2  leave and go live in the outside world? 

3      A.   Probably ten or fifteen percent. 

4      Q.   And are they -- then do they maintain contact with 

5  their mothers and fathers after they go out? 

6      A.   They generally -- they generally maintain contact with 

7  their family members, whether mothers, or fathers, or brothers 

8  and sisters, cousins. 

9      Q.   So a normal family bond remains? 

10      A.   It does, but it also varies.  It would be the same as 

11  if someone left -- you know, if someone -- you had a good 

12  Catholic family and somebody decided not to be Catholic 

13  anymore.  Well, there could be some issues within the family, 

14  but it would be similar to that. 

15      Q.   Okay.  Or if somebody moved from one area of the 

16  country to the other for marriage or whatever -- 

17      A.   Uh-huh. 

18      Q.   -- something like that?  Now also, you talked about 

19  the nurturing qualities of the parents.  Could you expound 

20  on -- on that a little bit in terms of how they raise their 

21  children? 

22      A.   Because, as I said before, the conceiving, bearing and 

23  rearing- it's not just having the baby, it's also taking care 

24  of them when they're born- it's considered the most special, 

25  most sacred responsibility of a couple.  They take great care
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1  in raising their children.  People that have met FLDS children 

2  generally find them very polite, very sweet, well disciplined, 

3  very nice people. 

4      Q.   What are the incidents of drug abuse within their 

5  community? 

6      A.   It's almost non-existent. 

7                THE COURT:  Now, I know we've been really broad 

8  in testimony.  But I really do need to kind of -- and I'm not 

9  kind trying to limit you, but I need to focus on not long-term 

10  care.  I'm still getting back to the 14-day hearing. 

11                MR. JACOBSEN:  Yes, ma'am. 

12                THE COURT:  And I know I kind of wandered off and 

13  let you-all go places beyond.  If we could focus back on this 

14  hearing, the decision I have to make today. 

15                MR. JACOBSEN:  Thank you.  One more question, 

16  I'll rest. 

17                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

18                MR. JACOBSEN:  Thank you. 

19      Q.   (MR. JACOBSEN) If the children were returned home, are 

20  there any immediate health concerns that you would have from 

21  their -- their parents in terms of their diet, their -- 

22      A.   None at all. 

23      Q.   None at all.  Thank you. 

24                MR. JACOBSEN:  No more further questions. 

25                THE COURT:  Thank you.
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1                MS. MEMON:  Hi, Your Honor.  I'm Saadia Memon.  I 
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2  represent three -- 

3                THE COURT:  Shout at me. 

4                MS. MEMON:  Hi, Your Honor.  I'm Saadia Memon, 

5  and I represent three mother respondents. 

6                THE COURT:  They still say they can't hear you. 

7                MS. MEMON:  Okay. 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  She needs to slow down a 

9  little bit. 

10                THE COURT:  Now, I can't help for slow ears.  I 

11  can get for volume. 

12                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

13  BY MS. MEMON: 

14      Q.   Okay.  Can you hear me?  Okay.  I just have one 

15  question for you. 

16                I believe you may have touched on this, but I 

17  just want to make it clear to the Court.  From your 

18  understanding of FLD- -- FLDS, is there any reward, incentive 

19  or blessing that would come from FLDS members continuing to 

20  marry underaged children to adult males, in your understanding 

21  of theology? 

22      A.   No.  There's -- as far as the -- there is a -- there 

23  is -- there are teachings about the principle of polygamy of 

24  having -- and in this case, for the FLDS, that means one 

25  husband, but multiple wives.  Polygamy can mean different
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1  things for different cultures.  But other than that, there is 

2  foundational teachings within the church, within the holy 

3  books.  Any -- I mean, thousands and thousands of pages, 

4  there's nothing that says:  Here's the proper age for a girl to 
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5  be married. 

6                And there's not greater blessing -- I mean, 

7  there's not a blessing that says thirteen is better than 

8  eighteen versus, you know, some other age. 

9      Q.   So from your understanding, if a member of the FLDS 

10  were to refuse to do that or stuff to avoid continuing to do 

11  that, they would not be compromising their religious practice 

12  in any way?  They would not be compromising their religious 

13  practice in any way? 

14      A.   Repeat the question for me again. 

15      Q.   Okay.  If -- if an FLDS member was to avoid doing this 

16  practice of marrying an underage girl to an adult male -- 

17      A.   Okay. 

18      Q.   -- from your understanding of the theology, they would 

19  not be compromising their practice in any way? 

20      A.   They would not be compromising their theology, that's 

21  correct. 

22                MS. MEMON:  Thank you. 

23                THE COURT:  Yes, sir? 

24                MR. SHAW:  Your Honor, my name is John Shaw.  I 

25  represent four of the mothers, Mary Allred Jeffs, 2902;
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1  Charlene Wall Jeffs, 2902; Nancy Black Dockstader, 2903; and 

2  Rebecca Jessop Barlow, 2902.  I have just a couple of quick 

3  questions. 

4                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

5  BY MR. SHAW: 

6      Q.   In your opinion, if these children were returned to 

7  their home today, are they in immediate danger of physical or 

Page 194



4-18-08 
8  sexual harm? 

9                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, I object.  He doesn't 

10  have any personal knowledge of these children. 

11                THE COURT:  If you would, come to the stand. 

12                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, Randol Stout.  He has no 

13  personal knowledge and has testified he has no personal 

14  knowledge of these children, nor does he have personal 

15  knowledge of these -- these individuals at this group, specific 

16  individuals.  He's given us general information as to this 

17  sect, generally, and has not given any specific information, 

18  and indicates to the Court he has no knowledge -- 

19                MR. SHAW:  I'll happily -- 

20                THE COURT:  Ms. Richards. 

21                MS. RICHARDS:  I have an additional objection, 

22  Your Honor.  I believe this expert has been presented as an 

23  expert in theology, not sexual abuse in any way.  I believe 

24  this is beyond the realm of his expertise. 

25                MR. SHAW:  Can I rephrase, Your Honor, briefly,
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1  or have an opportunity to? 

2                THE COURT:  Yes, of course. 

3      Q.   (MR. SHAW) Based upon this religion, in general, if 

4  four hundred children had been removed en masse from one of 

5  these FLDS sects, and this Judge had to make a determination 

6  about whether those children had to go back, they would be in 

7  immediate danger of physical safety or emotional development or 

8  sexual abuse, would it be your opinion they would be in 

9  immediate danger? 

10      A.   It is my opinion they would not be in immediate 
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11  danger. 

12      Q.   Couple more quick questions. 

13                You spoke earlier about the fact that this 

14  independent section of the FLDS believe that having children is 

15  doing God's work.  Is that any different from the general LDS 

16  philosophical beliefs? 

17      A.   No, this is common to all branches of Mormonism. 

18      Q.   And last question.  If these women were to voice their 

19  discontent with the idea that one of their children, who may 

20  have been under the age of sixteen, was asked to be married, 

21  would they be welcome into another -- another sect of FLDS if 

22  they had to go there? 

23      A.   That actually has happened on a number of occasions. 

24  There -- because there are twenty thousand FLDS, roughly, 

25  that's an estimate, in the United States, there are different
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1  groups.  And different leaders make different decisions as far 

2  as locally. 

3                Occasionally someone may not -- not agree with a 

4  local decision and ends up, you know, moving with their cousin 

5  in Arizona or something. 

6      Q.   And if they agree disagreed with a local decision -- 

7      A.   Correct. 

8      Q.   -- they would be more than free to do that? 

9      A.   Correct. 

10                MR. SHAW:  Thank you.  I have nothing further. 

11                THE COURT:  All right.  Not seeing anyone rise 

12  over here, is there anyone over at the -- 

13                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yeah. 
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14                THE COURT:  We're focusing on the mothers. 

15                DISTRICT CLERK:  We have an attorney for the 

16  mother. 

17                THE COURT:  Now let's all start remembering that 

18  asked and answered or a repetitive question is important.  We 

19  don't need to repeat.  Mr. Lewis. 

20                MR. WALKER:  All right.  Your Honor, my name's 

21  Clarence Walker and I represent six mothers:  Ora Jeffs, Gladys 

22  Mae Jessop, Kathleen Steed, Louann Jessop, Helen Allred and 

23  Grace Harper. 

24                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Walker.  I'm sorry. 

25  Go ahead.
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MR. WALKER: 

3      Q.   Okay.  Doctor, one of the allegations that have been 

4  raised throughout this trial have been that the children have 

5  been less than honest about their names.  And do you have any 

6  idea why a child would -- do you have an opinion as to why a 

7  child would use one name when talking to someone and use 

8  another one, maybe, let's say, with the sect, why they'd use 

9  different last names? 

10                THE COURT:  Wait.  I see an objection. 

11                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, we'd object.  We 

12  believe the question's been asked and answered. 

13                THE COURT:  Asked and answered.  Next question, 

14  sir. 

15                MR. WALKER:  That's all, Your Honor. 

16                THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  Sorry to cut you 
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17  off.  All right. 

18                MR. STOUT:  Just one question, Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  I have never had just one question 

20  from you, Mr. Stout.  Prove it. 

21                MR. STOUT:  Randol Stout on behalf of multiple 

22  children. 

23                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

24  BY MR. STOUT: 

25      Q.   Sir, what's the significance of what's termed Bishop's
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1  Records? 

2      A.   They could mean different things.  Normally what 

3  happens is -- is records of, say, marriages, births, possibly 

4  deaths, priesthood ordinations, advancement.  There are 

5  different offices in the priesthood where you get different 

6  callings.  So basically records of how the community is 

7  organized could be kept as far as in the Bishop's Records.  But 

8  it would probably vary from place to place as far as what is in 

9  any particular set of records. 

10                MR. STOUT:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  Mark that one in the record. 

12                Mr. Davis. 

13                MR. DAVIS:  I won't promise one, but I don't 

14  think there'll be very many.  It's all on one topic, one brief 

15  topic. 

16                THE COURT:  Come on. 

17                MR. DAVIS:  Pure clarification, but it's on 

18  something we discussed a few minutes ago. 

19                THE COURT:  Nobody can hear you back there. 
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20                MR. DAVIS:  They're going to get the important 

21  part.  Jonathan Davis on behalf of the eight-year-old, J. Jeffs 

22  in 2902. 

23                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

24  BY MR. DAVIS: 

25      Q.   Doctor, earlier you discussed the question of the
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1  absence of older boys, adolescent boys from the community. 

2      A.   Uh-huh. 

3      Q.   And you mentioned a primary cause of that being 

4  they're off working somewhere? 

5      A.   Yeah.  That -- that could be a primary cause. 

6      Q.   Okay. 

7      A.   Uh-huh. 

8      Q.   Are there other primary causes, then? 

9      A.   I'm -- obviously, if -- if there's a disparity in the 

10  gender of the children at the complex, then -- beyond, you 

11  know, some statistical variation in the birth rates, there's 

12  probably reasons.  Now whether or not some boys are actually at 

13  one of the FLDS groups in Arizona at Scout Camp or something, I 

14  don't know.  There's obviously a reason, but I don't know the 

15  specific reasons for the disparity. 

16      Q.   Are you familiar with something referred to or a 

17  phenomenon referred to as the "lost boys"? 

18      A.   I am. 

19      Q.   Can you explain to me what that is, and what age of 

20  boys it affects please? 

21      A.   Okay.  Generally the lost boys -- it is not a term 

22  that is really used by the FLDS.  It's used about the FLDS. 
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23  And it really comes into an issue of, as boys mature into their 

24  teenage years, occasionally they are expelled from the 

25  community.
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1                It's not like, you know, a normative practice. 

2  It's not done to save young girls for older men or something 

3  like that.  Normally what happens is -- you have to understand 

4  that in many of these FLDS communities they make their own 

5  clothes, they farm their own food, and things like that.  And 

6  in their free time, they spend it all in prayer, fasting, 

7  singing church hymns and things of that nature. 

8                And a lot of boys, as they reach their teenage 

9  years, start to rebel against the idea of spending all their 

10  time praying and singing church hymns.  And so at that point 

11  the community starts working with them, saying, this is what 

12  we're about.  We're about, you know, God.  We're about 

13  spirituality.  We're about this lifestyle.  And when boys have 

14  not, in the opinion of the elders, shown the ability to be 

15  reformed to where they want to live this lifestyle, then 

16  basically, they're shunned from the community. 

17      Q.   Is there any particular age that that affects more 

18  than others?  In other words, I have an eight-year-old.  Is he 

19  likely to be subjected to this situation at all? 

20      A.   It's almost impossible for an eight-year-old.  This 

21  would normally happen -- like I said, it would happen in their 

22  teenage years.  And it would happen as they start to develop 

23  interests that are more secular oriented. 

24                You know, sometimes they get into drugs. 

25  Sometimes that want to watch TV.  Sometimes they want to do
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1  things that are just inconsistent with the religious values of 

2  the community.  And so an eight-year-old boy is very unlikely 

3  to, you know, experience that type of thing. 

4                But as boys mature, you know, in all honesty, 

5  there are not a lot of sixteen, seventeen year old boys that 

6  want to spend all day praying. 

7      Q.     What's the youngest that you've heard of a child 

8  subjected to this? 

9      A.   The youngest of which I have any personal knowledge of 

10  is fourteen. 

11      Q.   Thank you. 

12      A.   But that's actually young.  It's not normative.  Most 

13  of the time it's like sixteen, seventeen. 

14      Q.   Do you have any idea what percentage of the population 

15  it may affect? 

16      A.   Not statistically I don't.  It's not that high. 

17  Generally the parents of these children love them whether 

18  they're boys or girls.  And they're just like, you know, most 

19  American families. 

20      Q.   Thank you. 

21                MR. DAVIS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

22                MS. KEENUM:  Your Honor -- 

23                THE COURT:  I was going to recognize -- 

24                MS. KEENUM:  -- I have a follow-up. 

25                THE COURT:  Go ahead.
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1                MS. KEENUM:  Thank you.  I'm sorry, Deborah 

2  Keenum.  I have a follow-up question to that line of 

3  questioning. 

4                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

5  BY MS. KEENUM: 

6      Q.   And my question is, in your opinion, those 

7  individuals who have been subject to the lost boy phenomenon, 

8  do you believe that is detrimental to them, to be -- not 

9  allowed to see their family and participate in their family? 

10      A.   It really depends.  There -- I mean, they're -- when 

11  you're dealing with thousands of people and thousands of cases 

12  type of thing, there are times when you could select a 

13  particular person that we, in the outside world, would call a 

14  lost boy.  And we would examine his case and we would say we 

15  felt the community -- 

16                MS. KEENUM:  Your Honor, I would like to ask the 

17  client -- the -- to please answer the question. 

18                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Just get to the point. 

19                THE WITNESS:  Okay.  The point is that we would 

20  find that the lost boy had been unfairly shunned.  However, in 

21  cases where it was really obvious that this sixteen-year-old 

22  boy did not have values with the community, I think it would be 

23  harmful to keep him in the community if he did not enjoy the 

24  community values.  So it really depends on the child, whether 

25  it would be harmful or not.  I mean, if you don't like this
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1  lifestyle, making someone -- 

2      Q.   Thank you. 

3      A.   -- forcing someone to stay if you don't like the 
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4  lifestyle would be harmful to the child, in my opinion. 

5                MS. KEENUM:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  You're welcome. 

7                MR. PACHECO:  Quick follow-up on the same line of 

8  questioning, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  I think I get the point.  Is it going 

10  to help me on my 14-day hearing or is this just education? 

11                MR. PACHECO:  It's a question about this 

12  particular sect, Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  All right.  Sheri, we've got someone 

14  here.  Thank you. 

15                MR. PACHECO:  Dan Pacheco, Your Honor.  I 

16  represent two young children. 

17                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

18  BY MR. PACHECO: 

19      Q.   Mr. Walsh, are you aware that the expulsion of teenage 

20  boys increased dramatically once Warren Jeffs became the 

21  prophet of this particular group? 

22      A.   I've heard stories to that effect.  I haven't seen any 

23  studies to verify exactly, you know, what the change was, if, 

24  in fact, it exists.  But some people claim it. 

25      Q.   Have you talked to a single member of the sect about
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1  this? 

2      A.   About lost boys in particular?  No.  I've talked to 

3  members of the sect, but not about lost boys. 

4      Q.   Have you talked to any members of the YF -- the YFZ 

5  Ranch about this matter? 

6      A.   No, I have not. 

Page 203



4-18-08 

7      Q.   Have you spoken to any of the YFZ members at all? 

8      A.   No, I have not. 

9                MR. PACHECO:  Thank you. 

10                THE COURT:  Thank you.  The Court is going to 

11  take a five-minute break. 

12                (Recess.) 

13                THE COURT:  Okay.  Most importantly, I have a 

14  court reporter.  Sheri, do you have folks over there that want 

15  to ask this witness questions? 

16                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, judge, I do. 

17                THE COURT:  Line them up. 

18                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  (Inaudible), attorney ad 

19  litem on behalf of one of the children in case number 2902.  I 

20  hopefully have only a few questions. 

21                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

22  BY UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY: 

23      Q.   At what age, based upon your studies of the FDLS (sic) 

24  community, do they begin to talk about or teach the children 

25  about marriage and, more specifically, the girls?
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1                THE COURT:  I see an objection. 

2                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I'm going to 

3  object to this line of questioning.  I believe this witness has 

4  said on several times he does not have any expertise on the 

5  members of the YFZ Ranch. 

6                THE COURT:  Let's see if he -- if he's got an 

7  answer, let's -- I'm going to overrule your objection, but 

8  don't -- 

9                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Okay. 

Page 204



4-18-08 

10                THE COURT:  Thank you.  If you can answer the 

11  question. 

12                THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor.  The FLDS believe 

13  that in order to -- 

14                THE COURT:  Slide your chair closer to the 

15  microphone. 

16                THE WITNESS:  The FLDS believe that in order to 

17  go to heaven, they must be married.  It's a foundational part 

18  of their theology.  And they talk about it constantly in the 

19  home, constantly in church.  So children would be exposed to 

20  the idea that they need to get married at some point in their 

21  lives from, you know, birth basically.  They're very -- 

22      Q.   Based upon your knowledge -- based upon your 

23  knowledge, you can't articulate to the Court a specific age -- 

24  I guess based upon the testimony that I'm hearing right now is 

25  it's constantly talked about, there's no particular age based
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1  upon your knowledge when they do or do not begin to educate or 

2  teach these children about marriage or sexual relations; is 

3  that correct? 

4      A.   Oh, sexual relations would not be discussed until 

5  basically a -- a match had been decided and someone was going 

6  to get married.  Typically, you're not going to get into 

7  intimate relations with children.  They don't talk about sex 

8  with children.  Generally, it's not considered an appropriate 

9  subject. 

10      Q.   Okay.  And how about the marriage portion of it? 

11      A.   Marriage as a principle.  It's talked about in their 

12  home, in their family the whole time.  Their whole lives are 
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13  centered around their marriage and the family unit. 

14                If you're asking -- I mean -- that -- I'm asking 

15  what -- what you answered.  If you're asking me when they teach 

16  their girls to get married, that's a different question. 

17      Q.   All right.  Is that also taught -- is that something 

18  that's specifically taught just in the home, itself, or 

19  something that's taught in the educational system that's 

20  provided by the FLDS sects? 

21      A.   It -- it would not be taught in the educational system 

22  provided by the sect, because that -- that's going to be more 

23  secular, learning how to read and stuff like that.  It would be 

24  taught when they go to church. 

25                When they go church, there will be many church
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1  sermons talking about:  It's good to be married; here's how to 

2  have a happy marriage; here's how to avoid problems in your 

3  marriage.  The type -- the same type situation that would be 

4  found in almost, you know, any Baptist type of -- if you take 

5  away the polygamy aspect, then their teachings on marriage 

6  would be the same things you would find in any Baptist church 

7  or Catholic church. 

8      Q.   Based upon what you've heard, I don't know how many 

9  days you've been in Court, if you've been here the whole time 

10  or what you just heard today, would you classify the Eldorado 

11  or Eldorado, however they say it, Texas compounds or sect to be 

12  a traditional or non-traditional FLDS sect? 

13      A.   I think it is part of the traditional FLDS community. 

14  Most of the members at Eldorado have family members that are 

15  living elsewhere in the United States.  There's not a lot 
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16  that's, like, specially peculiar about Eldorado. 

17                THE COURT:  Eldorado. 

18                THE WITNESS:  Eldorado.  I apologize, Your Honor. 

19      Q.   So based upon your testimony earlier, when you talked 

20  about Warren Jeffs and his -- and you believe that he was the 

21  prophet for this particular community and the aspects he had 

22  were non-traditional with the FLDS, wouldn't you assume, since 

23  he is considered to be the prophet for this particular sect, 

24  that this sect would also follow his non-traditional beliefs 

25  since he is their prophet?
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1      A.   Not necessarily.  That would be assuming that all -- 

2  that would just be assuming any word that he speaks has to be 

3  accepted in equality to everything else that's ever been said, 

4  including scripture. 

5                I think that you're assuming that Warren Jeffs is 

6  considered an infallible prophet and that all of his teachings 

7  are the word of God, Himself, as opposed to a spiritual leader. 

8      Q.   And with regards to the Bishop's Records, would you 

9  consider them to be an accurate reflection based upon your 

10  understanding of the FLDS sect, a reflection of the 

11  documentation of the ages, marriages and, quote, I guess their 

12  legal names of the particular children or mothers or fathers? 

13      A.   I really couldn't answer that because it would depend 

14  on the care and the intent of the person creating the records 

15  and why the records were created. 

16      Q.   Based upon what you understand about the FLDS sect, 

17  what would be the most appropriate documentation to determine 

18  the, quote, legal names, date of births, or anything else of a 
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19  particular child or of an adult in this particular proceeding? 

20      A.   In -- in my opinion, because of the high dependence 

21  upon oral history, that you're really going to have to go with 

22  oral interviews of the people that know the people involved. 

23  Because -- 

24      Q.   So there's no written documentation? 

25      A.   Because -- because of the persecution over the last
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1  hundred and sixty years, they've developed, within the FLDS 

2  community, an aversion to, basically, keeping certain records 

3  that might, you know, like I said earlier, lead to dad to go to 

4  the state penitentiary for polygamy.  So most of their history, 

5  or a lot of their history, is going to be kept orally from that 

6  standpoint. 

7      Q.   So there are no, based upon your knowledge of the FLDS 

8  community, no accurate, written documentation to determine the 

9  age, the mothers -- excuse me, the biological mothers or the 

10  biological fathers of these children; is that correct? 

11      A.   No.  There may be, in fact, some very accurate written 

12  documentation.  You asked me specifically about records found 

13  in the bishop's office and how much weight should be given to 

14  them.  And I'm saying you really can't determine that in any 

15  general sense. 

16                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor -- 

17                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  That's correct. 

18                MR. STOUT:  -- as to -- 

19                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Whenever -- 

20                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  I'm sorry. 

21                MR. STOUT:  As to his answer, Judge, no one 
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22  asked -- no one asked him or has ever mentioned that the -- 

23  that the documents were found in the bishop's office. 

24                THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  I misunderstood the 

25  question.
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1                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  That's what I was 

2  referring to. 

3                THE COURT:  I'm sorry. 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I 

5  specifically asked what documents would accurately reflect it. 

6  I did not ask about the Bishop's Records, which was exactly 

7  what I was fixing to object to.  Thank you very much, Mr. 

8  Stout. 

9                THE WITNESS:  I apologize.  I misunderstood the 

10  question. 

11                THE COURT:  Try again, if you need to. 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  That's fine.  I was 

13  asking him: 

14      Q.   What record would accurately reflect the dates of 

15  births, the mothers, the fathers of not only the children, but 

16  of the adults in this particular proceeding, what records, not 

17  necessarily the Bishop's Records, any records that would be 

18  accurate as the date of births, the names of the children and 

19  the adults, and not just this proceeding, but possibly any FLDS 

20  compound? 

21      A.   As -- as a general trend within the FLDS community, 

22  oral history would be more accurate, probably than written 

23  records, though not all written records would necessarily be 

24  inaccurate.  I can't -- I can not tell you which pieces of 
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25  documentation are good or bad.
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1      Q.   Okay.  What I'm asking is, based upon what you know 

2  about the FLDS community and their history, what particular 

3  documents are you aware of that they keep to document the 

4  names, dates of births, and possibly the -- the mothers or 

5  fathers of these -- of their congregational members? 

6                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Wait.  I have a lot of 

7  objections, I think. 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Asked and answered. 

9                THE COURT:  Asked and answered. 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, it wasn't 

11  asked specifically, with the way I asked the question.  I could 

12  have objected non-responsive.  I choose to ask the question 

13  again so we could get, based upon his history, what it would 

14  be. 

15                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Time out. 

16                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm sorry.  I apologize, 

17  Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  Okay.  Answer the question. 

19  Overruled. 

20                THE WITNESS:  You would really have to go family 

21  by family.  Some families, because of the -- the traditional 

22  Mormon emphasis on family history and genealogy, some families 

23  would probably keep very accurate records of all major life 

24  events.  Other families would not keep accurate records because 

25  of fear that they would be used in some court proceeding
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1  involving polygamy.  You would really have to go family by 

2  family to determine whether or not the records for that family 

3  are accurate. 

4      Q.   Okay.  Based upon your knowledge, is there any central 

5  location in the FDLS (sic) community where they would have 

6  stored a, like, central file of some of these particular dates 

7  of birth, addresses or anything -- I mean, excuse me, dates of 

8  birth, names or anything else like that? 

9      A.   To my knowledge, they've left it up to individual 

10  families to keep those records, with the exception of some 

11  church records normally focused on priesthood offices and 

12  priesthood advancement, which could be kept by bishops and 

13  other ecclesiastical leaders. 

14      Q.   Based upon your knowledge of the FLDS sect, would 

15  you -- do you think that a direct descendent or child of Warren 

16  Jeffs is at greater risk than one that is not to underage 

17  marriage or underage sexual activity -- 

18      A.   I think it would -- 

19      Q.   -- with an adult? 

20      A.   I think it would be irrelevant, because whether or not 

21  a child engaged in underage sexual activity would depend upon 

22  the influence of his parents.  And Mr. Jeff has, I think, very 

23  little influence over his children right now because of his 

24  present circumstances. 

25      Q.   And I believe, if I understood your testimony
 

234 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  correctly, you have no knowledge as to the complete or direct 
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2  impact of Warren Jeffs on this particular community in 

3  Eldorado, Texas; is that correct? 

4      A.   He is considered their spiritual leader. 

5      Q.   But you have no knowledge as to the direct impact and 

6  the teachings of this particular community that Warren Jeffs 

7  has; is that correct? 

8      A.   The direct impact of his teachings would vary family 

9  by family.  Every family would give -- 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I object to 

11  non-responsive.  Would you please instruct the witness to 

12  answer the question asked? 

13                THE COURT:  Please answer the question you've 

14  been asked. 

15                THE WITNESS:  Can you repeat the question, 

16  please? 

17      Q.   Based upon -- my understanding is, based upon your 

18  testimony today, you cannot testify as to what the direct 

19  impact is of Warren Jeffs on this particular community, can 

20  you? 

21      A.   I can make some general assertions.  I cannot talk 

22  about the impact on any individual family. 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I pass the witness, Your 

24  Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Next -- next attorney
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1  over there. 

2                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

3  BY MR. ARCHER: 

4      Q.   Good afternoon, Dr. Walsh.  My name is Brandon Archer. 
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5  I represent Grant Richards Barlow in the 2902 cause.  You 

6  testified previously that there is some degree of home 

7  schooling and other education within your typical FLDS group; 

8  is that correct? 

9      A.   That is correct. 

10      Q.   Do you believe that typically FLDS sects do give 

11  their children sufficient education to become functioning 

12  members of society? 

13      A.   Yes, I do. 

14      Q.   And along with that, do you believe that they train 

15  and educate their children for -- in preparation for their 

16  transition to adulthood? 

17      A.   Yes, they do. 

18      Q.   And in your experience, your research, are these 

19  transitions into adulthood, for your typical child who has 

20  grown up his whole life in a FLDS community, is that generally 

21  a successful transition? 

22      A.   Yes, it is. 

23      Q.   Do you believe that a child that grows up in an FLDS 

24  community is able to developmentally get to the point of 

25  becoming an adult decision maker, fully capable of making
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1  decisions for themselves? 

2                THE COURT:  Wait.  There's an objection, I think. 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I object.  This person is 

4  not developmentally trained. 

5                THE COURT:  The objection is this person is not a 

6  person -- individual trained as an expert nor offered as an 

7  expert for developmental psychology, correct? 
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8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  I'm going to sustain the objection. 

10                MR. ARCHER:  I can rephrase the question, Your 

11  Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  Oh, don't rephrase it.  Go somewhere 

13  else on this. 

14      Q.   (MR. ARCHER) Doctor, in your experience with actual 

15  FLDS members that you have interacted with and have grown up in 

16  an FLDS community, do they appear to you do be able to 

17  understand the conversations and ability to make decisions? 

18      A.   Yes, they are. 

19                MR. ARCHER:  No further questions. 

20                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

21  BY UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY: 

22      Q.   Doctor Walsh, I'm (Inaudible).  I have two follow-up 

23  questions.  Is the ratio, the eighty-five percent of the girls 

24  here, compatible to the other FLDS ranches? 

25      A.   I -- I think that there's a higher percentage of males
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1  in other FLDS communities. 

2      Q.   And what would that ratio be? 

3      A.   I couldn't tell you for sure. 

4      Q.   And based upon your knowledge, do the families 

5  generally report the births to the United States government? 

6      A.   Are the families what? 

7      Q.   Do -- based upon your knowledge, do the families 

8  generally report the births to the United States government 

9  when the children are born? 

10      A.   I can't understood the three year words you are saying 
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11  before the United States -- 

12                THE COURT:  Based upon your general knowledge, do 

13  the families generally report births to the United States 

14  government, is that the question? 

15                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, ma'am.  For birth 

16  certificates, yes, ma'am. 

17                THE COURT:  For purposes of birth certificates. 

18                THE WITNESS:   They generally don't, though some 

19  families do. 

20      Q.   What percentage would do it? 

21                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I'm going to 

22  object as to what this has to do with the 14-day hearing and 

23  burdens. 

24                THE COURT:  I think she's probably going to the 

25  issue of whether or not the Court should consider the validity
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1  of birth certificates that might be presented.  And you're 

2  right, it probably has nothing to do with the 14-day hearing 

3  unless you are an ad litem for a child whose in question as to 

4  being eighteen or under.  So thank you.  You may answer the 

5  question. 

6                THE WITNESS:  I did, Your Honor, I think. 

7                THE COURT:  Next question. 

8      Q.   (UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY) Can you repeat your -- can he 

9  repeat his answer? 

10      A.   I -- I believe that most -- most of them are not 

11  reported to the United States government, though some families 

12  choose to do so. 

13                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Okay.  No further 
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14  questions, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

15                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

16                DISTRICT CLERK:  I believe that's all, Your 

17  Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Caldwell, you've 

19  patiently stood.  I'm going to take yours, and then we're going 

20  to move to another topic. 

21                MR. CALDWELL:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MR. CALDWELL: 

24      Q.   Dr. Walsh, I'm John Caldwell.  I'm the attorney ad 

25  litem for a young man by the name of Shawn Jeffs in cause
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1  2902.  He was born on June 19th, 2002.  He's been diagnosed 

2  with Down Syndrome and mental retardation.  I have a few 

3  questions about, do you have any -- based on your observation 

4  of the FLDS communities, have you an opinion as to how those 

5  communities generally handled the raising and caring for 

6  children and adults with developmental disabilities or other 

7  physical deformities? 

8      A.   The doctrine of the church teaches them to treat 

9  the -- those with handicaps with love and consideration and to 

10  see to their special needs. 

11      Q.   Now, if -- if I could ask you, as far as the children 

12  who might have Down Syndrome or mental retardation, is it part 

13  of their culture to send those children to a state school or to 

14  a group home for the -- those children who are adults with 

15  those conditions, or how do they try to handle that? 

16      A.   They normally try to handle internally, unless the 
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17  family feels that they don't have the internal ability to 

18  handle a special situation.  But the church teaches those who 

19  are born with a handicap are often special children of God. 

20  They have been given as a gift so they're given special care. 

21                So the intent would be, it's the same thing with, 

22  say, the elderly.  Normally you wouldn't put an older person in 

23  an old folks home or some type of assistant living.  You would 

24  try to take care of them at home.  They believe it's their 

25  responsibility to take care of each member of their family,
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1  regardless of their circumstances, until death. 

2                MR. CALDWELL: Thank you very much, Doctor.  No 

3  further questions. 

4                THE COURT:  All right.  Now unless the offering 

5  parties want to ask him anymore questions, I would like to hear 

6  addition information that would be relevant to 14-day hearing. 

7                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, we have no more 

8  questions from this witness. 

9                THE COURT:  Is that all right with the rest of 

10  you-all over here?  Thank you.  You may step down and you may 

11  step outside. 

12                Now you had an opportunity to call a witness. 

13  I'm going to let parents.  Ma'am?  I'm going to see if -- if -- 

14  have you -- go ahead.  You were going to call another witness? 

15                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I had -- had 

16  intended to call for the clients I'm representing.  I had three 

17  local people who are familiar with these families, have been 

18  dealing with them for many years, but I'm sorry.  Sorry. 

19                Your Honor, in addition to the clients that I 
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20  represent, I did have an additional three witnesses that dealt 

21  with, not just my clients, but other families about their -- 

22  the way they raise them and the ongoings and their daily 

23  activities.  But they're here.  They're willing to wait, 

24  whatever order the Court would like. 

25                THE COURT:  You know, at this time I'm not sure
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1  that that's going to bear on the Court's decision for 14-day 

2  hearings.  I mean, the allegations are -- that are really 

3  before the Court center more around sexual abuse.  And, I mean, 

4  are these folks members of the faith that do not live on the 

5  ranch?  What's their relationship? 

6                MS. HENNINGTON:  No, Your Honor.  I felt that 

7  there have been two things that seem to be at issue for the 

8  Department.  One was the openness and the honesty of the 

9  parents and the children, as well as the allegation of sexual 

10  abuse.  These witnesses are really going to talk more that 

11  they're open and honest. 

12                THE COURT:  You mean character witness -- 

13                MR. DEFENDANT:  Not -- 

14                THE COURT:  -- as a class?  I -- I -- at this 

15  time, I don't think that's going to be helpful.  I'm sorry. 

16                MS. HENNINGTON:  That's okay.  Thank you, Your 

17  Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Ladies and gentlemen, for 

19  the parents -- 

20                MR. EDWARDS:  I would like to call one of my 

21  clients, Your Honor. 

22                THE COURT:  All right. 
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23                MR. DEFENDANT:  I call Sandra Jeffs. 

24                THE COURT:  Has she completed the form that I 

25  turned out -- turned in?
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1                MR. EDWARDS:  I think so, Your Honor. 

2                THE COURT:  Before she testifies, I would like to 

3  have a copy of that. 

4                MR. EDWARDS:  Okay.  Then maybe I better let 

5  someone else proceed while I -- 

6                THE COURT:  I'm sorry if it wasn't clear. 

7                MR. EDWARDS:  I apologize, Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  No.  No.  I need -- and when -- when 

9  your clients checked in yesterday they were given a parent 

10  notification form, the one that I passed out on Monday at the 

11  pretrials.  It serves several functions.  Some of them could 

12  prevent the Court having to stop and admonish some of them 

13  about possible questions that they might be asked.  Because if 

14  they take the stand, they open themselves up for all purposes, 

15  not for any limited purposes.  And because there is the 

16  potential of criminal cases being filed in the other side of 

17  this case, the Court, out of an abundance of caution, wanted to 

18  be sure that everyone understands their rights.  Do you-all 

19  needs forms? 

20                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor.  My client didn't 

21  check in.  I brought her from the coliseum. 

22                THE COURT:  She didn't check in? 

23                MR. EDWARDS:  She just came from the check (sic) 

24  today. 

25                THE COURT:  Okay.
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1                MR. EDWARDS:  From the coliseum. 

2                THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll get forms.  Does 

3  anybody -- do we have forms?  We may need to print more forms. 

4  Does anybody have a client that is -- that they want to call 

5  that has signed the notification form? 

6                The Court will step off the bench while you-all 

7  have the opportunity to explain these forms. 

8                (Recess.) 

9                THE COURT:  All right.  Here are the rules of 

10  engagement for right now.  Y'all's chair -- table keeps getting 

11  moved over somehow, Mr. Edwards. 

12                What we're going to do is, I have in my box a 

13  list of the individuals that we have named as mothers.  Now I 

14  understand that we may not have all the mothers.  So at the end 

15  of this, remind me if I didn't call your client. 

16                I'm going to ask if the mother's lawyer wants to 

17  call her as a witness.  If she testifies, only the fathers 

18  related to her and her children have a right to cross-examine 

19  and only the ad litems as they relate to her children will have 

20  a right to cross-examine. 

21                Now I could waive those rules, but those are the 

22  general guidelines.  Carol Allred.  Who's her attorney? 

23                She has the children of Jared Jeffs, Jacob Jeffs, 

24  Andrew Jeffs and Alma Jeffs.  Do we have Carol Allred's 

25  attorney at the city hall?.
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1                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge. 

2                THE COURT:  Yes, Sheri?  What did you say?  I 

3  couldn't hear you, ma'am. 

4                DISTRICT CLERK:  I was just going to state on the 

5  14-day docket sheet, if -- if the attorney made an appearance, 

6  we tried to include that on your docket sheet. 

7                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Clarence Walker.  I 

8  thought he was over there, Sheri. 

9                DISTRICT CLERK:  He's coming, Judge. 

10                MR. WALKER:  Your Honor, I did -- did make an 

11  appearance on the case, but my clients will not be testifying 

12  in this hearing. 

13                THE COURT:  Your client will not be testifying. 

14  Very good. 

15                MR. WALKER:  Correct. 

16                THE COURT:  Merilyn or Marilyn Allred.  Her 

17  attorney is Selina and I'm -- L-L-A-G-U-N-O. 

18                MS. LLAGUNO:  I'm here, Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  Come on down.  Will your client be 

20  testifying? 

21                MS. LLAGUNO:  No. 

22                THE COURT:  No testimony. 

23                Adeline Barlow. 

24                MS. O'DWYER:  Yes, Your Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  Will she be testifying?
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1                MS. O'DWYER:  No, she will not be testifying. 

2                THE COURT:  Will not be testifying. 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor. 
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4                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  The legal aide offices 

6  have kind of gotten -- 

7                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  The legal aide offices 

9  that are mostly representing the mother-respondents have tried 

10  to limit the number of witnesses that might be called.  And you 

11  might just ask us who is going to testify, but we're not -- we 

12  didn't all bring all of the clients. 

13                THE COURT:  Okay. 

14                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  So there's very few. 

15                THE COURT:  Well, I'm at a loss.  And I'm -- I 

16  only have about sixty-one mothers, sixty-five mothers.  I -- 

17  I've -- maybe I could ask if I have a mother that wishes to 

18  testify that is not represented by legal aid? 

19                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, I'm representing a 

20  mother who wishes to testify, but is not represented by legal 

21  aid. 

22                THE COURT:  Okay.  And who would that be? 

23                MR. HARALSON:  Merilyn Jeffs. 

24                THE COURT:  Merilyn Jeffs.  Does she wish to 

25  testify?
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1                MR. HARALSON:  She does, Your Honor. 

2                THE COURT:  Can we find her file?. 

3                DISTRICT CLERK:  Do you have a cause number? 

4                THE COURT:  Well, it would be under her name. 

5                MR. HARALSON:  It's under the general cause 

6  number -- 
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7                THE COURT:  No.  No.  Wait.  I think we've got 

8  it.  We've got it alphabetized over here. 

9                Yes, ma'am? 

10                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge, it should be in that 

11  bucket right beside you, Judge, Merilyn Jeffs. 

12                THE COURT:  Jeffs?  Okay.  And it's Merilyn 

13  Jeffs?  Okay.  I have the file.  Has she completed her waiver? 

14                MR. HARALSON:  She has, Your Honor.  May I 

15  approach? 

16                THE COURT:  You may.  Ms. Jeffs, where is she? 

17                MR. HARALSON:  Ms. Jeffs is present in the 

18  courtroom. 

19                THE COURT:  If you would please, you may stand at 

20  the podium. 

21                THE COURT:  Come right on up, please, ma'am. 

22  Please have a seat. 

23                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, I do not believe this 

24  witness has been sworn. 

25                THE COURT:  All right.  Let's slide your chair
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1  closer to the microphone.  And even professional witnesses have 

2  had trouble today, so -- 

3                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am. 

4                THE COURT:  -- pretend that your yelling at a 

5  child far, far away and project as best you can. 

6                Would you state your name for me. 

7                THE WITNESS:  My name is Merilyn Jeffs. 

8                THE COURT:  And have you been sworn? 

9                THE WITNESS:  No, ma'am. 
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10                THE COURT:  Would you raise your right hand. 

11                (Witness sworn.) 

12                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may take your hand 

14  down.  Please proceed. 

15                MR. HARALSON:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

16                           MERILYN JEFFS 

17  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

18                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

19  BY MR. HARALSON: 

20      Q.   Merilyn Jeffs, how old are you? 

21      A.   I am twenty-nine. 

22      Q.   And where do you live? 

23      A.   At the YFZ Ranch. 

24      Q.   Is that in Schleicher County, Texas? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   Where were you born? 

2      A.   In Sandy, Utah. 

3      Q.   Where did you attend school? 

4      A.   In a private school called Alta Academy. 

5      Q.   Where was that located? 

6      A.   Sandy, Utah. 

7      Q.   Did you complete your education there? 

8      A.   Yes, sir. 

9      Q.   Did you have any other education after you completed 

10  that education? 

11      A.   No, sir. 

12      Q.   Did you graduate from the 12th grade? 
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13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   Is that school a recognized school by the state of 

15  Utah? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   You have a copy of your high school diploma available? 

18      A.   Yes, I do. 

19      Q.   Have you ever had a job working outside the home? 

20      A.   Yes. 

21      Q.   And how many different jobs have you had of that 

22  nature? 

23      A.   One. 

24      Q.   And what type of job was that? 

25      A.   Secretary work, computer work, accounts payable.
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1      Q.   So is it -- are you comfortable doing bookkeeping 

2  work? 

3      A.   Yes, sir. 

4      Q.   Are you comfortable with your computer skills? 

5      A.   Yes, sir. 

6      Q.   Would you be worth -- would it be worth an employer to 

7  pay you to work on a computer for him or her? 

8      A.   Yes. 

9      Q.   When you worked outside the home, did you receive 

10  regular wages? 

11      A.   Yes, I did. 

12      Q.   Did you have United States income tax withheld from 

13  your wages? 

14      A.   Yes. 

15      Q.   Are you capable of supporting yourself independently 
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16  if required to do so? 

17      A.   Yes, I am. 

18      Q.   Do you have any children? 

19      A.   Yes. 

20      Q.   How many? 

21      A.   One. 

22      Q.   Boy or girl? 

23      A.   A girl. 

24      Q.   What is your girl's name? 

25      A.   Marva Nielsen.
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1      Q.   And how old is your daughter? 

2      A.   She is seven. 

3      Q.   And I don't believe I've asked you this, how old are 

4  you? 

5      A.   I'm twenty-nine. 

6      Q.   Now, do you have documentation of Marva Nielsen's, 

7  (sic) your daughter's, birth? 

8      A.   Yes, I do. 

9      Q.   In what form is that documentation? 

10      A.   Birth certificate and social security cards. 

11      Q.   Do you have those originals with you right now? 

12      A.   Yes, I do. 

13      Q.   And would you, if asked, make them available to the 

14  Department or the Court or the ad litem for your daughter, if 

15  requested? 

16      A.   Yes, sir, I sure would. 

17      Q.   And have you offered to make those available to the 

18  Department and the ad litem for your daughter? 
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19      A.   Yes, I have. 

20      Q.   Was that offer accepted? 

21      A.   No, sir. 

22      Q.   Did the ad litem refuse to see them? 

23      A.   No. 

24      Q.   So was the offer accepted by CPS? 

25      A.   It was not.
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1      Q.   Who is the father of your daughter? 

2      A.   Wendell Nielsen. 

3      Q.   Wendell Nielsen.  How old were you, it's an obvious 

4  question, but I guess you were twenty-one years old when -- 

5  when Marva was born? 

6      A.   Yes, sir. 

7      Q.   How old were you -- have you ever been formally 

8  married before as far as through a ceremony recognized by a 

9  state with a marriage license? 

10      A.   No, sir. 

11      Q.   Were you forced into any type of church spiritual 

12  marriage before your age of eighteen. 

13                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, I would object.  How is 

14  it relevant? 

15                THE COURT:  Court will allow it.  But please 

16  don't lead the witness, Mr. Haralson. 

17                MR. HARALSON:  Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   (BY MR. HARALSON) You may answer that question. 

19      A.   Would you state it again, please? 

20      Q.   Were you forced or coerced into marriage before the 

21  age of eighteen? 
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22      A.   No. 

23      Q.   Were you ever forced or coerced into marriage? 

24      A.   Absolutely not. 

25      Q.   Are you able to be with your daughter at this time?
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1      A.   No, sir. 

2      Q.   When were you originally separated from your daughter, 

3  Marva? 

4      A.   On Friday, April 3rd. 

5      Q.   Among the groups of children that left the ranch, was 

6  she in the first, second or third group? 

7      A.   She was in the first group. 

8      Q.   And since you were separated at that time, you are not 

9  allowed to accompany her? 

10      A.   I went to Fort Concho and -- 

11      Q.   And I'll get to that in some questions.  I'm just 

12  asking, you were not allowed to accompany her -- accompany 

13  her -- 

14      A.   No. 

15      Q.   -- when she left the ranch? 

16      A.   No, sir, I was not. 

17      Q.   When were you reunited with your daughter? 

18      A.   On Sunday. 

19      Q.   And where was that? 

20      A.   That was at Fort Concho. 

21                THE COURT:  All right.  Just one -- let's see. 

22  The city's having trouble hearing.  Can you-all do something 

23  about that?  Maybe let's put this -- he's going to move the 

24  microphone. 
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25                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, I think if she'll
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1  just use that mike more than the one in the aud- -- or in the 

2  courtroom, it would help. 

3                THE COURT:  But then the courtroom can't hear 

4  her.  So I think we've got it.  Let's try it this way, Sheri. 

5  High sign me if it's not working.  All right. 

6      Q.   (MR. HARALSON) Now you stated you were separated from 

7  Marva at this time.  When were you again separated from her? 

8      A.   I was separated from her on Monday, April 14th. 

9      Q.   And have you been allowed to see her since? 

10      A.   No. 

11      Q.   Has this been a good experience for Marva, based on 

12  your observations? 

13      A.   No, sir. 

14      Q.   Up until this incident that brings us all here 

15  together today, has Marva ever been separate from you? 

16      A.   No. 

17      Q.   Now you understand that the Department, CPS, has 

18  temporary custody of Marva? 

19      A.   Yes. 

20      Q.   Do you believe it is in Marva's best interest that she 

21  be allowed to be with you? 

22      A.   Yes. 

23      Q.   Do you understand that even if after this hearing you 

24  are allowed to be with Marva it might be under conditions set 

25  forth by CPS?
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1      A.   Yes, I do. 

2      Q.   Do you understand -- do you understand that CPS may 

3  require you to do certain things in order to remain in custody 

4  or at least in the company of your daughter? 

5      A.   Yes, I do. 

6      Q.   Are you willing to do whatever is required of you so 

7  that your daughter can remain with you? 

8      A.   Yes. 

9      Q.   If that means that you must leave the ranch to be with 

10  your daughter in another place, are you willing to do that? 

11      A.   Yes. 

12      Q.   Are you willing to take whatever measures are 

13  necessary to insure CPS and this Court, which has an interest 

14  in the safety of your child, that your child will be 

15  safeguarded while in your company? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   Would you ever allow your daughter Marva to marry 

18  before the age of eighteen? 

19      A.   No, I will not. 

20      Q.   Do you have a say in what happens to your daughter? 

21      A.   Yes, I do. 

22      Q.   Do you have a say in what happens to your daughter at 

23  the ranch if everyone were there? 

24      A.   Yes. 

25      Q.   Who is the primary caretaker of your daughter?
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1      A.   Right now or -- 
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2      Q.   In general. 

3      A.   I am. 

4      Q.   Who's responsible for what happens with her? 

5      A.   I am. 

6      Q.   Is it within your power, as Marva's mother, to refuse 

7  to allow her to marry before the age of eighteen? 

8      A.   Yes, it is. 

9      Q.   And is that something that you will do? 

10      A.   Yes. 

11      Q.   Regardless of consequences? 

12      A.   Yes. 

13                MR. HARALSON:  Pass the witness. 

14                THE COURT:  From the Department. 

15                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

16  BY MS. GRIFFITH: 

17      Q.   Ma'am, could you spell your name for me, please, your 

18  first name? 

19      A.   Yes, M-E-R-I-L-Y-N. 

20      Q.   And have you used any other first or last names when 

21  communicating with the Department? 

22      A.   No.  No, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Okay.  And your daughter's name is spelled how? 

24      A.   M-A-R-V-A. 

25      Q.   And her father is Wendell?
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1      A.   Yes. 

2      Q.   And his middle name? 

3      A.   Loy. 

4      Q.   L-O-Y? 
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5      A.   (Nodded head.) 

6      Q.   You have to say "yes" or "no." 

7      A.   Yes.  Thank you. 

8      Q.   And, ma'am, have you -- you've been here throughout 

9  this testimony? 

10      A.   Yes. 

11      Q.   Okay.  And you heard people say that a lot of 

12  different names were given by the children? 

13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   Have you ever instructed your child to give a 

15  different name? 

16      A.   No. 

17      Q.   Are you familiar with most of the people at YFZ Ranch? 

18      A.   Yes, some. 

19      Q.   How long have you been there? 

20      A.   Since '04. 

21      Q.   And do you -- do you talk to the other ladies on the 

22  ranch? 

23      A.   Yes, some. 

24      Q.   And do you talk about family relationships? 

25      A.   Explain that.
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1      Q.   Do you talk about your husbands or your children? 

2      A.   You mean, just -- 

3      Q.   Just conversation. 

4      A.   Oh, yes, uh-huh. 

5      Q.   Do you talk about when somebody gets married or when 

6  somebody has a baby? 

7      A.   Yes. 
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8      Q.   Are you familiar with -- let me back up.  Is there a 

9  particular ceremony for marriage? 

10      A.   Yes. 

11      Q.   And does that ceremony take place in the temple, the 

12  meeting hall, where does that take place? 

13                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, I have an objection 

14  to make. 

15                THE COURT:  Come on to the microphone. 

16                MR. HARALSON:  I don't believe this is relevant 

17  to the issues before the Court in consideration of whether or 

18  not the children should be returned, or at least my client's 

19  child, who is seven-years-old, should be returned to the 

20  custody of my client, based on the standards set forth in the 

21  provision regarding the 14-day hearing. 

22                THE COURT:  All right.  Why is it relevant? 

23                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, the Department's 

24  position is that this is one household.  And as everyone is 

25  aware, the Family Code does permit the Court to consider
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1  whether or not a member of a household has committed sexual 

2  abuse when looking at the other children and the dangers to the 

3  other children in that house. 

4                I need to establish whether or not this lady is 

5  familiar with the practices regarding the marriage and the age 

6  of marriage. 

7                THE COURT:  Would you like to respond to that, 

8  Mr. Haralson? 

9                MR. HARALSON:  Yes, ma'am.  I don't see how that 

10  is relevant for a seven-year-old child at this time when the 
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11  Court is deciding whether or not the child should be reunited 

12  with its mother and, wherein, should the Court keep continuing 

13  jurisdiction of this, there will be safety plans and other 

14  measures in place and will be reviewed by the Court by the next 

15  60-day hearing and then periodically after that. 

16                THE COURT:  I understand.  Overruled.  Please 

17  answer the question. 

18                THE WITNESS:  Would you state it again? 

19      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Where do the marriages take place? 

20      A.   My marriage took place in Short Creek. 

21      Q.   Okay.  Have there been marriages at YFZ since you came 

22  there in 2004? 

23      A.   I have not witnessed any. 

24      Q.   Have there been marriages that you know about? 

25                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, another objection as
 

259 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  to hearsay. 

2                THE COURT:  Sustained. 

3      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Have you -- let me ask you this.  Do 

4  you know Mr. LeRoy Steed? 

5      A.   I know of him. 

6      Q.   Do you know of his wife Elizabeth Lavern Jessop? 

7      A.   I have seen her before. 

8      Q.   Do you know who she is? 

9      A.   To her face, yes. 

10      Q.   Do you -- 

11                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, I object as to what 

12  relevance this has to the particular case involving my client 

13  and her child. 
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14                THE COURT:  Overruled. 

15      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Do you know how old she is? 

16      A.   I do not. 

17      Q.   Do you ever talk to her? 

18      A.   I have greeted her once or twice. 

19      Q.   Do you have -- how old -- your daughter is eight? 

20      A.   She's seven. 

21      Q.   Almost eight? 

22      A.   Yes. 

23      Q.   Okay.  Do you have family members in your household 

24  who have been married since you came to the ranch? 

25      A.   Just a moment while I think back.
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1                Yes. 

2      Q.   Who has been married? 

3      A.   I have some sisters that have. 

4      Q.   And I want to clarify.  When we talk about your 

5  household, what do you consider to be your household? 

6      A.   When you say "my household," I consider that my mother 

7  and her children. 

8      Q.   Okay.  Does your mother live in the building that you 

9  live in now? 

10      A.   You mean at our home? 

11      Q.   That's why I wanted to clarify.  Your household 

12  includes your mother, correct? 

13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   You have to say "yes" or "no." 

15      A.   Thank you. 

16      Q.   But the building you live in is not where your mother 
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17  lives, correct? 

18      A.   Yes.  She lives with me. 

19      Q.   She does live there? 

20      A.   Yes. 

21      Q.   Okay.  Are there a number of different people who live 

22  in the same building with you? 

23      A.   Yes. 

24      Q.   Okay.  When the Department's talking about 

25  "household," we have a different meaning than you do.  And I
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1  want to understand what your meaning of "household" is.  So 

2  when I say: Who lives in your household, are you talking about 

3  everyone in your building or are you just talking about your 

4  mother's family? 

5      A.   My mother's family. 

6      Q.   Okay.  You said you have a sister who's been married 

7  since 2004, correct? 

8      A.   Yes. 

9      Q.   How old is your sister? 

10      A.   I'm trying to remember. 

11                Right now? 

12      Q.   Right now. 

13      A.   She's nineteen. 

14      Q.   And when did she get married? 

15      A.   I don't know. 

16      Q.   She didn't tell you when she got married? 

17      A.   No, ma'am. 

18      Q.   How do you know she's married? 

19      A.   Because she has a child. 

Page 236



4-18-08 
20      Q.   Okay.  Well, how do you know when someone on YFZ Ranch 

21  is going to get married? 

22      A.   After it is done, they come and we congratulate them. 

23      Q.   Okay.  And after your sister was married, did she come 

24  to be congratulated? 

25      A.   Yes, she did.
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1      Q.   And when was that? 

2      A.   I do not know the date.  I'm sorry. 

3      Q.   Okay.  Was it a year ago, two years ago, three years 

4  ago? 

5                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, I object.  She's 

6  badgering the witness.  She stated she does not know the date. 

7                THE COURT:  Mr. Haralson, overruled.  If you can, 

8  answer the question.  If you can't, simply say:  I can't. 

9                THE WITNESS:  I can't answer that question. 

10  Thank you, Judge. 

11                THE COURT:  Next question. 

12      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) How old is your sister's baby? 

13      A.   I -- I cannot be exact on that, ma'am. 

14      Q.   Can you estimate for me? 

15      A.   I estimate two. 

16      Q.   Two years old? 

17      A.   (Nodded head). 

18      Q.   You have to say "yes" or "no." 

19      A.   Thank you.  Yes. 

20      Q.   And how old was your sister when the baby was born? 

21      A.   I don't know, ma'am. 

22      Q.   You don't remember your sister's age? 
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23      A.   She was nineteen -- she's nineteen now, so it would 

24  just be an estimate. 

25      Q.   And how long after she married did she have this baby?
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1      A.   I don't know. 

2      Q.   Is it that you don't know or that you don't remember? 

3      A.   I -- yes, I don't remember. 

4                MR. HARALSON:  Object, Your Honor.  The witness's 

5  answer speaks for itself. 

6                THE COURT:  Overruled.  I think she's trying to 

7  clarify that. 

8      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) You don't remember? 

9      A.   Right. 

10      Q.   You said you have another sister who married, correct? 

11      A.   Yes. 

12      Q.   How old is that sister? 

13      A.   She is -- I believe -- I believe she is eighteen. 

14      Q.   Okay.  When did she marry? 

15      A.   I don't know. 

16      Q.   Do you remember congratulating her on her marriage? 

17      A.   Yes, I do. 

18      Q.   Did that marriage happen at YFZ Ranch? 

19      A.   Yes. 

20      Q.   Okay.  That marriage happen more than a year ago? 

21      A.   Yes. 

22      Q.   Do you know if it was more than two years ago? 

23      A.   I don't. 

24      Q.   And what is this sister's name? 

25      A.   Pamela.
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1      Q.   Does Pamela have any children? 

2      A.   Yes. 

3      Q.   How old is Pamela's child? 

4      A.   I estimate one. 

5      Q.   Okay.  Is Pamela's child walking? 

6      A.   Yes. 

7      Q.   Okay.  How long do you think this child's been walking? 

8      A.   I don't know, ma'am. 

9      Q.   Do you see Pamela's child very often? 

10      A.   Not now. 

11      Q.   Did you see Pamela's child on a regular basis when you 

12  were at YFZ Ranch? 

13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   Okay.  You don't remember what -- let me ask it this 

15  way.  Was it summer or winter when this child started walking? 

16      A.   I don't remember. 

17      Q.   Do you know of any other marriages or recall any other 

18  marriages in the last two to three years? 

19      A.   No, ma'am. 

20      Q.   Do you know of any girls who have been married at 

21  fifteen? 

22      A.   I do not, personally. 

23      Q.   When your daughter is fifteen, if the prophet chooses 

24  for her to be married, will you comply with that? 

25      A.   I will have her wait.
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1      Q.   And have you always felt that way or is that recent? 

2      A.   I -- personally, I was married at twenty.  And that is 

3  a good age. 

4      Q.   But my question is, have you always felt that way in 

5  regards to your daughter? 

6      A.   Yes. 

7      Q.   Okay.  So before all of this happened, it didn't 

8  matter what the prophet said about marriage? 

9      A.   We -- we have a choice. 

10      Q.   I understand you have a choice.  If the prophet said 

11  that your daughter was fifteen and should marry, would you 

12  suggest that your daughter should marry? 

13      A.   No, I will not. 

14      Q.   And you are not familiar with the ages of any of the 

15  recent marriages in the last three years of the brides on the 

16  ranch? 

17      A.   No, ma'am, I am not. 

18                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you.  I'll pass the witness. 

19                THE COURT:  The ad litem for the child. 

20                MS. HENDRICKS:  Susan Hendricks, Your Honor.  I 

21  apologize, I have a sore throat, so I hope you can hear me.  I 

22  represent the seven-year-old daughter, Marva Nielsen. 

23                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

24  BY MS. HENDRICKS: 

25      Q.   Ms. Jeffs, you and I have met before; is that right?
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1      A.   Yes. 

2      Q.   And how did that meeting come about?  Did I arrange 

3  for it?  How did that happen? 
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4      A.   My attorney arranged for it. 

5      Q.   And were you willing to speak with me? 

6      A.   Yes. 

7      Q.   Have you ever willingly abandoned your daughter? 

8      A.   Absolutely not. 

9      Q.   How did she come to be separated from you? 

10      A.   The Department took her from me. 

11      Q.   And were you given the option to go to a shelter? 

12      A.   A few days later I was. 

13      Q.   And did you decide to go to the shelter? 

14      A.   Yes, so I could be with her. 

15      Q.   And did you do that? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   You did go to the shelter? 

18      A.   Yes. 

19      Q.   And then at the time that you were last separated, did 

20  you have an option to go to the shelter? 

21      A.   No. 

22      Q.   Why not? 

23      A.   I don't know why. 

24      Q.   Did you want to go to the shelter? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And what prevented you from going there? 

2      A.   The Department told us we could not be with our 

3  children. 

4      Q.   Can you tell us why you would refuse to allow your 

5  daughter to be married before the age of eighteen? 

6      A.   Because I want to protect her. 
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7      Q.   And do you know what the legal requirements in the 

8  State of Texas are for marriage? 

9      A.   I do not. 

10      Q.   Do you know if it will be lawful for your daughter to 

11  marry before the age of eighteen? 

12      A.   I do not. 

13      Q.   If you knew that it was unlawful, what would your 

14  position be about marriage before the age of eighteen? 

15      A.   I would have her wait till she was of marriageable 

16  age. 

17      Q.   Has anyone at the YFZ Ranch ever physically harmed 

18  your daughter? 

19      A.   No, ma'am. 

20                MS. HENDRICKS:  Pass the witness. 

21                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Mr. Haralson? 

22                MR. HARALSON:  I have no redirect, Your Honor. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Thank you, ma'am.  You 

24  may step down. 

25                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
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1                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am? 

2                MS. DELONG:  I was in the hallway going over this 

3  with my client when you called and asked if there were any 

4  mothers.  I have a client to testify. 

5                THE COURT:  Okay.  Can you give me her name, 

6  please? 

7                MS. DELONG:  My name is -- 

8                THE COURT:  Not your name, your client's name. 

9                MS. DELONG:  Lori Jessop. 
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10                THE COURT:  Ms. Jessop. 

11                MS. DELONG:  That's cause numbers -- 

12                THE COURT:  We're by names, just -- 

13                MS. DELONG:  Okay. 

14                THE COURT:  If your -- would your client come on 

15  in. 

16                MS. DELONG:  Yes, Ms. Jessop. 

17                THE COURT:  Please have a seat.  All right.  Now, 

18  do you have one of the forms? 

19                MS. DELONG:  Yes, Your Honor.  She has two cases. 

20  I only got one form, but -- 

21                THE COURT:  One form is all I need. 

22                MS. DELONG:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

24                All right.  Have you been -- would you state your 

25  name, please.
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1                THE WITNESS:  Lori Jessop. 

2                THE COURT:  Okay.  You are so wonderfully soft 

3  spoken. 

4                THE WITNESS:  Excuse me. 

5                THE COURT:  Slide your chair closer.  Yell at me. 

6                THE WITNESS:  Lori Jessop. 

7                THE COURT:  Perfect.  Can you hear over in the 

8  city auditorium? 

9                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, Judge. 

10                THE COURT:  Thank you, Sheri.  All right.  And 

11  you've been sworn; is that correct? 

12                DISTRICT CLERK:  I'm getting -- 
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13                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

14                DISTRICT CLERK:  I'm getting mixed reviews, so 

15  maybe speak up a little bit louder. 

16                THE COURT:  All right.  You have been sworn -- 

17                THE WITNESS:  No. 

18                THE COURT:  No.  Raise your right hand. 

19                (Witness sworn.) 

20                THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

21                THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may proceed. 

22 

23 

24 

25
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1                            LORI JESSOP 

2  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

3                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

4  BY MS. DELONG: 

5      Q.   Would you state your name for the record? 

6      A.   Lori Jessop. 

7      Q.   And you are how old? 

8      A.   Twenty-five. 

9      Q.   And are you married? 

10      A.   Yes. 

11      Q.   And what's your husband's name? 

12      A.   Joseph Jessop. 

13      Q.   And how old is he? 

14      A.   Twenty-seven. 

15      Q.   And do you have any children? 
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16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   What are their names? 

18      A.   Zioanna Jessop, Joseph Edson Jessop, Joseph Steed 

19  Jessop, Jr. 

20      Q.   And what are their ages? 

21      A.   Zioanna is four, Joseph Edson is two-and-a-half, and 

22  Joseph Steed Jr. is eleven months. 

23      Q.   Okay.  And we have heard testimony about the living 

24  arrangements out at the ranch.  How many people live in your -- 

25  your dwelling?
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1      A.   Five. 

2      Q.   That would be yourself, your husband, and your three 

3  children? 

4      A.   Yes. 

5      Q.   And do you have your own kitchen? 

6      A.   Yes. 

7      Q.   Do you share any living space with anyone else, any 

8  other families? 

9      A.   No. 

10      Q.   Now, there's been a lot of concern over the age of 

11  marriage.  What did your parents tell you about when you should 

12  get married? 

13      A.   Explain that. 

14      Q.   Okay.  What were you told about getting married and 

15  when you should do it? 

16      A.   When I felt capable of taking care of the 

17  responsibilities that a married woman would.  I did not marry 

18  until I was eighteen. 

Page 245



4-18-08 

19      Q.   Okay.  Now do you think eighteen is a good age? 

20      A.   Sometimes I felt immature at eighteen. 

21      Q.   Now, did you ever live outside the F- -- of your 

22  religious family? 

23      A.   Yes. 

24      Q.   And what did you do?  Have you gone to school?  Let me 

25  ask that.
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1      A.   Yes. 

2      Q.   Did you go to a college? 

3      A.   Yes. 

4      Q.   And did you get training in any kind of field? 

5      A.   Yes. 

6      Q.   And what kind of field is that? 

7      A.   I went to college for EMT training, received 

8  certificates for intermediate in EMT training. 

9      Q.   And then did you start schooling for further studies? 

10      A.   Yes, I took perquisites for a paramedic course. 

11      Q.   And then what came along? 

12      A.   I started out and decided to stay home and take care 

13  of my baby. 

14      Q.   And were you given the choice to go to school and get 

15  some training if that's what you wanted? 

16      A.   Yes, I did do further training.  I had gone to several 

17  EMS conferences, several ongoing training to keep my 

18  certification. 

19      Q.   Did you feel that as a female you had that choice? 

20      A.   Yes. 

21      Q.   The fact that your husband and you, after you got 
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22  married, had some disagreements about paramedic training? 

23      A.   He did not want me to take the training. 

24      Q.   And did you anyway? 

25      A.   Yes, I wanted to.
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1      Q.   Okay.  Now did you actually work as a EMT person in 

2  ambulances? 

3      A.   Yes. 

4      Q.   And what are some of the things that you saw that you 

5  did not like? 

6      A.   I saw a lot of drug abuse, alcohol abuse, violence. 

7      Q.   And in -- at Eldorado, what kind of life do you have? 

8      A.   Very wonderful life. 

9      Q.   Is there drug abuse? 

10      A.   No. 

11      Q.   Is there alcohol abuse? 

12      A.   No, ma'am. 

13      Q.   Have you ever seen any kind of family violence? 

14      A.   I have not in Eldorado. 

15      Q.   Now, the Court is concerned, and her decision today 

16  has to be that you can protect your children.  Are you still 

17  with your three children? 

18      A.   Yes. 

19      Q.   And ever since you left the ranch you've been in 

20  possession of your children? 

21      A.   Yes. 

22      Q.   Under supervision of Child Protective Services? 

23      A.   Yes.  Yes. 

24      Q.   You're been at Fort Concho? 
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25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And now you're at the coliseum? 

2      A.   Yes. 

3      Q.   And you've made sure your children's needs are being 

4  met? 

5      A.   Yes.  They have seen the doctor several times. 

6      Q.   Well, that's another question I was going to ask. 

7  Prior to all of this, have you taken your children for any kind 

8  of medical exams? 

9      A.   Yes. 

10      Q.   What kind of medical exams? 

11      A.   They have been to well child checkups.  They have seen 

12  dentists. 

13      Q.   And your oldest child who's four, you do have a birth 

14  certificate for her? 

15      A.   Yes. 

16      Q.   And a social security number? 

17      A.   Yes. 

18      Q.   And when you were living in -- was it Utah? 

19      A.   Yes. 

20      Q.   You filed income taxes? 

21      A.   Yes. 

22      Q.   How long have you been at Eldorado? 

23      A.   Since the beginning of '05.  I have not stayed there 

24  consistently.  I've been back and forth. 

25      Q.   You've been back and forth between here and Utah?
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1      A.   There and other states. 

2      Q.   Okay.  And -- but off-and-on you've been coming to and 

3  from Eldorado for two years? 

4      A.   Yes. 

5      Q.   Okay.  Now, if the Court chooses to leave the children 

6  in your possession, but allow you to leave the coliseum, would 

7  you promise to abide by whatever rules or conditions that are 

8  set? 

9      A.   Yes, I would. 

10      Q.   If the Court said you need parenting classes, would 

11  you go to parenting classes? 

12      A.   I would. 

13      Q.   If they told you you needed to take some -- you know, 

14  you need to get out and get a job in the community, would you 

15  do that? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   Are you asking the Court today to allow you to leave 

18  the coliseum with your children? 

19      A.   Yes. 

20                MS. DELONG:  I pass the witness. 

21                THE COURT:  Thank you.  The Department? 

22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MS. RICHARDS: 

24      Q.   Ms. Jessop, are you familiar with the family -- a 

25  Father's Family Information Sheet, Bishop's Records?
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1      A.   Explain that. 
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2                MS. RICHARDS:  May I approach, Your Honor? 

3                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

4      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) I'm going to show you a copy of one. 

5  Do you recognize this document? 

6      A.   Yes. 

7      Q.   Who filled it out? 

8      A.   My husband. 

9      Q.   And would it be important to be extremely truthful in 

10  a report to the bishop? 

11      A.   Yes. 

12      Q.   And so if we've got documents that indicate numerous 

13  occasions of men being married to underaged women on Bishop's 

14  Records, they would be presumed to be accurate? 

15      A.   I do not fill out their reports.  I filled out ours or 

16  my husband filled out ours, which is accurate. 

17      Q.   And it's important to be accurate with the bishop's 

18  report; is that correct? 

19      A.   As far as I'm concerned. 

20      Q.   Yes.  Who owns your home? 

21      A.   I don't know. 

22                MS. DELONG:  This is irrelevant, Your Honor. 

23  This is a 14-day hearing.  I'm sorry. 

24                THE COURT:  You're making the objection 

25  irrelevant.  But you did ask her about the house and how it was
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1  configured, so didn't you kind of put that into play? 

2                MS. DELONG:  Well, for the 14-day -- 

3                THE COURT:  Guess how I'm going to rule on this. 

4                Answer the question, if you can. 
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5                THE WITNESS:  I do not know. 

6      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) If someone from the church came and 

7  said that you have to move to another house, even if it was at 

8  the YFZ Ranch, would that be something that you would just have 

9  to do? 

10      A.   Unless I said no. 

11      Q.   Well, do you have a right to -- do you have an 

12  ownership right in that property so that you could refuse them 

13  the right to kick you out? 

14      A.   No. 

15      Q.   So, basically, if someone there said:  Ms. Jessop, 

16  you're a very nice lady, but we want you to live somewhere 

17  else -- 

18                MS. DELONG:  Your Honor, I'm going to object. 

19                THE COURT:  This -- there's an objection. 

20                MS. DELONG:  This is speculation.  This is not 

21  the situation right at this time.  We're here for a 14-day 

22  hearing.  And you can enter orders -- you can enter orders 

23  where any client can live or she cannot live. 

24                THE COURT:  Can I order someone to live in a 

25  house that she has no title to?
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1                MS. DELONG:  No, but you can order my client that 

2  if you are moved into a multi-fit family dwelling you're not -- 

3  you are not allowed to do that. 

4                THE COURT:  A multi-family dwelling? 

5                MS. DELONG:  Or however you want to word it. 

6                THE COURT:  Thanks.  Overruled. 

7                MS. DELONG:  Thank you. 
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8      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) If you were ordered to leave your 

9  current residence and move into one of the multi-family 

10  dwellings, you would have to do so, wouldn't you? 

11      A.   Yes. 

12      Q.   If you were, in fact, ordered to leave YFZ Ranch and 

13  move to another location, you would have to do that, as well, 

14  wouldn't you? 

15      A.   Yes. 

16      Q.   And, in fact, if that order came down tomorrow or even 

17  tonight, you would have to pack up and go; is that right? 

18      A.   Yes. 

19      Q.   Because you don't -- you don't own the property.  It's 

20  not your decision, is it? 

21      A.   Yes. 

22      Q.   Does it concern you that there are girls who are 

23  fifteen, sixteen, getting married? 

24      A.   Yes. 

25      Q.   Does it concern you that they're having babies?
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1      A.   Yes. 

2      Q.   Would you -- have you ever lived in a family where 

3  that was taking place? 

4      A.   No, ma'am. 

5      Q.   But it is taking place out at YFZ Ranch; is that 

6  correct? 

7      A.   I have heard.  I do not know what other people's 

8  personal -- my personal knowledge, I do not know. 

9      Q.   Have you ever seen a pregnant woman? 

10      A.   Yes, I've been pregnant three times. 
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11      Q.   So you know what they look like? 

12      A.   Yes. 

13      Q.   And you have had medical training, so you're -- 

14      A.   Yes. 

15      Q.   -- pretty aware? 

16      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

17      Q.   Can you basically judge what a teenager looks like? 

18      A.   Do I look like a teenager? 

19                THE COURT:  Answer the question. 

20                THE WITNESS:  I could guess an age, but I -- a 

21  lot of people told me that I looked like a teenager. 

22      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Have you seen girls that you knew were 

23  teenagers who were obviously pregnant? 

24      A.   I do not know their ages, but, yes, I've seen 

25  teenagers pregnant.
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1      Q.   Thank you.  Where was your youngest child, your son, 

2  born? 

3      A.   Texas. 

4      Q.   Was he born at the YFZ Ranch? 

5      A.   At home. 

6      Q.   At home.  Does he have a birth certificate? 

7      A.   No, he does not. 

8      Q.   Does your nineteen -- I'm sorry, Joseph, does he have 

9  a birth certificate? 

10      A.   No, he does not. 

11      Q.   Is there a reason why you chose not to register his 

12  birth? 

13      A.   I am in the process of getting birth certificates, 
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14  before this happened. 

15      Q.   How old is Joseph now? 

16      A.   He's two-and-a-half. 

17      Q.   And you're deciding to register his birth at this 

18  time? 

19      A.   I'm -- I've been trying for several -- a very long 

20  time. 

21      Q.   But just haven't gotten around to it? 

22      A.   I'm working on it. 

23                MS. RICHARDS:  Okay.  I'll pass the witness. 

24                THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

25                THE COURT:  The ad litems for the children.
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1                Sheri, do we have the ad litems for Joseph Jessop 

2  Jr?  Say your daughter's name for me. 

3                THE WITNESS:  Zioanna. 

4                THE COURT:  Zioanna.  Any of the -- any of the ad 

5  litems? 

6                DISTRICT CLERK:  Here comes an attorney now. 

7                THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you. 

8                DISTRICT CLERK:  Here's comes an attorney. 

9                MS. PIOTROWSKI:  Your Honor, my name is Karen 

10  Piotrowski.  I represent a Joseph Jessop, but this is not the 

11  mother that I interviewed. 

12                THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, we'll obviously get back 

13  to you, maybe.  Okay? 

14                MS. PIOTROWSKI:  All right.  Thank you. 

15                THE COURT:  Yes. 

16                MS. DUSEK:  Excuse me. 

Page 254



4-18-08 
17                THE COURT:  The ad litem at large. 

18                MS. DUSEK:  To some extent, Your Honor. 

19  Although, for the Court -- and this is Carmen Symes Dusek. 

20  Based upon the records that I have, we do have an attorney ad 

21  litem who has been appointed to represent -- is it Zioanna? 

22                THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

23                MS. DUSEK:  Your daughter?  Your Honor, that 

24  attorney's name is Lori DeAngelis. 

25                THE COURT:  Is Ms. DeAngelis still here?  Okay.
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1  Next.  Do we have another? 

2                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

3                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

4                DISTRICT CLERK:  There were many attorneys that 

5  had to leave if they were from out of town, and they put Randy 

6  and Carmen as their spokesperson. 

7                THE COURT:  Okay.  Spokesperson. 

8                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

9  BY MS. DUSEK: 

10      Q.   Would it be fair to say that you would -- you -- you 

11  very much want your children to come back to you; is that a 

12  fair question? 

13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   Would it be fair to say that you'd do anything to get 

15  your children back? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   Would it be fair to say that you would tell the Judge 

18  what you thought she wanted to hear to get your children back? 

19      A.   I would tell the Judge what I felt.  I would do 
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20  whatever I could do to get my children back. 

21                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, unless there's any other 

22  attorney ad litem present, I'll pass the witness. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

24                MS. DELONG:  Just -- 

25                THE COURT:  Redirect?
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1                MS. DELONG:  -- one brief question. 

2                       REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

3  BY MS. DELONG: 

4      Q.   If you were told you had to move out tonight, would 

5  you find a safe place for you and your children? 

6      A.   Yes, I would. 

7      Q.   Does your husband have any underage women living in 

8  your residence? 

9      A.   No, he does not. 

10      Q.   Do you know of any other women who came to be his wife? 

11      A.   I do not. 

12      Q.   And you are not telling the Judge just what she wants 

13  to hear when you say you'll do anything for your children -- 

14                MS. DUSEK:  Objection, Your Honor.  Asked and 

15  answered. 

16                THE COURT:  Leading also would be a really good 

17  one on that one. 

18                MS. DELONG:  I was going to say:  What do you 

19  mean by that? 

20                THE COURT:  Any new ground? 

21                MS. DELONG:  No, Your Honor. 

22                THE COURT:  Thank you. 
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23                MS. DELONG:  Thank you. 

24                THE COURT:  You may have a seat, ma'am.  Thank 

25  you very much.
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1                The next attorney that wants to volunteer. 

2                We need your client. 

3                MS. GUION:  I have my sheet here, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

5                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, may I approach and make a 

6  request? 

7                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, simply as -- as the 

9  parties testify to who their children are, if -- if the 

10  attorneys could have them -- them take a brief pause so that we 

11  can get that written down and cross-reference to assist the 

12  Court on who the ad litem is, that would be a help to myself 

13  and Mr. Stout. 

14                THE COURT:  All right.  We'll try to do that. 

15                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

16                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.  You didn't hear that? 

17                DISTRICT CLERK:  I tried -- we -- yes.  We also 

18  tried to write the attorney ad litem on your worksheet, as 

19  well.  So you may have that information in front of you. 

20                THE COURT:  All right.  You are -- would you 

21  state your name, please. 

22                THE WITNESS:  Linda Musser. 

23                THE COURT:  This is Linda Musser. 

24                THE WITNESS:  M-U-S-S-E-R, Musser. 

25                THE COURT:  Musser, thank you.
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1                THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

2                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  All right.  Let me find 

3  your file.  Have you been sworn, ma'am? 

4                THE WITNESS:  No. 

5                THE COURT:  All right.  Would you raise your 

6  right hand. 

7                (Witness sworn.) 

8                THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you very much.  You may proceed. 

10                MS. GUION:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

11                           LINDA MUSSER 

12  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

13                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

14  BY MS. GUION: 

15      Q.   Would you state your name, please. 

16      A.   Linda Musser. 

17      Q.   And you have a son by the name of Damian Jayson 

18  Musser; is that correct? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   And now does he go by Jayson? 

21      A.   Yes. 

22      Q.   Okay.  And how old is Jayson? 

23      A.   Thirteen. 

24      Q.   And he's in CPS custody today; is that correct? 

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      Q.   And how old are you, Ms. Musser? 

2      A.   I am fifty-six. 

3      Q.   And how old were you when you married Jayson's father? 

4      A.   Twenty. 

5      Q.   And are you still with his father today? 

6      A.   No, I am not. 

7      Q.   Can you tell -- tell me what happened? 

8      A.   We are legally divorced. 

9      Q.   And when were you divorced? 

10      A.   1999. 

11      Q.   Okay.  And can you tell us why you divorced? 

12      A.   Because he began drinking and other things that were 

13  not appropriate for the children to be around. 

14      Q.   Okay.  And can you explain that to us? 

15      A.   His drinking led to -- he had diabetes.  And so it 

16  didn't -- the drinking would make his blood sugars go way too 

17  high.  And he would come home and yell at children.  And his 

18  mood swings were so up and down that the children started to 

19  not even want to come home unless they'd call and say his -- 

20  what kind of mood is he in?  I don't want to come home or -- 

21      Q.   Okay.  So in the end, why did you divorce your 

22  husband? 

23      A.   We did it under circumstances of irreconcilable 

24  differences. 

25      Q.   Okay.
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1      A.   He just didn't want to do something different and it 

2  was for the children's sake. 

3      Q.   Do you feel like you were protecting your children? 
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4      A.   Yes, I do. 

5      Q.   Okay.  And the children remained with you after the 

6  divorce; is that correct? 

7      A.   Yes. 

8      Q.   Okay.  And were you with the church when you divorced? 

9      A.   Yes. 

10      Q.   Okay.  Now, you also have a daughter in Lubbock; is 

11  that correct? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   Okay.  Why is she in Lubbock? 

14      A.   She's a dialysis patient. 

15      Q.   Okay.  And why is she specifically in Lubbock, for the 

16  dialysis, but is there any other reason that you picked 

17  Lubbock? 

18      A.   Yes, she's had many major medical problems since she 

19  was born.  And that is where I was when they took -- picked up 

20  my son. 

21      Q.   And how old is your daughter? 

22      A.   Twenty-nine. 

23      Q.   She's twenty-nine.  Okay.  And how often do you visit 

24  with her? 

25      A.   I usually just stay right there with her when she's in
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1  the hospital. 

2      Q.   Okay.  And she's in the hospital right now, correct? 

3      A.   Yeah, she's still there. 

4      Q.   Okay.  And how do you get back and forth between San 

5  An- -- or Eldorado and Lubbock? 

6      A.   I drive. 

Page 260



4-18-08 

7      Q.   Okay.  So you have a driver's license? 

8      A.   Yes, I do. 

9      Q.   Okay.  And when you go, are you free to come and go as 

10  you need to? 

11      A.   Yes. 

12      Q.   And are you free to drive the automobile whenever you 

13  wish to? 

14      A.   Yes, if I need to. 

15      Q.   Okay.  Now, you also have older sons; is that correct? 

16      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

17      Q.   And they are over the age of eighteen? 

18      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

19      Q.   Okay.  And do they reside with you? 

20      A.   Two of them do not.  The other two -- all four of them 

21  don't, that are not married. 

22      Q.   Okay.  And how do you feel about them not living with 

23  you or around you? 

24      A.   Two of them chose a different way of life.  The other 

25  two just work and they're still with our religion, if you want
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1  to put -- put it that way.  The other two just decided they 

2  would rather have something else and they were free to go. 

3      Q.   And how do you feel about that -- 

4      A.   That is fine. 

5      Q.   -- them choosing to go elsewhere? 

6      A.   That is their decision.  That was their choice.  That 

7  was what they wanted. 

8      Q.   Okay.  Now are any of your children married? 

9      A.   Yes. 
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10      Q.   And at what age were they married? 

11      A.   Nineteen, twenty, twenty-one, twenty, and the other 

12  one's a son and he was over twenty. 

13      Q.   Okay.  All right.  And it was completely their choice 

14  to marry? 

15      A.   Yes. 

16      Q.   Okay.  Now at -- in Eldorado, do you see everyone 

17  every day? 

18      A.   No. 

19      Q.   Okay.  And is each child in each of the homes in 

20  Eldorado, are they exactly the same? 

21      A.   No.  They have their individual personalities. 

22      Q.   Okay.  And why do you think that is? 

23      A.   Because they have individual mothers. 

24      Q.   Okay.  Now are you willing -- or what are you willing 

25  to do in order to get Jayson back home to you?
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1      A.   If I need to move away, which if -- my choice would be 

2  in Lubbock, would be where I could take care of my older 

3  daughter that is in the hospital right now, where she would be 

4  close to medical facilities.  Whatever they required of me, I 

5  would do to the best of my ability to do it. 

6      Q.   So you're willing to do anything that either this 

7  court or Child Protective Services requires of you; is that 

8  correct? 

9      A.   Yes. 

10                MS. GUION:  Okay.  And I'll pass the witness, 

11  Your Honor. 

12                         CROSS EXAMINATION 
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13  BY MS. GRIFFITH: 

14      Q.   Now, you said you were divorced? 

15      A.   Yes. 

16      Q.   What was your husband's name? 

17      A.   Amos Milton Musser. 

18      Q.   Does he still live on the ranch? 

19      A.   No, he does not. 

20      Q.   Does he visit the ranch? 

21      A.   No. 

22      Q.   Does he visit your son? 

23      A.   No. 

24      Q.   And you have other children? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   They're adults? 

2      A.   Yes. 

3      Q.   And what are their first names? 

4      A.   Mary; Helen; Guy, who is no longer here.  He died. 

5  Margaret; Rulen; Amy; Marie, who is the one in Lubbock; John; 

6  David, Christopher; Joshua; Lindrith (sic); and Damian Jayson. 

7      Q.   Okay.  I want to ask you about Marie. 

8      A.   Okay. 

9      Q.   Okay.  You said she was twenty-nine? 

10      A.   Yes. 

11      Q.   What's her birthday? 

12      A.   January 16th of '79. 

13      Q.   Okay.  Does she have children? 

14      A.   No, she does not. 

15      Q.   Okay.  Who are, if you know, children named Lisa 
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16  Barlow, Ann Barlow and Tiffany Barlow? 

17      A.   I don't know them personally. 

18      Q.   Those are not Marie's children? 

19      A.   No. 

20      Q.   Do they live in the same building as Marie? 

21      A.   I'm not sure of all of the children in that building 

22  that I live in, because I haven't been there very long.  And I 

23  spend most of my time taking my daughter to medical facilities. 

24      Q.   And she's in the hospital now? 

25      A.   Yes.  I had to leave her alone to try to get Jayson.
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1      Q.   How long has she been there? 

2      A.   Sixty days. 

3      Q.   Do you have -- how long have you been at YFZ? 

4      A.   Moved there in August. 

5      Q.   This past August? 

6      A.   Yes. 

7      Q.   Do you know most of the ladies your age? 

8      A.   Not all of them. 

9      Q.   And are you familiar with the marriages that take 

10  place? 

11      A.   Not really. 

12      Q.   Are you aware of any girls under the age of seventeen 

13  that are married on the ranch? 

14      A.   No. 

15      Q.   Ma'am, you said you would do whatever the Department 

16  asked you to do.  Who's car is it that you take to Lubbock? 

17      A.   There's been several different ones.  I do not have a 

18  car, just whatever car they make available for me to use. 
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19      Q.   And -- 

20      A.   I just tell them I need to take her and they'll make a 

21  car available. 

22      Q.   And you don't own any property on the ranch? 

23      A.   No. 

24      Q.   Do you -- how would you make a living for yourself? 

25      A.   I have two sons that do construction work.  And they
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1  have already said that they would help me, probably get a 

2  vehicle.  And if I needed a place to live or stay, like I said, 

3  I would probably -- if it would be all right with the Court and 

4  you that -- to live in Lubbock where I would be closer to the 

5  hospital. 

6      Q.   And do they live in property that they own, 

7  themselves? 

8      A.   No. 

9      Q.   Who owns the property, if you know? 

10      A.   Pardon? 

11      Q.   Who owns the property where your sons live? 

12      A.   Well, they just travel around with the construction 

13  crew and stay with the guys wherever they stay, so they don't 

14  have a home.  But I know that they would do whatever it took to 

15  help me out in finding a place, financially, helping to take 

16  care of Jayson and -- 

17      Q.   Okay.  And do you know who owns the construction 

18  company they work for? 

19      A.   I do not. 

20      Q.   Do you know if it's affiliated with FLDS? 

21      A.   I'm guessing it probably does, because they are part 
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22  of the church, my sons are. 

23      Q.   And the construction company is part of the church? 

24      A.   That I don't know. 

25      Q.   Do they get a paycheck?
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1      A.   Yes, they do. 

2      Q.   Okay.  Do you happen to know where that comes from? 

3      A.   I do not. 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  Pass the witness. 

5                THE COURT:  Do we have an attorney ad litem for 

6  Jayson? 

7                MR. ROSS:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                THE COURT:  All right. 

9                MR. ROSS:  I'm Joe Will Ross, here for Don 

10  Griffis, who's the appointed ad litem for Jayson Musser, age 

11  thirteen. 

12                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

13  BY MR. ROSS: 

14      Q.   Ms. Musser? 

15      A.   Yes, sir. 

16      Q.   Is Jayson your son? 

17      A.   Yes, sir. 

18      Q.   My name is Joe Will Ross.  And is his date of birth 

19  August 29, '94? 

20      A.   Yes, sir. 

21      Q.   Thank you.  At the -- and you've been at the ranch 

22  since August of this -- of 2007; is that correct? 

23      A.   Yes, sir. 

24      Q.   And did you live in the same house with Jayson while 
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25  you were there?
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1      A.   Yes, sir. 

2      Q.   What house was that?  Does it have a number or 

3  anything like that? 

4      A.   No, sir. 

5      Q.   Okay.  Are there any other types of identifying 

6  numbers or anything to specify the house that y'all lived in? 

7      A.   No, sir. 

8      Q.   Does Jayson go to school while he's at the ranch? 

9      A.   Yes, sir. 

10      Q.   Is he still in school -- 

11      A.   Yes, sir. 

12      Q.   -- when he was there? 

13      A.   When he was there. 

14      Q.   What grade was he in? 

15      A.   6th. 

16      Q.   6th grade.  Are you his caretaker? 

17      A.   Yes, sir. 

18      Q.   What does Jayson do at the ranch? 

19      A.   He goes to school, and then sometimes he goes with 

20  some of the other young boys and works at the garden or usually 

21  works around the property there after school. 

22      Q.   You mentioned earlier that you would do whatever it 

23  takes, including moving to Lubbock to be closer to your 

24  daughter, Marie? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And you would take Jayson with you, right? 

2      A.   Yes, sir. 

3      Q.   Would you enroll him in schools in Lubbock? 

4      A.   If I had my choice, I would home school him.  But if 

5  that was your requirement. 

6      Q.   And would you insure that Jayson stayed with you while 

7  you stayed in Lubbock? 

8      A.   Insure his safety or -- 

9      Q.   No, that he live with you there. 

10      A.   Yes. 

11                MR. ROSS:  No further questions, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Redirect? 

13                MS. GUION:  No, Your Honor. 

14                THE COURT:  Thank you, ma'am.  You may step 

15  down.  Thank you for testifying. 

16                All right.  Yes?  And if your clients are coming 

17  with you, if you'll have one of them just come on with you. 

18                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, ma'am. 

19                THE COURT:  Could you tell us your client's name? 

20                MR. ALVAREZ:  Morning -- I mean, good afternoon, 

21  Your Honor.  Yes, Ms. Lucille Nielsen. 

22                THE COURT:  Okay.  Please have a seat up here, 

23  Ms. Nielsen. 

24                THE COURT:  All right.  Do I have her form? 

25                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, ma'am.
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1                THE COURT:  Thank you. 
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2                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you. 

3                THE COURT:  Mr. Stout, mumble softly.  All right. 

4  Would you state your name for the record, please. 

5                THE WITNESS:  Lucille Nielsen. 

6                THE COURT:  You are so soft spoken, like all the 

7  ladies.  You're going to have to shout at us. 

8                THE WITNESS:  Lucille Nielsen. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Have you been sworn? 

10                THE WITNESS:  No, ma'am. 

11                THE COURT:  Would you raise your right hand. 

12                (Witness sworn.) 

13                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am. 

14                THE COURT:  Thank you very much.  If you'll be 

15  more comfortable, you can slide that chair forward.  Okay. 

16  Thank you. 

17                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you, Judge. 

18                For the record, Mary Lou Alvarez, counsel for 

19  five of the respondent-mothers, including Ms. Lucille Nielsen. 

20                          LUCILLE NIELSEN 

21  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

22                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

23  BY MS. ALVAREZ: 

24      Q.   Ms. Nielsen, will you please state your name again for 

25  the records.
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1      A.   Lucille Nielsen. 

2      Q.   And, Ms. Nielsen, what is your date of birth? 

3      A.   4/23/83. 

4      Q.   And that makes you twenty-four-years-old at this time, 
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5  correct? 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

7      Q.   You're twenty-fifth birthday is next week, correct? 

8      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

9      Q.   Do you have any children? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11      Q.   How many children do you have? 

12      A.   One. 

13      Q.   And who is your child? 

14      A.   Wendell Loy Nielsen Jessop. 

15      Q.   And what is his date of birth? 

16      A.   4/26/06. 

17                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Could you -- could you 

18  tell me his name again, please, so I get it right? 

19                THE WITNESS:  Wendell Loy Nielsen Jessop. 

20                THE COURT:  Okay.  And -- and his second name is 

21  L-O-U? 

22                THE WITNESS:  L-O-Y. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

24      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) And how old is your son at this time? 

25      A.   One.
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1      Q.   And he is about to be two; is that correct? 

2      A.   Yes. 

3      Q.   How old were you when your son was born? 

4      A.   Twenty-three. 

5      Q.   And, Ms. Nielsen, why does your son have a different 

6  last name than you do? 

7      A.   He takes the name of his father. 
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8      Q.   And that's his biological father? 

9      A.   Yes. 

10      Q.   And who is his biological father? 

11      A.   Jim Jessop. 

12      Q.   And, Ms. Nielsen, what is your relationship with your 

13  son's biological father? 

14      A.   Can you rephrase that? 

15      Q.   Yes.  Your last name is Nielsen; is that correct? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   The biological father of your child's last name is 

18  Jessop; is that correct? 

19      A.   Yes. 

20      Q.   So in the civil context, you're not married to the 

21  biological father of your child; is that correct? 

22      A.   Yes. 

23      Q.   Do you have a different relationship with your child's 

24  father other than a civil marriage? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And what is that relationship? 

2      A.   A spiritual. 

3      Q.   It's a spiritual relationship? 

4      A.   Yes. 

5      Q.   Is that -- and if I use the term "spiritual marriage," 

6  is that the equivalent of a spiritual relationship? 

7      A.   Yes. 

8      Q.   And at what age -- or, excuse me, how old were you 

9  when you started the spiritual relationship or this spiritual 

10  marriage with your child's biological father? 
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11      A.   Nineteen, almost twenty. 

12      Q.   I'm sorry.  I couldn't hear your response. 

13      A.   Nineteen. 

14      Q.   And, Ms. Nielsen, I'd like for you to explain your 

15  family environment.  Who do you live with? 

16      A.   My husband. 

17      Q.   And for the record, when you state "husband," you're 

18  referring to your spiritual husband? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   And who else? 

21      A.   Sarah Jessop. 

22      Q.   And who is Sarah Jessop? 

23      A.   His legal wife. 

24      Q.   And when you say "legal wife," you're talking about 

25  his wife in the civil context; is that correct?
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1      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

2      Q.   And who else do you live with? 

3      A.   Megan Dockstader. 

4      Q.   And who is Megan? 

5      A.   Another sister-wife, so to speak. 

6      Q.   And when you say "sister-wife," does that mean this 

7  woman also shares a spiritual relationship with your child's 

8  biological father? 

9      A.   Yes. 

10      Q.   And who else lives in that household, in your 

11  household? 

12      A.   The children. 

13      Q.   And will you list the children for the Court and for 
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14  the record? 

15      A.   Yes.  Abram -- do I need to list their full names? 

16      Q.   I'm sorry? 

17      A.   Do I need to list their full names? 

18                MS. ALVAREZ:  Would the state like my client to 

19  list the full names or for expediency sake can we go through 

20  the list of the children? 

21                THE COURT:  First names will work for the Court. 

22                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you, Judge. 

23      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) Just the first names, Ms. Nielsen. 

24      A.   Abram, Katherine, Brandon, Ethena, Velvet, Wendell, 

25  and Rulen.
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1      Q.   And so, Ms. Nielsen, you -- you've identified seven 

2  children that live in your household; is that correct? 

3      A.   Yes. 

4      Q.   You have one biological child in this household -- 

5      A.   Yes. 

6      Q.   -- is that correct?  What are the ages of the children 

7  that live with you in your household, what age ranges? 

8      A.   From -- 

9      Q.   Do you know what I mean?  How old is the youngest 

10  child that lives in your household? 

11      A.   He is one. 

12      Q.   And is that your biological child? 

13      A.   No. 

14      Q.   And how old is the oldest child that lives in that 

15  household? 

16      A.   Nine. 

Page 273



4-18-08 
17      Q.   And do you participate in the care and the environment 

18  these children live in? 

19      A.   Yes. 

20      Q.   Describe for the Court what type of family environment 

21  or child rearing environment you provide or help provide for 

22  these children.  What type of education do they receive? 

23      A.   A school education.  The children of school age go to 

24  school; kindergarten age, to kindergarten. 

25      Q.   So the children are sent away from the home to go to
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1  school? 

2      A.   Yes. 

3      Q.   And do you help prepare meals for the children? 

4      A.   Yes. 

5      Q.   How many meals are prepared for the children on a 

6  daily basis? 

7      A.   Three meals and two snacks. 

8      Q.   And do you have bed times for the children when 

9  they're supposed to go to sleep? 

10      A.   Yes. 

11      Q.   And what time is that?  Does its vary by age? 

12      A.   The older ones, yes, but usually between 7:30 and 

13  8:30. 

14      Q.   And, Ms. Nielsen, if the children have any medical 

15  problems, do you seek or do you assist in seeking medical 

16  attention for their needs? 

17      A.   Yes. 

18      Q.   And how do you do that?  Is there a doctor that you 

19  can call? 
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20      A.   Yes.  Yes.  Yes, a doctor. 

21      Q.   So there is a doctor or medical facilities readily 

22  available for you and your household; is that correct? 

23      A.   Yes. 

24      Q.   What are your beliefs about marriage?  That's -- 

25  that's been part of the issue here that the State had brought.
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1  What are your beliefs about marriage? 

2      A.   I believe that a woman should not be married until she 

3  is mentally and physically mature and capable of taking care of 

4  a family. 

5      Q.   And do you believe that a woman knows that she is 

6  mentally, physically mature and capable of taking care of a 

7  family based on inspiration from the Heavenly Father? 

8      A.   Yes. 

9      Q.   And what does the Heavenly Father mean to you?  Who is 

10  the Heavenly Father? 

11      A.   Some people call him God.  Is that -- 

12      Q.   Okay.  So you recognize the Heavenly Father as your 

13  God? 

14      A.   Yes. 

15      Q.   And when you -- and how old do you believe, 

16  personally, a woman has to be in order to be mentally and 

17  physically prepared to raise a family? 

18      A.   In my situation, I was almost twenty.  I'd say that is 

19  a good age. 

20      Q.   Okay.  And let's talk about your situation.  How you 

21  got married -- 

22                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I object. 
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23  That was non-responsive. 

24                THE COURT:  I keep telling you I think that's the 

25  objection that the lawyer asking the question gets to make.
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1  Let's not have any more of those.  Okay?   Can you answer the 

2  question? 

3                THE WITNESS:  What was the question? 

4      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) Yes, Ms. Nielsen, what was your personal 

5  experience with marriage?  Did your father talk to you about 

6  marriage?  Did your mother talk to you about marriage?  And 

7  I'll do one question at a time, how about that? 

8      A.   Okay.  That's fine. 

9      Q.   I forget this is your first time testifying; is that 

10  correct? 

11      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

12      Q.   Okay.  What did your mother tell you about marriage? 

13      A.   Things a mother would tell a daughter. 

14      Q.   Okay.  And, for the Court, what are those things? 

15      A.   How to raise children, how to -- 

16      Q.   Did your mother explain to you how to love your 

17  husband? 

18      A.   Oh, yes. 

19      Q.   Did your mother explain to you that marriage should 

20  be -- or even a spiritual marriage should be because of the 

21  love of a husband or a spiritual husband? 

22      A.   Yes. 

23      Q.   Did your mother give you any other reason to marry 

24  other than for love, and marry both in the civil and in 

25  spiritual context?
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1      A.   To bring forth children. 

2      Q.   In order to have children? 

3      A.   Uh-huh. 

4      Q.   So your mother taught you that you have to have 

5  children in the context of marriage; is that correct? 

6      A.   You don't have to. 

7      Q.   But if you want to, that's the way to do it? 

8      A.   Yes. 

9      Q.   And what did your father tell you about marriage? 

10      A.   Can you -- 

11      Q.   Okay.  Did your father ever have any conversations 

12  with you about marriage? 

13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   When did he have a conversation with you about 

15  marriage, if you remember?  And when I say "when," I mean, how 

16  old were you when your father had a conversation with you about 

17  marriage? 

18      A.   He approached me at -- when I was eighteen.  And I 

19  told him I felt like I could wait a little longer. 

20      Q.   And when you say your father approached you when you 

21  were eighteen, does that mean that he asked you if you wanted 

22  to get married -- 

23      A.   Yes. 

24      Q.   -- when you were eighteen? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And you told him that you wanted to wait; is that 

2  correct? 

3      A.   Yes. 

4      Q.   And were you -- and did you marry when you were 

5  eighteen? 

6      A.   No. 

7      Q.   You married when you were twenty; is that correct? 

8      A.   Almost twenty. 

9      Q.   Almost twenty.  So is it fair to say that your father 

10  respected your wishes that you wished to wait before you got 

11  married? 

12      A.   Yes. 

13      Q.   How was life at the ranch?  At the ranch at issue, 

14  for the Court's information, what -- how do you live at the 

15  ranch?  What's your daily routine? 

16      A.   It is very peaceful.  You can feel the peace when 

17  you're there.  Very loving.  We raise our children through 

18  love.  We have our family devotions morning and night, gather 

19  together, sing, pray, read.  The children go to school, the 

20  younger children are cared for.  We take them to the garden, 

21  gather garbage off the streets. 

22      Q.   You gather what off the street? 

23      A.   We gather garbage, anything that flies around, just 

24  garbage that, like -- like you do in your communities. 

25      Q.   So you pick up the litter, make sure there's no litter
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1  on the streets? 

2      A.   Yes.  We keep it clean. 

3      Q.   Okay. 
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4      A.   We visit the elderly.  It's very peaceful.  We are 

5  peaceful people. 

6      Q.   Okay.  And will you, for the Court, describe what you 

7  know and what you've observed regarding the marrying practices 

8  at the ranch? 

9      A.   Can you ask it -- rephrase it? 

10      Q.   Yes.  And I'm sorry if my questions are confusing. 

11  I'm trying to get in a lot of information in as short amount of 

12  time as possible. 

13      A.   Okay. 

14      Q.   Getting to the issue in -- or what seems to be the 

15  issue in the case. 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   Do you know of any women who are under the age of 

18  eighteen who are married at the ranch? 

19      A.   I know of them. 

20      Q.   Okay.  And approximately how many women do you know 

21  that are married under the age of eighteen?  And these are just 

22  approximations. 

23      A.   I would guess a dozen. 

24      Q.   Okay.  And how many women do you know that are married 

25  under the age of sixteen at the ranch here in Texas?
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1      A.   I could not answer that.  I do not know. 

2      Q.   And approximately how many women -- how many married 

3  women are there at the ranch here in Texas?  And this is an 

4  approximation. 

5      A.   I don't know how many moms are at the coliseum, a 

6  hundred? 
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7      Q.   Well, then, about a hundred to a hundred and fifty 

8  women are married at the ranch; is that -- is that a fair -- 

9      A.   Yes. 

10      Q.   -- statement? 

11      A.   Yes. 

12      Q.   So of the hundred to a hundred and fifty women who are 

13  married at the ranch, only about a dozen of those women are 

14  under the age of eighteen; is that correct?  To your -- to -- 

15  to best of your knowledge? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   And there has been some testimony that there was 

18  concern regarding domestic -- domestic violence that women were 

19  experiencing at the ranch.  Now, how long have you lived -- and 

20  so we're going to talk about that. 

21      A.   Okay. 

22      Q.   How long have you lived at the ranch here in Texas? 

23      A.   Since '05. 

24      Q.   Since 2005? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   Okay.  So almost three years; is that correct? 

2      A.   Yes. 

3      Q.   Have you ever witnessed any -- any woman being 

4  physically abused -- 

5      A.   Never. 

6      Q.   -- at the ranch -- 

7      A.   Never. 

8      Q.   -- in three -- in the three years that you've lived 

9  there? 
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10      A.   Never. 

11      Q.   Have -- have you ever heard of or been party to a 

12  conversation where a woman either complained or looked -- 

13  complained of domestic violence experienced at the hands of 

14  her -- at the hands -- at the hands of her husband, spiritual 

15  or civil, or any other men at the ranch? 

16      A.   No. 

17      Q.   Have you ever seen a woman that appeared to be a 

18  victim of domestic violence, either through bruises or 

19  scratches or scars on any part of her body? 

20      A.   No. 

21      Q.   And there's also been purported evidence about child 

22  abuse at the ranch, and so I want to talk to you about that. 

23  Have you ever seen a child be abused by either their mother or 

24  their father, spiritual or civil mother or father? 

25      A.   No.
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1      Q.   And, Ms. Nielsen, is this something that your belief 

2  system would support?  And when I say, "is this something," is 

3  abuse of women or children something that your spiritual 

4  beliefs system supports? 

5      A.   Can you rephrase that? 

6      Q.   Yes. 

7      A.   Sorry. 

8      Q.   There has been testimony that, given the -- the 

9  spiritual beliefs that are held at the ranch, that those 

10  spiritual beliefs would support either violence against women 

11  or abuse and neglect towards children.  And my question to you 

12  is:  Do you believe that your spiritual beliefs would support 

Page 281



4-18-08 

13  violence against women? 

14      A.   No. 

15      Q.   Do you believe -- or do you believe your spiritual 

16  beliefs would support abuse or neglect towards your children or 

17  the children of the community? 

18      A.   No. 

19      Q.   If you could summarize for the Court, what do your 

20  spiritual beliefs, what attitudes do your spiritual beliefs 

21  support towards children? 

22      A.   In regards to our children, we use persuasion through 

23  love.  We only love them into obedience.  Yes, they're prone to 

24  tantrums and -- like all children.  But I love them dearly.  We 

25  love them dearly.
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1      Q.   And that brings me to an area that I meant to ask and 

2  I'd forgotten, so I'm going to ask you now.  How do you 

3  discipline your biological children or the children that live 

4  with you in your household?  What is the discipline process for 

5  the children that you care for? 

6      A.   My child is almost two.  I have never screamed or 

7  yelled at him.  I have talked firmly with him, on his level, 

8  and the other children, but it was only through love.  Any -- 

9  any kind of talking or persuading them to be obedient, to 

10  respond, that's -- it's through love.  There's no -- no 

11  harshness. 

12      Q.   And the other children in your household are older 

13  than your biological child -- 

14      A.   Yes. 

15      Q.   -- is that correct?  Have you ever put those children 
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16  in a time-out? 

17      A.   No. 

18      Q.   Have you ever removed them from the other children as 

19  a punishment in order to get them to behave?  And when I say, 

20  "remove them from the other children," do you tell them to go 

21  to their rooms or sit in a corner or they can't talk or 

22  communicate until they learn how to behave?  Are those methods 

23  of discipline that you use for children who are older than your 

24  biological child? 

25      A.   Sometimes we remove a child from a situation to help
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1  the situation.  But it is never -- it is either to talk with 

2  the older child, to help them understand the example they are 

3  setting.  But it is never as a "throw you in your bedroom, slam 

4  the door," you know.  It's just peaceful.  It's -- 

5      Q.   And, Ms. Nielsen, do you ever or have you ever 

6  witnessed a child being deprived of a meal as discipline or 

7  being deprived of the opportunity to go to school as a form of 

8  discipline? 

9      A.   No. 

10      Q.   So is it safe to say that children are -- are not -- 

11  children's needs, daily needs, food, shelter, education are not 

12  deprived of them as a form of discipline; is that correct? 

13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   Ms. Nielsen, what is the relief that you are seeking 

15  from -- for -- from the Court today?  What -- what -- what 

16  would you like the Court to do? 

17      A.   I plead with the Judge to allow my son to remain with 

18  me. 
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19      Q.   Now, your son is with you now; is that correct? 

20      A.   Yes. 

21      Q.   And assuming that you can get back into the coliseum, 

22  you'll be with your son again this evening; is that correct? 

23      A.   Yes. 

24      Q.   The State hasn't removed you from your son? 

25      A.   No.
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1      Q.   So it's safe to assume that the State has recognized 

2  that you being with your son is safe for your son; is that 

3  correct? 

4      A.   Yes. 

5                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, I'd object.  It's a 

6  mischaracterization of the facts. 

7                THE COURT:  Next question, please. 

8                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  And I don't mean to cut you off, but 

10  I do understand the point you're making. 

11                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you. 

12                THE COURT:  Do you have new information for the 

13  Court with regards to this mother and this individual child? 

14                MS. ALVAREZ:  Just at few more questions, Judge. 

15                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

16      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) Ms. Nielsen, what are you -- we're 

17  going to talk about what you're willing to do in order to 

18  insure that the Court recognizes and realizes and feels safe 

19  that you are safe for your child.  So I'm going to ask you a 

20  series of questions to move along. 

21                Are you willing to cooperate with Child 
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22  Protective Services in developing a safety plan to address any 

23  concerns that they may have regarding how you take care of your 

24  child, your biological child? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And are you willing to move with your child away from 

2  any negative influences that the State can provide evidence 

3  for? 

4      A.   Yes. 

5      Q.   And are you willing to continue to be monitored with 

6  your relationship with the son until the State and this Court 

7  feel that you are or -- excuse me, are you willing to be 

8  monitored in order to demonstrate that you are not a dangerous 

9  person for your son to be with? 

10      A.   Yes. 

11                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, at -- at this time, I'm 

12  going to pass the witness. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you.  The State? 

14                MS. GRIFFITH:  No questions. 

15                THE COURT:  Thank you.  The ad litem?  And I 

16  don't have -- I don't indicate on the docket sheet who the ad 

17  litem is. 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

20                DISTRICT CLERK:  We have an attorney.  We have an 

21  attorney ad litem over here who has a child that is in the same 

22  home with her and wants to know if she can ask questions. 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm the same case over 

24  here. 
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25                THE COURT:  I'm sorry?
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1                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  That's the same case over 

2  here with me. 

3                THE COURT:  You know, I think right now we're 

4  probably not going to do that.  It opens up a can of worms that 

5  there's not enough time in the day for. 

6                MS. DUSEK:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Carmen Symes 

7  Dusek, one of the two coordinating attorney ad litems for all 

8  of the children. 

9                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

10  BY MS. DUSEK 

11      Q.   Ms. -- is it Nielsen; is that correct? 

12      A.   Pardon? 

13      Q.   Pronounce your last name for me. 

14      A.   Nielsen. 

15      Q.   Nielsen, all right.  Thank you.  I wanted to be sure 

16  I'm getting that correct. 

17      A.   That's okay. 

18      Q.   As the coordinating attorney for -- ad litem for all 

19  of the children, I have gone through my records and I am unable 

20  to locate any identifying information for your son, Wendell. 

21  When you and your son initially came into the care of Child 

22  Protective Services, what name did you identify him to the 

23  Department under? 

24      A.   You mean, when we got on the buses? 

25      Q.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      A.   We would not identify ourselves. 

2      Q.   Okay.  Were you asked to identify yourself and chose 

3  not to? 

4      A.   Yes. 

5      Q.   Did you identify yourselves when you reached the 

6  Eldorado civic center? 

7      A.   We did not go to the Eldorado civic center. 

8      Q.   Where did you go to -- 

9      A.   We came straight -- 

10      Q.   -- when you got off the bus? 

11      A.   -- to Fort Concho. 

12      Q.   So is it your testimony that you went directly from 

13  the ranch to Fort Concho? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   You spent no nights in Eldorado, Texas? 

16      A.   No. 

17      Q.   When was the first time that you identified yourself 

18  to the Department? 

19      A.   I think -- I'm trying to remember.  They came with 

20  some papers to serve, but we were not on the lists.  And I put 

21  my name on that list. 

22                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  So they can hear you, you 

23  said, "They came with some papers to serve, but we were not on 

24  the list.  And I put my name on the list"? 

25                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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1                THE COURT:  Thank you.  I just wanted to make 
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2  sure that they could hear it at the city auditorium.  Thank 

3  you. 

4                THE WITNESS:  Thank you. 

5      Q.   (MS. DUSEK) And did you at that time identify your son 

6  Wendell? 

7      A.   Yes. 

8      Q.   What name did you give to CPS at that time? 

9      A.   Because his name is four letters -- four names, I 

10  mean, they stopped me at Wendell Loy Nielsen, but I went back 

11  later through the CPS records and changed his name to Wendell 

12  Loy Nielsen Jessop. 

13      Q.   All right.  Did you allow Child Protective Services to 

14  conduct a medical exam on your son, Wendell? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   When was that done? 

17      A.   Sometime last week, Wednesday or Thursday of last 

18  week. 

19      Q.   Did you allow Child Protective Services to photograph 

20  Wendell? 

21      A.   Yes. 

22      Q.   Has Wendell received any of his immunizations, any of 

23  his shots? 

24      A.   No. 

25      Q.   Why is that?
 

319 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1      A.   I do not know. 

2      Q.   Has Wendell had any checkups from a doctor of any kind 

3  since his birth? 

4      A.   Yes. 
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5      Q.   How often? 

6      A.   Twice. 

7      Q.   How old would he have been at the time of that 

8  appointment? 

9      A.   Eight months old, I believe.  Eight months old. 

10      Q.   Was that an appointment because he was sick or was 

11  that an appointment because it was just a routine checkup for 

12  someone to see if he was healthy for a baby his age? 

13      A.   He was sick. 

14      Q.   Has he ever had any type of checkup by a doctor to see 

15  if he was healthy and developing normally for a child? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   When would -- when did that occur? 

18      A.   At the same time. 

19      Q.   I know that you have testified that life at the ranch 

20  is peaceful.  And you've testified about your beliefs regarding 

21  abuse and neglect.  But can you define for the Court what you 

22  consider to be abuse and neglect? 

23      A.   I do not know. 

24      Q.   What is your spiritual husband's name? 

25      A.   Jim Jessop.
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1      Q.   And how old is he? 

2      A.   Thirty-two. 

3      Q.   I'm sorry? 

4      A.   Thirty-two. 

5      Q.   And how many other sister-wives did you say you have? 

6      A.   Two. 

7      Q.   Two?  Do you know the ages of those sister-wives? 
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8      A.   Yes. 

9      Q.   What are they? 

10      A.   Thirty-two and twenty-three. 

11      Q.   Were you spiritually united with your husband before 

12  or after Megan was? 

13      A.   Before. 

14      Q.   How long ago was Megan spiritually united with your 

15  husband? 

16      A.   That is a question you can ask her. 

17                THE COURT:  I'm sorry, ma'am.  I get to make 

18  those rulings. 

19                THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

20                THE COURT:  If you can, answer the question. 

21                THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor.  What was the 

22  question? 

23      Q.   (MS. DUSEK) How long ago was Megan spiritually united 

24  with your husband? 

25      A.   Four years ago.
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1      Q.   How many? 

2      A.   Four years ago. 

3                MS. DUSEK:  Thank you.  I'll pass the witness, 

4  Your Honor. 

5                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, if I may, just a quick 

6  redirect. 

7                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you, Judge. 

9                       REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

10  BY MS. ALVAREZ: 
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11      Q.   Ms. Nielsen, it's almost over. 

12      A.   Okay. 

13      Q.   Okay.  Don't be nervous.  I want to talk and touch 

14  base about the terms "abuse and neglect."  The guardian ad 

15  litem, the attorney for -- for the guardian ad litem asked you 

16  to define abuse and neglect and you stated:  I don't know.  So 

17  I want to give you examples, and those are legal terms, so I 

18  want to give you examples of actions -- 

19                THE COURT:  They're rising to object. 

20                MS. GRIFFITH:  I am, Your Honor.  I think that 

21  what this line of questioning is commonly called is leading. 

22                THE COURT:  That's really a good objection. 

23                MS. ALVAREZ:  I understand, Your Honor.  It's -- 

24  it's approximately 5:30.  I'm just trying to move this along. 

25                6:30, excuse me.  Thank you.  And I'm just --
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1                THE COURT:  I know y'all made me break my promise 

2  to you that we'd be done.  I really am not sure that her 

3  opinion of abuse or neglect is going to control my decision, if 

4  that helps you any. 

5                MS. ALVAREZ:  It does, Your Honor.  I just want 

6  the Court to be aware that my client understands what is 

7  abusive and what is neglectful.  And she is in a position to 

8  protect herself and her children from that type of behavior. 

9                THE COURT:  Great closing argument.  Do you have 

10  anymore questions? 

11                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Your Honor, just one. 

12      Q.   (MS. ALVAREZ) Ms. Nielsen, were your sister-wives over 

13  the age of eighteen at the time of their either civil or 
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14  spiritual marriage to your spiritual husband? 

15      A.   Yes. 

16                MS. ALVAREZ:  No further questions. 

17                THE COURT:  Anybody have any other questions 

18  that's in line?  Thank you.  You may have a seat.  Thank you 

19  very much. 

20                We need to take a short break. 

21                (Recess.) 

22                THE COURT:  I don't know.  This is good.  Every 

23  time we have a break, the crowd gets littler.  Do y'all need a 

24  bigger break?  I have my Court Reporter.  That's all I have to 

25  have.  Could we lock the door?
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1                All right.  We're going to try a slightly 

2  modified procedure.  Legal aid, where are you?  Or your 

3  spokesman?  You-all have forty some odd women that you 

4  represent. 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Forty-six, Your Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  I'm assuming that all forty-six would 

7  like to testify? 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  Okay.  Never assume.  All right. 

10  Okay.  Could you give me the names of the ladies that would 

11  like to testify? 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  May I confer with 

13  counsel, Your Honor, see if we have anymore left on our list? 

14                THE COURT:  Okay.  Good.  Do I have any other 

15  groups of attorneys that represent multiple -- if you would be 

16  ready to announce how many of your clients want to testify. 
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17  Y'all need to confer. 

18                MS. FLANIGAN:  Your Honor, I need to clarify 

19  something for the Court.  There are two legal aide firms here. 

20  Our firm represents forty-six.  And LANWT represents -- 

21                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Forty-nine. 

22                THE COURT:  That's why I just asked if there were 

23  any other attorneys that represented groups. 

24                MS. FLANIGAN:  Yes, Your Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  If you-all will confer and see if
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1  you-all have clients that wish to testify. 

2                MS. FLANIGAN:  Yes, Your Honor. 

3                THE COURT:  What? 

4                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, there were two less. 

5  Mr. Hawkins left and took his client to the coliseum.  She 

6  won't testify.  And I will not be calling my client. 

7                THE COURT:  Okay.  Was that because I had a 

8  break?  Do I need to have another break? 

9                MR. EDWARDS:  It's because it's going on 7:00 and 

10  I'm still tired from yesterday, Judge.  And it's Friday night. 

11                THE COURT:  Well, at least we won't be meeting at 

12  the supermarket like we usually do on Friday, Tim. 

13                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, we can't hear. 

14                THE COURT:  We haven't started anything, Sheri. 

15  They're trying to confer.  If you have any lawyers over there 

16  that represent mothers, they really probably need to come and 

17  bring their mother over here.  That didn't sound right. 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, I had one, but -- 

19  but they said that they do not want to testify at this point. 
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20                THE COURT:  Great. 

21                DISTRICT CLERK:  So they're done. 

22                MS. FLANIGAN:  Your Honor -- Your Honor, counsel. 

23                THE COURT:  Shout at us, because they're still 

24  talking out there. 

25                MS. FLANIGAN:  In response to the Court's inquiry
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1  as to whether or not any more of our clients are interested in 

2  testifying, in recognition for the Court's desire for 

3  efficiency, we've had two of our clients testifying and we will 

4  defer to other organizations and/or attorneys who wish to call 

5  their clients. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you.  The next legal aid 

7  association.  Do we have a statement on that? 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I think they may have 

9  stepped outside to confer. 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, Legal Aid of 

11  Northwest Texas, I don't think we have anybody that we want to 

12  present at this time. 

13                THE COURT:  Legal Aid of Northwest Texas. 

14                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  They're still conferring 

15  outside -- 

16                THE COURT:  Ask them in they have an idea.  If 

17  they don't, we'll wait. 

18                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, ma'am. 

19                THE COURT:  While they're doing that, do we have 

20  any type of announcement from -- 

21                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

22                THE COURT:  Yes. 
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23                DISTRICT CLERK:  Ver- -- what's your name, sir? 

24  Vernon Lewis says his client does not want to testify. 

25                THE COURT:  Tell Vernon thank you.  While the
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1  women are trying to figure out what they're going to do, with 

2  regards to the males, to the fathers, do we have any fathers 

3  that want to testify?  I thought I'd asked this before, but 

4  just in case I haven't, any fathers that want to testify? 

5                MR. JONES:  Your Honor, Evan Jones, momentarily 

6  for Ms. Hennington.  I believe that decision's being finalized 

7  at this very moment.  I notice Ms. Hennington is rejoining us. 

8                MS. HENNINGTON:  Sorry, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  Thanks for the play by play.  Yes? 

10                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I'm sorry.  I 

11  thought there would be other mothers.  We do not intend to call 

12  anyone of the four of our fathers. 

13                THE COURT:  Fantastic.  Announcements? 

14                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

15                THE COURT:  Wait.  Yes?  I'm not ready yet. 

16                DISTRICT CLERK:  Could you move the mike back up 

17  to you?  Could you move the mike back up to you?  We're having 

18  a little hard time hearing.  Thank you, Judge. 

19                THE COURT:  You bet.  We just had more fathers 

20  say they do not want to testify.  At the microphone, please. 

21  They'll fuss at both of us. 

22                MR. STEPHENS:  Your Honor, Todd Stephens from 

23  Legal Aid of Northwest Texas and we will not be calling any of 

24  the mothers to testify. 

25                THE COURT:  Legal aid will not be calling any of
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1  the mothers, for Northwest Texas. 

2                All right.  Anybody that individually represents 

3  a mother that they want to have their client testify? 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, there's 

5  someone out in the hallway yet. 

6                THE COURT:  Okay.  That'll be great.  Thanks for 

7  helping out. 

8                MR. HARGROVE:  Your Honor, Tip Hargrove.  I have 

9  two mothers.  Neither will testify. 

10                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Hargrove.  Sir, do you 

11  have any clients that wish to testify? 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I don't 

13  believe Legal Aid of Northwest Texas plans on calling anyone. 

14                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Can you see if there's a 

15  bailiff in the hall that could -- I think he -- I think Ron's 

16  on the way, Phil. 

17                THE BAILIFF:  Judge, there's nobody in the 

18  hallway. 

19                THE COURT:  The bailiff reports there's no one in 

20  the hall that wants to speak up.  Sheri, ask over there.  This 

21  is -- could be close to their last time to have an opportunity. 

22                DISTRICT CLERK:  Anyone?  I see no one coming 

23  forward, Judge. 

24                THE COURT:  Great.  Okay.  Rest? 

25                MS. GRIFFITH:  Rest.
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1                THE COURT:  Rest? 

2                MR. EDWARDS:  Rest. 

3                MS. HENNINGTON:  Rest, Judge. 

4                THE COURT:  Rest.  Now I was kind of -- you're in 

5  the ad litem section.  From the ad litems, no additional 

6  information? 

7                MR. STOUT:  No additional information, Your 

8  Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you.  There is one very 

10  important group we've not heard from.  CASA, is there something 

11  you want to say? 

12                MS. BROWN:  Yes, ma'am, there is. 

13                THE COURT:  Come forward, please.  And you're 

14  speaking on behalf of all the guardian ad litems; is that 

15  correct? 

16                MS. BROWN:  Yes, ma'am, that's correct. 

17                THE COURT:  Please state your name for the record. 

18                MS. BROWN:  Deborah Brown, executive director, 

19  Children's Advocacy Center.  Based on our direct observation 

20  and information provided, CASA recommends that these children 

21  stay in care, because we're awaiting pregnancy testing and the 

22  results thereof, because of the suspected child -- child sexual 

23  abuse and the ongoing investigation.  We have a 

24  multi-generational history of young girls being married off and 

25  having babies very early, young boys and girls being groomed to
 

329 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  perpetrate this practice.  And we're really unsure as to the 

2  parentage, the biological mothers and fathers of the three 

3  hundred plus children that we've actually interviewed. 
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4                THE COURT:  And I'm assuming since you've only 

5  interviewed three hundred plus, a lot of that's because they're 

6  infants and you can't interview an infant very well. 

7                MS. BROWN:  Part of that and part of it was we 

8  were asked to leave because of the attorney ad litems coming 

9  into town. 

10                THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, guardian ad litems -- 

11  what else do you want to say? 

12                MS. BROWN:  That's it, unless you would like 

13  examples of each. 

14                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

15                MS. BROWN:  I can give you examples, but I 

16  thought you probably just wanted point by point. 

17                THE COURT:  You know your duty as well as I do. 

18  What else do you think I need to know? 

19                MS. BROWN:  I think that we need the opportunity 

20  to speak with these children again without them being coached 

21  and to have a little bit more time building rapport, because 

22  they are very timid around strangers. 

23                THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  I appreciate 

24  your report. 

25                Now, the matter of closing statements, I've been
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1  thinking about this since yesterday.  What if we assume that 

2  the Department's going to stand up and say that as far as 

3  they're concerned they have more than met whatever the 

4  statutory burden of proof is, is there anything you need to add 

5  to that? 

6                MS. GRIFFITH:  No, Your Honor. 
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7                THE COURT:  Thank you.  And the parents are going 

8  to stand up and individually say that they've never have even 

9  come close and this -- and this is -- I'm serious, that every 

10  parent loves their child, wants nothing but the best for their 

11  child, that wants their children back so that they can be 

12  parents.  Is there anything you could add in closing 

13  statement? 

14                MS. HENNINGTON:  Judge, I'm sorry.  I have to add 

15  one thing to that. 

16                THE COURT:  I knew it. 

17                MS. HENNINGTON:  I'm sorry.  If the issue is the 

18  sexual abuse, and then the question which is raised by the 

19  guardian ad litems and -- and the questions, I do think that 

20  court -- we would just ask that you consider, when you're 

21  making your ruling, Section 263.403.  That's all we'd ask. 

22                THE COURT:  Get your books, guys.  263?  260 -- 

23  Ms. Hennington, that's in the permanency hearing plan, isn't 

24  it? 

25                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I think -- I think
 

331 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  that that provision, where it's the section is, but it's also 

2  something that can be considered at a 14-day hearing. 

3                THE COURT:  Okay. 

4                MS. HENNINGTON:  If the issue is sexual abuse. 

5                Thank you. 

6                THE COURT:  You're welcome.  Ad litems to a man 

7  and a woman, you-all would like to have your children be 

8  reunited with their parents, provided that they are safe, 

9  protected and well cared for.  Anything else you need to add to 
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10  that? 

11                MR. JARVIS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  I knew that.  Guess what?  And you're 

13  blue, brown, purple, black, right? 

14                MR. JARVIS:  Yes, I am.  I'm brown, Your Honor. 

15  My name is Billy Britt Jarvis.  I represent -- I represent 

16  children that are fifteen to seventeen.  They want their cell 

17  phones back.  They want to be able to communicate with their 

18  mothers. 

19                If they're not turned loose, all of them, they 

20  want to stay together.  And they do want to go home.  Everybody 

21  wants to go home to their mother.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

22                THE COURT:  And on behalf of all the mothers, 

23  we're always glad to hear that our children want to come home. 

24  And I'm not -- I know that -- I'm not -- I am not making light 

25  of this.  This is the hardest, toughest decision a judge makes
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1  any day.  It's the hardest thing to consider ripping families 

2  apart.  There is no easy way to do this.  And I want to thank 

3  all of you for what you-all have done.  Now, if you can add 

4  something. 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I hope so, Judge.  I 

6  don't remember anybody ever arguing it very well, and I just 

7  want to cite some law. 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No, sit down. 

9                THE COURT:  Have a seat.  I think I probably know 

10  the law. 

11                MS. O'TOOLE:  Your Honor -- 

12                THE COURT:  If you think I don't, maybe -- you 
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13  can send me a brief. 

14                MS. O'TOOLE:  Your Honor -- 

15                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

16                MS. O'TOOLE:  Your Honor, I have some relief 

17  requested on behalf of the purple group that represents girls 

18  between the ages of four and eleven.  I -- if you're -- if the 

19  children are not to be sent home with their mothers, they have 

20  a list of relief that they have asked me to request. 

21                THE COURT:  Would that not be more appropriate if 

22  I should make that decision, that you file it in some form that 

23  I could take it up at some other time than right now, but with 

24  some expediency? 

25                MS. O'TOOLE:  Well, may I, Your Honor?
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1                THE COURT:  Sure. 

2                MS. O'TOOLE:  Sorry. 

3                With all due respect to the Court and for the 

4  efforts that have been made to provide a hearing, we don't 

5  believe that our individual clients have ever gotten their 

6  14-day hearing.  They just haven't gotten it.  And if you're 

7  going to retain custody, if that decision comes down, there are 

8  some matters, some relief for these people that are spending 

9  day after day separated from their children. 

10                I have a mother who is separated from her 

11  eight-year-old girl by a parking lot. 

12                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  I'm sorry.  Are you 

13  representing the mother or the children? 

14                MS. O'TOOLE:  The children.  My child   hasn't 

15  seen -- the eight-year-old girl hasn't seen her mother in two 
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16  weeks.  And they're separated by a parking lot.  And they have 

17  not been permitted any access to one another. 

18                THE COURT:  So you -- should the Department keep 

19  custody, you want some sort of visitation arranged? 

20                MS. O'TOOLE:  I would like the right for the 

21  child to reside with the parent, if the parent is known and at 

22  the coliseum or at the pavilion.  She should have the right to 

23  be residing in custody with her mother.  She should have the 

24  right to visitation with her -- with her father.  She should 

25  have the right to telephone access.  She should have the right
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1  to send and receive mail, the right to choose their activities, 

2  improved conditions in the dormitories, including increased 

3  privacy. 

4                No one -- we would -- as ad litems, as attorneys 

5  for the children, we would like some rules put into place for 

6  the -- for the attorneys.  We don't want our clients questioned 

7  by anyone while -- without notice to us.  We would like copies 

8  of things we haven't been getting copies of.  There's a whole 

9  list, Your Honor, and I will only go into it if given 

10  permission at this time.  But I wanted it on the record that we 

11  still object to the format of this hearing as not providing a 

12  14-day hearing for our individual clients.  It never happened. 

13                THE COURT:  I understand -- 

14                MS. O'TOOLE:  Your Honor -- 

15                THE COURT:  -- you've been unhappy from the 

16  get-go about this.  I've asked you yesterday, what do you 

17  propose?  Should I separate them out and take three months to 

18  have a 14-day hearing?  That certainly doesn't seem to meet due 
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19  process or even the spirit of what a 14-day hearing is. 

20                You didn't make the facts.  I didn't -- well, 

21  maybe I did make the facts.  But I'm trying my best to stay 

22  within the spirit.  And I hope that maybe you-all will go to 

23  the legislature and suggest that should something catastrophic 

24  like this ever happen again, there will be some remedy other 

25  than this forced requirement.  Because I'm not as happy with it
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1  as you are. 

2                MS. O'TOOLE:  I certainly understand that, Your 

3  Honor, and -- 

4                THE COURT:  And I'm still listening as to how I 

5  can do this.  You've not given me anything but complaints. 

6                MS. O'TOOLE:  Well, I think, actually, Your 

7  Honor, what we're trying to do is not complain, but we're 

8  trying to make a record.  There may -- there may need to be 

9  some law made as a result of this hearing.  So please don't 

10  take it personally.  We're not complaining about what you've 

11  done or the system you put in place.  And I dare say I would 

12  not have been able to do any better of a job than all of the 

13  great people that have been here trying to put this together. 

14                These are not complaints.  We're trying to make a 

15  record.  We're trying to get our children's voices heard.  The 

16  law has certain requirements and it doesn't say except when 

17  it's hard. 

18                THE COURT:  You're exactly right. 

19                MS. O'TOOLE:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

20                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

21                MS. O'TOOLE:  If there's a time or a better place 
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22  where I can -- where we can make it known in a timely manner, 

23  to get some of these improvements, if you're going to have any 

24  kind of a ruling, I know you haven't made your ruling yet, but 

25  if you're going to put some relief into place to make
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1  conditions better for the children and their mothers, we would 

2  like a chance to have some input in that.  Thank you. 

3                THE COURT:  In -- just say you're dealing with an 

4  individual case. 

5                MS. O'TOOLE:  Yes, Your Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  At a 14-day hearing, what you're 

7  seeking is, in effect, the ability to negotiate relief.  Is 

8  that not normally something that is taken up during mediation, 

9  if the Department retains custody? 

10                MS. O'TOOLE:  My understanding is that there have 

11  been several attorneys for the children who have tried to 

12  negotiate with the Department and they will not speak to us. 

13  They will not negotiate anything with us. 

14                THE COURT:  I'm going to fuss at them.  Okay? 

15                MS. O'TOOLE:  Right. 

16                THE COURT:  But I'm just saying, trying to figure 

17  out a way that we can address your concerns, because they're 

18  good concerns.  I do not mean to be cutting you off. 

19                MS. O'TOOLE:  No, I understand. 

20                THE COURT:  But I like to solve problems.  So the 

21  way to solve this problem is, should the Court retain custody, 

22  the Legislature, in its wisdom, did put into place a procedure 

23  for mediation where parents and ad litems can meet with the 

24  Department and CASA or their volunteers.  And you-all can 
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25  develop some control.  But that's never been envisioned in the
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1  14-day hearing, that I understand. 

2                MS. O'TOOLE:  Well, and as you have pointed out, 

3  so many times during this hearing, the circumstances are very 

4  unusual.  We believe that there are seven or eight things that 

5  you can do today with a court order that would give our clients 

6  some relief if you decided to retain custody. 

7                They need the ability to communicate with the 

8  outside world.  They need their cell phones back.  Parents at 

9  the coliseum, separated from their children by a parking lot, 

10  ought to be united.  You can make those rulings today and 

11  provides some relief. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you.  I would really like to 

13  focus on the 14-day hearing at this time.  Thank you very much. 

14                MS. O'TOOLE:  Thank you, Judge. 

15                THE COURT:  Mr. Stout? 

16                MR. STOUT:  Randol Stout, Your Honor. 

17                THE COURT:  Wait.  I -- I see you at the city 

18  hall.  Mr. Stout, if you would wait, let me let the city 

19  auditorium talk for a second, please.  Yes, ma'am. 

20                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, ma'am.  The previous 

21  counsel made a statement related to attorneys that represented 

22  clients in purple that, in general, we all disagree this was a 

23  valid 14-day hearing.  I am an attorney for an individual in 

24  that purple category, and I disagree.  So I didn't want a 

25  blanket statement saying that all attorneys in that category
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1  were objecting to this 14-day hearing, because I do believe 

2  it's valid. 

3                THE COURT:  Thank you very much. 

4                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor -- 

5                THE COURT:  Anybody else at the city auditorium? 

6  This is pretty much your closing shot.  I see somebody getting 

7  up behind you.  Yes, sir? 

8                DISTRICT CLERK:  Attorney ad litem's up there. 

9  Go ahead. 

10                THE COURT:  Mr. Brown. 

11                MR. BROWN:  Mark Brown, Your Honor.  I'm attorney 

12  ad litem in case number 2843, 2853 for two boys, each 

13  two-and-a-half years old.  Your Honor, my closing argument is 

14  that I have heard no evidence of any present danger for the 

15  physical safety and health of either of these boys that I 

16  represent. 

17                It's been stated that they're being groomed to be 

18  perpetrators.  The one question I did ask in this proceeding 

19  was the typical age of the alleged perpetrators at the ranch. 

20  And the answer was forties and fifty years of age, which means 

21  my boys, if they are typical perpetrators, are going to be 

22  perpetrators four decades from now.  That is not a present 

23  danger and it doesn't come close to meeting the standard. 

24                The other allegation of danger is that the boys 

25  are in an authoritative environment.  Apparently one of the
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1  expert witnesses does not approve of that.  But, again, that is 
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2  not a present danger to these two-and-a-half-year-old boys. 

3                I have heard no evidence of any child abuse to 

4  either of these boys.  I've actually heard no evidence of 

5  physical child abuse at all.  I hear the words "suspected," 

6  "investigating," but unless there's a present danger to these 

7  two boys, they should be allowed to go home and to the ranch 

8  and be with their mothers and fathers at home.  Thank you very 

9  much, Your Honor. 

10                THE COURT:  You're welcome. 

11                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I'm in the 

12  purple group, also.  And I want to get on the record that I am 

13  not in agreement with the attorney ad litem in the courtroom 

14  that stated that my client -- my two clients, were not 

15  represented within the 14-day hearing period. 

16                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

17                DISTRICT CLERK:  There are no other attorney ad 

18  litems, Judge, at this point. 

19                THE COURT:  Mr. Stout, I promised you the last 

20  word, so to speak. 

21                MR. STOUT:  Judge, I just wanted do tell the 

22  Court that Ms. Dusek and myself have -- have attempted and the 

23  parties have attempted in this group with CPS who have 

24  cooperated in reference to informal mediation to try to settle 

25  the matters on multiple occasions.
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1                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anything else?  We'll be 

2  in recess for just a bit.  Thank you. 

3                (Recess.) 

4                THE COURT:  Before I make my ruling, I would 
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5  like to be allowed a personal privilege.  On behalf of the 

6  Judges of the State of Texas, I want to thank every member of 

7  the bar for doing an outstanding job to represent their clients 

8  within the rules and how it should be done.  I have never been 

9  more proud of all of you.  Thank you very much. 

10                As to each child, and each case, the Court makes 

11  the following finding:  The Court has heard sufficient evidence 

12  to satisfy -- to satisfy a person of ordinary prudence and 

13  caution that the requirements of Sections 262 of the Family 

14  Code have been met as to each and every element to require that 

15  the Court, of necessity, must continue the appointment of the 

16  Department as the temporary managing conservator of all 

17  children. 

18                Having made that finding, the Court is required 

19  to advise all parents and -- parents that parental and 

20  custodial rights and duties may be subject to restriction or 

21  termination unless parents are willing and able to provide the 

22  children with a safe environment. 

23                Parties are to provide the Department and the 

24  Court with the form that was passed out yesterday.  If you do 

25  not have it, your attorneys will help you find one, providing
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1  information for child placement resources for the Department to 

2  use in considering alternative placements or the possibility of 

3  appropriate other family members or relatives that could be 

4  used for custody and -- as we go through this process. 

5                I know that every attorney will tell every parent 

6  involved in this case that this is but the beginning.  There 

7  will be a status hearing.  It is required to be heard before 
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8  the 5th of June.  We will not do that hearing en masse. 

9                Because I cannot tell you today the time and 

10  place certain of each case, it will be in the order as is 

11  required by the statute. 

12                The Court anticipates signing all four hundred 

13  plus orders as soon as it is possible.  But I am instructing 

14  the Department to see that I have them no later than 4:00 PM on 

15  Monday. 

16                The Court is ordering maternity and paternity 

17  testing as to each child.  There will be a separate order for 

18  that.  But because I am ordering expedited testing, you should 

19  know that on Monday there will be a lab, a mobile lab, that 

20  will be located at the San Angelo Coliseum fairgrounds.  I 

21  don't know exactly where that will be.  It will test all the 

22  children that are there, and any mother that is there. 

23                On Tuesday, the same vehicle will go and they 

24  will -- and it will be located around the courthouse square in 

25  Eldorado.  The children that have been placed at an alternate
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1  location will also be tested. 

2                Now in an abundance of caution, if you are a 

3  parent and you are named or if you think you are a parent and 

4  should have been named, please provide the information to the 

5  folks for the DNA testing.  They may require that you provide 

6  not only some form of identification, but to assist the Court 

7  in being sure that we match the right identification with the 

8  right parent and right child, you may be required to give a 

9  fingerprint.  If you choose not to do that, it will be noted 

10  that that has been your choice. 
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11                If you are a parent and do not have an attorney, 

12  if you cannot afford to hire an attorney, please notify the 

13  Court.  You should have in your notice forms that we gave you 

14  yesterday and today an address or a phone number for someone 

15  from the State Bar.  They can assist you if you want to have 

16  counsel, if you do not want to have counsel appointed by the 

17  Court, but you are entitled to that. 

18                I would ask all the attorneys involved to be sure 

19  that my clerks have your mailing addresses and some way of 

20  contacting you.  Thank you very much.  Good evening. 

21                (Hearing concluded.) 

22 

23 

24 

25
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1  THE  STATE  OF TEXAS ) 

2  COUNTY OF SCHLEICHER ) 

3 

4       I, Debbie Harris, Official Court Reporter in and for the 

5  51st Judicial District Court of Schleicher County, State of 

6  Texas, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing contains 

7  a true and correct transcription of all portions of evidence 

8  and other proceedings requested to be included in this volume 

9  of the Reporter's Record, in the above styled and numbered 

10  cause, all of which occurred in open court or in chambers and 

11  were reported by me. 

12       I further certify that this Reporter's Record of the 

13  proceedings truly and correctly reflects the exhibits, if any, 
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14  admitted by the respective parties. 

15 
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